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The Allane Mobility Group

in Figures

Change

2021 on
2021 2020 2020in % 2019
Revenue 740 748 (1.0) 824
Thereof operating revenue 386 423 (8.8) 468
Thereof Leasing business unit 333 373 (10.8) 416
Thereof Fleet Management business unit 53 50 6.4 53
Thereof sales revenue 354 324 9.2 356
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 184 211 (13.0) 233
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 13 20 (35.7) 41
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 6 9 (32.7) 29
Operating return on revenue (in %)' 1.6 2.2 (0.6) Points 6.3
Operating return on revenue Leasing business unit (in %)" 1.7 1.7 0.0 Points 6.1
Operating return on revenue Fleet Management business unit (in %)’ 0.8 5.8 (5.0) Points 7.2
Consolidated profit 6 2 168.7 22
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (in EUR) 0.28 0.11 1.04
Total assets 1,195 1,296 (7.8) 1,329
Lease assets 995 1,093 (9.0) 1,120
Equity 220 213 34 229
Equity ratio (in %) 18.4 16.4 2.0 points 17.2
Financial liabilities? 805 936 (14.0) 948
Dividend per share (in EUR)® 0.06 0.02 (97.8) 0.90
Total dividend, net 1.2 0.4 (97.8) 18.6
Contract portfolio (in thou.) 129 130 (0.8) 136
Thereof Fleet Leasing 33 38 (11.9) 40
Thereof Online Retail 36 39 (5.7) 44
Thereof Fleet Management 59 53 10.3 51
Investments in lease assets* 315 430 (26.8) 407
Number of employees® 715 693 3.2 643
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Profile

Allane SE based in Pullach near Munich is a leading provider in online direct
sales of new vehicles in Germany as well as specialist in the management and
full-service leasing of large fleets. With tailor-made solutions, the company
enables the longer-term mobility of its private and corporate customers.

Private and commercial customers use the online platforms sixt-neuwagen.de
and autohaus24.de to lease new vehicles affordably. Corporate customers ben-
efit from the cost-saving leasing of their vehicle fleet and from efficient fleet
management.
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A.1 - Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders,

2021 was a year of new beginnings for us. With the re-
naming of Sixt Leasing SE to Allane SE, we opened a
new chapter in our history. Moreover, we achieved sev-
eral milestones in the digitalisation of our business
model. In 2022, we want to keep up the pace —and also
try something new.

‘Allane’ is derived from the English road sign ‘all lanes’.
Our new name thus also stands for the diverse possibil-
ities we offer customers especially through our brand
independence. This is important, because the need for
flexible mobility remains high — even though the Corona
pandemic again burdened our market environment last
year. Our Group contract portfolio in Germany and
abroad (excluding franchise and cooperation partners)
declined slightly by 0.8 per cent to 128,800 contracts in
2021. At the same time, consolidated operating revenue
(excluding sales revenues) fell by 8.8 per cent to EUR
386.0 million. Sales revenues, on the other hand, in-
creased by 9.2 per cent to EUR 354.4 million, mainly
due to the high demand for used cars. Overall, our con-
solidated revenue of EUR 740.4 million was slightly be-
low the previous year's figure. In addition to the Corona
pandemic, consolidated earnings before taxes (EBT)
were also burdened by transaction costs in connection
with the takeover of our Company by Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE), Frankfurt, as well as in-
creased provisions for legal risks. The EBT of EUR 6.1
million was therefore about one third below the previ-
ous year's figure. In contrast, consolidated profit rose
from EUR 2.2 to 5.8 million, although this was due to the
significant decline in income tax expense.

Taking into account the uncertainty generated by the
Ukraine war, we intend to propose a dividend of EUR
0.06 per share for the 2021 financial year at the Annual
General Meeting on 29 June 2022. The exact proposal
for the appropriation of profits is subject to the approval
of the Supervisory Board and will be published with the
agenda for the 2022 Annual General Meeting. Our divi-
dend proposal corresponds to a pay-out ratio of
roughly 21 per cent of consolidated profit in the 2021 fi-
nancial year. The previously communicated target range
of 30 to 60 per cent remains unchanged regardless of
the pay-out ratio for the current financial year.
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Ladies and gentlemen, the Corona pandemic has once
again demonstrated the importance of digital solutions
in everyday life. This does not only apply to flexible mo-
bile work models or administration, but especially to the
way we move. As a pioneer in digital mobility, we intro-
duced many new innovative products and services also
in 2021.

Donglim Shin (CEO)

In the Online Retail business field, we launched a com-
pletely digital ordering process on our online platform

sixt-neuwagen.de and carried out a sales cooperation
with Lidl and Vehiculum to market new cars online.

In addition, we continued to digitalise the logistics pro-
cesses at the three locations in Frankfurt, Berlin and
Munich. In the business fields Fleet Leasing and Fleet
Management, we introduced ‘FleetIntelligence’, a cloud
application that enables fleet managers to perform
analyses in a quick, secure and easy manner. Moreover,
our apps for fleet and vehicle fleet customers were up-
dated with further useful functions. All this makes for a
better customer experience and more efficiency.

Ladies and gentlemen, not only mobility is changing,
but also our Company. In July 2020, HCBE acquired the
shares of Sixt SE and other shareholders in our Com-
pany. With the renaming to Allane SE and the creation
of the new umbrella brand Allane Mobility Group in Au-
gust 2021, the ‘external’ separation from our former ma-
jority shareholder has finally begun. This means that
our ‘Sixt’ brands Sixt Leasing, Sixt Neuwagen and
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Sixt Mobility Consulting will operate under a new name
from 2025 at the latest.

Even more important than the ‘exterior’, however, are
the inner values: in order to satisfy changing customer
needs and take advantage of future growth opportuni-
ties, we also want to realign ourselves strategically.
Therefore, we are launching our new strategy pro-
gramme ‘FAST LANE 27 with the publication of this an-
nual report.

FAST LANE 27 comprises a comprehensive package of
measures which is to be implemented by 2027 and
should put us back on the fast track. Our goal is to gen-
erate additional added value for our customers, part-
ners, employees and investors. This will allow us to
further build the foundation to become the leading
multi-brand provider of comprehensive mobility solu-
tions in Europe in the long term.

FAST LANE 27 focusses on continuously extending our
proven business model. Next to the three established
business pillars, there will be a fourth and fifth business
pillar in the future: OEM Leasing and autohaus24. In ad-
dition, we want to further expand our product range by
considering trends such as car-as-a-service or used
car leasing. At the same time, innovation and coopera-
tion should get more attention. Our new partnership
with AUTO1.com, which enables us to market more than
10,000 high-quality lease returns and fleet vehicles per
year, provides a first taste.

Last but not least, we also want to become more sus-
tainable by further increasing the share of alternative
drives in our fleet and promoting green mobility solu-
tions. In January, we received a record sum of around
EUR 11.4 million from the Federal Government, which we
use to market up to 800 hydrogen-powered Hyundai
NEXO. This makes us proud and is at the same time
proof of the confidence in our abilities. Our new fourth
business pillar, OEM leasing, is currently in the pilot
phase as we focus on a self-developed leasing portal
that enables manufacturers to market their
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vehicles to customers through their own dealer net-
work. We have been testing the portal with Hyundai and
Kia since the third quarter of 2021. In the medium term,
this also opens up new opportunities for expansion in
foreign markets such as the Netherlands, Spain or Italy.
In the longer term, we can imagine cooperations with
further manufacturers.

Alvaro Hernandez (CFO)

Our fifth business pillar, autohaus24, is to develop from
what is already the largest independent used car dealer
in Germany into a comprehensive mobility hub for car-
related products and services in the future. In addition
to buying a car, customers will also be able to have
used cars reconditioned, trade in cars or take out suita-
ble insurances.

We will be happy to provide you with more details with
the presentation of the complete FAST LANE 27 strat-
egy programme during the second quarter of 2022.

Dear shareholders, with our major shareholder HCBE
we have a strong strategic partner on board who is ac-
tively supporting us. We are therefore optimistic that
we will quickly implement FAST LANE 27 and return to
profitable growth. However, the successes will probably
only be reflected from the 2023 financial year onwards.
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For the financial year 2022, we expect a contract port-
folio in a range between 130,000 and 150,000 contracts
and consolidated operating revenue in a range between
EUR 350 million and EUR 400 million. With regard to
EBT, we expect a higher single-digit million euro
amount. In addition to the operating business develop-
ment in the current financial year to date, the forecast
takes into account the COVID-19 situation, the supply
restrictions, the potential impact of the Ukraine war as
well as costs in connection with the takeover of our
Company.

We would like to thank you, dear shareholders, for your
trust as we would also like to thank our employees for
their outstanding commitment and the Supervisory
Board for its constructive cooperation.

Pullach, April 2022

The Managing Board

Donglim Shin Alvaro Hernandez
CEO CFO
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Highlights 2021/22

In 2021, we opened a new chapter in our history by renaming
ourselves Allane SE or Allane Mobility Group — and also achieved
several milestones in the digitalisation of our business model. In
2022, we want to continue on this path.

Realignment of autohaus24 Excellent offering

autohaus24 gets a completely new brand identity and opens its sixt-neuwagen.de and autohaus24.

own locations in Frankfurt, Berlin and Munich for the first time in de are named ‘Germany»s Best Online

order to expand its used car business offline as well. Portals 2027 in the category ‘New Car
Portals’ by n-tv and the German Institute

for Service Quality.

Sales cooperation with Lidl

7 A autohaus2s

“ 1 Sixt Neuwagen, Lidl and Vehiculum jointly market three popular
new car models from Kia and Renault at attractive conditions on

A autohaus24 Leasing A autohaus? Inzahlung

the Internet.
‘ X VEHICULUM. SiXTleasing

Vehicle handover and

return 2.0
N
Allane Mobility Group optimises vehicle ....y m D
handover and return at its locations in o
Frankfurt, Berlin and Munich. All logistics °
processes will be recorded digitally from Special offer Black Leasing Friday
now on.

Sixt Neuwagen participates in the biggest bargain day of the year
with the special promotion ‘Black Leasing Friday’, offering additional
discounts on selected new car models.

Digital ordering process

Allane Mobility Group introduces a @ @ -
completely digital ordering process for J/

private customers on its online platform —
sixt-neuwagen.de, taking the customer FRIDA y

journey to the next level.

allane mobility group Annual Report 2021 7
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Electronic Driver’'s
Licence Check

The smartphone app ‘The Companion’
from Sixt Mobility Consulting is updated g
with the ‘DriversCheck’. This enables

company car drivers to carry out regular

drivens licence checks on their own.

New company name, hew umbrella brand,
new Managing Board

Sixt Leasing SE is renamed Allane SE and Allane Mobility Group
is introduced as a new umbrella brand. Donglim Shin becomes
Chairman of the Managing Board and Alvaro Hernandez Chief
Financial Officer.

allane
mobility group

Innovative Fleet Management

Allane Mobility Group launches the digital analysis tool
‘FleetIntelligence’. The cloud application enables fleet managers
to analyse their fleet quickly, easily and securely.

allane mobility group

Record funding for hydrogen cars

Allane Mobility Group receives a record sum of up to EUR 11.4
million from the German government to promote the marketing of
up to 800 models of the Hyundai NEXO hydrogen car via dealers.
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Cooperation with AUTO1.com

Allane Mobility Group launches a cooperation with AUTO1.com,
offering more than 10,000 high-quality lease returns and fleet
vehicles per year on Europe»s largest trading platform for used cars.

AUTO o

New car configuration on autohaus24.de

The introduction of the completely revamped new car configurator
on autohaus24.de significantly improves the customer experience
and successfully completes the relaunch of the website.

A autohaus24 Gebrauchtvagen + Neuwagen . Marken v Service v Desls

Jetzt Traumauto kaufen,
finanzieren oder leasen

Finde das Fahrzeug, das zu dir passt

Starte deine Gebrauchtwagen Suche

Annual Report 2021 8
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A.2 - Report of the supervisory Board

Dear shareholders,

In 2021 financial year, the Supervisory Board of Allane
SE attended to those duties incumbent on it according
to law, the Articles of Association and the Company's
bye-laws. Above all, we regularly advised the Managing
Board in the running of the Company and also moni-
tored its activities. We addressed in detail the economic
situation of the Company and the Group and the strate-
gic development and were involved in all decisions of
principal importance.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board again executed its work
mainly by means of video conferences due to the pan-
demic. It convened four ordinary meetings and three
extraordinary meetings in the financial year. Further
resolutions were adopted by written circulation proce-
dure. The legally stipulated frequency of at least two
meetings per calendar half-year was complied with. All
Supervisory Board members participated in all the
aforementioned meetings and resolutions.

The Managing Board informed the Supervisory Board
both in writing and verbally, promptly and comprehen-
sively, on the situation of the Company and of the
Group, profitability and the planning for the Company
and its subsidiaries on all matters that are relevant to
the Company and the Group regarding strategic plan-
ning, and business development. To this end, the Man-
aging Board prepared, among other things, a quarterly

report with detailed information on the economic and fi-

nancial position of Allane SE and its subsidiaries. We
checked the plausibility of all documents submitted and
handed over to us. In the meetings, the Managing Board
explained to the Supervisory Board members the docu-
ments and reports submitted. In this context, we also
questioned the Managing Board on important matters,
critically assessed the reports and the Managing
Board's proposals for resolutions and made our own
proposals.

Outside the meetings, the members of the Supervisory
Board also regularly exchanged information with the
Managing Board members, especially the chairmen of
the two corporate organs.

In its meeting on 16 December 2021, the Supervisory
Board of Allane SE formed an Audit Committee. It has
not formed any other committees with decision-making
powers.

allane

Issues addressed during the plenary sessions
of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board regularly addressed and looked
into the current business performance, the strategic fo-
cus, the risk situation and risk management, internal
company control systems, the performance of contract
portfolios in the individual business fields as well as net
assets, the financial position and results of operations
of Allane SE and the Allane Mobility Group. In the ab-
sence of Managing Board members, it also addressed
issues pertaining to the Supervisory Board as well as
personnel issues of the Managing Board.

The Supervisory Board's consultations focused above
all on the following issues:

m Business Plan and Strategy: At the start of the report-
ing period, the Supervisory Board looked again in de-
tail at the Managing Board's updated business plan
for the forthcoming years and at the reorientation of
the Group's strategy. The Supervisory Board had the
Managing Board explain to it in detail the multi-year
plan and strategy and approved the budget and plan
adjustments that were required in particular in the
context of the national and international development
of the COVID-19 situation and the change in market
and business environment.

m General Meeting: Ahead of the ordinary Annual Gen-
eral Meeting on 29 June 2021, the Supervisory Board
addressed the agenda items in due detail. These in-
cluded in particular the appropriation of retained
earnings, the selection of the auditors, resolutions on
the approval of the compensation system for the
members of the Managing Board and on the confir-
mation of the compensation of the members of the
Supervisory Board, and a resolution on a change in
the name of the Company and a corresponding
amendment to the Articles of Association. The Super-
visory Board approved the agenda items and followed
the motion submitted by the Managing Board to pro-
pose to the Annual General Meeting the payment of a
dividend of EUR 0.02 per share. The Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board made their decision on the
dividend proposal on the basis of the current busi-
ness, investment and liquidity planning of the Com-
pany, which has already taken into account the
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economic and financial effects of the COVID-19 situa-
tion on the markets and the company of Allane SE.

m Campaigns and Innovations: During the course of the
reporting year, the Managing Board kept the Supervi-
sory Board informed about key campaigns and inno-
vations and the Supervisory Board addressed the
expected effects these would have on business de-
velopments.

Corporate Governance

In February 2022, the Managing and Supervisory Board
issued a declaration of conformity pursuant to Sect. 161
of the German Aktiengesetz (AktG — German Stock Cor-
poration Act). It is permanently available to all share-
holders on the Company’s website ir.allane-mobility-
group.com. With some exceptions, Allane SE complies
with the recommendations of the Government Commis-
sion on the German Corporate Governance Code.

The Supervisory Board had no indications of conflicts
of interest of members of the Managing and Supervi-
sory Board.

Further details on the Company's corporate governance
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report.

Changes to the Managing and Supervisory
Board

There were no personnel changes on the Supervisory
Board in the reporting year.

With effect from the end of 30 June 2021, Mr. Michael
Ruhl resigned from his position as Chairman of the
Managing Board of the Company. With effect from 30
September 2021, Mr. Bjorn Waldow resigned from his
position as member of the Managing Board of the Com-

pany.

With effect from 1 July 2021, Mr. Donglim Shin was ap-
pointed Chairman of the Managing Board of the Com-
pany. Mr. Alvaro Hernandez was appointed to the
Managing Board of the Company with effect from 1 De-
cember 2021.
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Audit of the 2021 annual financial
statements and consolidated financial
statements

The Managing Board prepared the annual financial
statements of Allane SE as per 31 December 2021 in ac-
cordance with the requirements of the Han-
delsgesetzbuch (HGB — German Commercial Code) and
the consolidated financial statements and the manage-
ment report on the Group’s and the Company'’s situation
as per 31 December 2021 in accordance with section
315e of the HGB and on the basis of the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the
EU.

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungs-
gesellschaft, Munich, audited the annual financial state-
ments of Allane SE and the consolidated financial state-
ments as well as the management report on the
situation of the Group and the Company, and gave their
unqualified audit opinion. The auditor had been com-
missioned by the Supervisory Board on the basis of the
resolution taken by the Annual General Meeting on 29
June 2021.

The Supervisory Board received the documents to-
gether with the Managing Board’s dependent company
report and the auditor’s audit reports as well as the
Managing Board’s proposal on the appropriation of the
unappropriated profit in sufficient time for examination.
Discussion and examination of these documents was
conducted during the Supervisory Board's meeting on
28 April 2022, which was convened to adopt the annual
financial statements.

The auditor of the annual financial statements and of
the consolidated financial statements attending this
meeting provided in-depth information on the material
findings of their activities. Following an analysis of the
risk situation and risk management, the auditor con-
cluded that there were no material risks in Allane SE
and the Group companies which were not mentioned in
the reports. The audit of the effectiveness of the inter-
nal control and risk management system relating to ac-
counting procedures by the auditor did not lead to any
objections. Furthermore, the auditor informed the Su-
pervisory Board of services rendered over and above
the work on the audit. In the opinion of the auditor,
there were no circumstances that could justify doubt as
to the impartiality or independence of the auditors.

10
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The Supervisory Board approvingly noted the auditor’s
findings and had no objections after concluding its own
review. The Supervisory Board approved the annual and
consolidated financial statements as well as the man-
agement report on the Group’s and the Company’s situ-
ation as prepared by the Managing Board and audited
by the auditors. The annual financial statements of Al-
lane SE for 2021 were thus formally adopted in accord-
ance with the provisions of the German AktG. The
Supervisory Board concurred with the proposal made
by the Managing Board for the appropriation of the un-
appropriated profit of 2021.

In the audit, the auditor included the Managing Board’s
dependent company report in accordance with section
312 of the AktG covering the relationship between Al-
lane SE and affiliated companies and submitted the au-
dit report to the Supervisory Board. The audit by the
auditor did not give rise to any objections. The following
unqualified audit opinion was issued:

“On the basis of our review and assessment in accord-
ance with professional standards, we confirm that the
actual disclosures made in the report are accurate and
the consideration paid by the Company for legal trans-
actions listed in the report was not inappropriately
high.”

The Supervisory Board’'s examination of the dependent

company report in accordance with section 312 of the
AKktG covering the relationship between Allane SE and

Pullach, April 2022

The Supervisory Board

Chairman
Board Member
Board Member

Jochen Klopper

Thomas Hanswillemenke
Dr. Julian zu Putlitz
Hyunjoo Kim

Chiwhan Yoon

Norbert van den Eijnden

Board Member
Board Member

allane

its affiliated companies did not give rise to any objec-
tions. The Supervisory Board therefore concurred with
the auditor's findings. Following the completion of its
own examination, the Supervisory Board had no objec-
tions to the Managing Board’s concluding declaration in
the dependent company report.

Thanks to Managing Board and all employees

In the reporting year, the Group contract portfolio was
slightly and operating revenue significantly below the
previous year's figure. EBT was - due to the considera-
ble negative effects of the pandemic situation, the bur-
dens of transaction costs as well as the increased
provisions for litigation - very significantly below the
previous year’s figure.

In view of this annual balance sheet, which is neverthe-
less satisfactory against this backdrop, the Supervisory
Board would like to express its heartfelt thanks to the
Managing Board, the managing directors of the subsidi-
aries of Allane SE as well as all employees of the Group
for their dedicated and committed work. The Allane Mo-
bility Group expects business development to recover
from the second half of 2022 onwards due to a normali-
sation of the Corona pandemic and better new car sup-
ply after the summer, while the impact of the situation
in Ukraine on European economies remains uncertain.
Overall, we are confident that the Allane Mobility Group
will continue its successful development.

Deputy Chairwoman
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A.3 - Allane SE share

2021 a good year for shares

Despite high volatility, international stock markets per-
formed very positively in 2021. The DAX, Germany's
leading index, closed at 15,884.86 points on the last
trading day of 2021, up 15.8% on the year-end closing
price in 2020 (13,718.78 points). At the same time, the
DAX was only slightly below its all-time high of
16,251.13 points, which it had reached on 17 November
2021.

The DAX opened trading in Germany on 4 January 2021
at 13,890.22 points. It reached its low for the year at
13,432.87 on 29 January. In the following months it
climbed significantly to exceed 15,000 points for the
first time at the end of March and to over 16,000 points
for the first time at the end of August (both on a daily
basis). From May to December, the index moved mainly
between around 15,000 and 16,000 points, interrupted
by some significant price setbacks.

In the first half of 2021, German equities benefited in
particular from falling Corona infection figures, the eco-
nomic recovery and a continuing low interest rate pol-
icy. In addition, a $1,900 billion stimulus package was
passed in the USA. By contrast, the second half of 2021
was dominated by growth and inflation fears. In addi-
tion to supply bottlenecks, high energy and raw mate-
rial prices in particular and, from November, the
significant rise in infection figures and the Omicron var-
iant of the coronavirus caused uncertainty.

Allane shares slightly up for the year
Allane shares initially developed very positively in 2021.
At their high for the year in August, they recorded a
gain of around 17%. Towards the end of the year, how-
ever, prices fell significantly.

On the last trading day of 2021, Allane shares closed at
EUR 15.66, a gain of 2.4% over the year-end price for
2020 (EUR 15.30). The SDAX gained 11.2% in 2021.

The Allane share started 2021 at a price of EUR 15.50,
reaching its low for the year of EUR 15.04 on 26 Janu-
ary. From mid-February, the share price witnessed an
upward trend and rose to up to EUR 16.90 by mid-
March. Afterwards it encountered a slight downward
trend. Following the publication of Allane SE's business
figures for the first quarter on 19 May, the share price
rose again and reached its high for the year at EUR
17.90 on 13 August. In September and October, the
share price was between EUR 17.00 and EUR 17.70. In
the wake of the publication of the financial figures for
the third quarter on 17 November, the share price fell to
around EUR 15.70 by mid-December and remained
around this level until the end of the year.

The appointment of Donglim Shin as new CEO of Allane
SE, announced in an ad-hoc release on 22 March, had
no material impact on Allane shares. The same applied
to the Managing Board’s reassessment of projections
for business development in 2021, which was an-
nounced in an ad-hoc release on 8 December.

Relative performance of Allane share against the SDAX (indexed to 100)
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Shareholder structure

As of the end of the year under review, Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, still was the
largest single shareholder of Allane SE, holding 92.07%
of voting rights in the Company. The voting right notifi-
cations received by the Company during the year under
review are available from the Company’s website
ir.allane-mobility-group.com.

Allane share information
Share class No-par value ordinary bearer shares (WKN:
AODPRE, ISIN: DEOOOAODPREG)

Stock exchanges All price-setting German stock exchanges

Trading segment Prime Standard

Designated Sponsors Commerzbank AG, Joh. Berenberg,

Gossler & Co. KG

Dividend policy

Allane SE adheres to the principle of permitting its
shareholders to participate in the Company’s success
by distributing an appropriate dividend. The amount
paid out is determined by the development of consoli-
dated earnings as well as future demands placed on
equity, above all with a view to the scheduled growth at
home and abroad.

For the 2020 financial year, the Annual General Meeting
on 29 June 2021 approved a dividend of EUR 0.02 per
share proposed by the Managing Board and Supervi-
sory Board, which was significantly lower than in the
previous year. The dividend thus took into account the
constraints and challenges of the ongoing COVID-19
situation. The pay-out ratio was around 19% of the con-
solidated profit. Based on the year-end share price for
2020, this resulted in a dividend yield of around 0.1%.

For the 2021 financial year, the Managing Board of Al-
lane SE is considering proposing a distribution of a divi-
dend of EUR 0.06 per share to the Annual General
Meeting on 29 June 2022, taking into account the un-
certainty generated by the Ukraine war. The remaining
undistributed retained profit is to be carried forward to
new account. The exact dividend proposal is subject to
the approval of the Supervisory Board and will be pub-
lished with the agenda for the 2022 Annual General
Meeting. The dividend proposal of the Managing Board
would result in a pay-out ratio of roughly 21% of the
consolidated profit for the 2021 financial year. The pre-
viously communicated target range of 30 to 60%
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remains unchanged regardless of the pay-out ratio for
the 2021 financial year.

2021 2020

Earnings per share (EUR) -
basic and diluted 0.28 0.11

Dividend per share (EUR) 0.06" 0.02'
Number of shares (as at 31
December) 20,611,593 20,611,593
Total dividend (EUR million) 1.2 0.4
Pay-out ratio 21% 19%
2021 2020
High (EUR)? 17.90 18.90
Low (EUR)? 15.04 11.54
Year-end price (EUR)? 15.66 15.30
Dividend yield (%) 0.36 0.1
Market capitalisation (EUR million)®
as at 31 December 322.8 315.4

Communication with the capital

market

As a stock-listed company in Deutsche Borse’s Prime
Standard, Allane SE has to meet extensive requirements
on transparency and publicity. By being in continuous
dialogue with the capital markets, the Company en-
sures open, timely and comprehensive financial com-
munication.

In 2021, the Company conveyed to analysts, investors
and the media an overview of business conditions and
developments through regular meetings. Their focal
point of interest was above all the renaming of Sixt
Leasing SE to Allane SE, the Group strategy as well as
the future prospects of the Allane Mobility Group in the
context of the strategic partnership with the new major
shareholder HCBE.

In the Leasing segment, the focus was particularly on
growth plans for the Online Retail business with the
main topics centering on the further development of
the product and service portfolio and the improvement
of the customer experience. There was also considera-
ble interest in new marketing campaigns such as the
sales cooperation with Vehiculum and Lidl. In the Fleet
Leasing business field, special attention was given to
digital solutions such as the new smartphone app for
fleet customers.
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For the Fleet Management segment, investors and ana-
lysts were equally interested in digitalization. To this
end, the Managing Board explained, among other
things, its plans to expand the self-service app “The
Companion” and the “Fleetintelligence” tool to addi-
tional customers. Issue of discussion was furthermore
the internationalization of the business and the further
development of the business field into a full-service
provider of corporate mobility.

The Managing Board also addressed the possibilities of

opportunistic acquisitions to accelerate growth. The
strategy and business performance of Allane SE were

allane

explained in due detail and discussed with analysts and
investors during regular conference calls as well as per-
sonal talks.

Allane has set itself the target of maintaining detailed
and transparent communication of its growth strategy
and its progress in implementing it. Special attention
will be given to outlining in due detail the key differenti-
ating features and strengths over relevant competitors
as well as the particular opportunities in the individual
business fields.
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A.4 Sustainability

1. Sustainability at Allane

Sustainable mindsets and actions, based on firm values
and principles, are key factors for Allane’s success. The
Company assumes its responsibility towards society
and thereby adheres to the principle of sustainable de-
velopment. Allane wants to make its contribution to-
wards providing the following generations with stable
economic, social and ecological conditions. When pur-
suing its economic interests during everyday business
practice, the internationally active leasing provider and
fleet manager also considers ecological, social and eth-
ical aspects.

The Allane management is focused on responsible and
long-term value creation. Across the Group-wide value
chain from purchasing and leasing right through to the
remarketing of vehicles, sustainability aspects are also
taken into consideration next to economic factors.

1.1 Materiality

As a basis for the sustainability reporting of Allane SE, a
materiality analysis was carried out in 2017. The aim
was to identify the relevant fields of action in the area
of sustainability for Allane SE. These are of particular
importance for business development and show the ar-
eas in which Allane sees priorities. A cross-depart-
mental team coordinated the entire process, provided
assistance and summarised the results.

The materiality analysis was based on the established
management systems for quality and environment as
well as their inherent fields of action. The further pro-
cess included industry-relevant aspects and insights
gained from the analysis of competitors and other com-
parative companies. Workshops and surveys conducted
with the professional departments then identified and
discussed the material issues that are of relevance for
the Allane Mobility Group. The analysis findings estab-
lished were then worked through in collaboration with
an external partner and transferred into key fields of
action. Finally, the identified material issues of the
Group were validated again and then approved by the
Managing Board.
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1.2 Management Approach

It is Allane’s declared objective to integrate the principle
of sustainable development into its entrepreneurial de-
cision-making procedures in the long run. The Com-
pany’s uses its organisational structures and
governance processes to promote and control respon-
sible entrepreneurial actions, from strategy develop-
ment through to implementation. This way, Allane
systematically and consistently adheres to sustainabil-
ity issues in all its business activities and across all hi-
erarchical levels.

The Managing Board holds overall responsibility for
sustainability management, as it sets the course so that
corporate policy meets the requirements of socially re-
sponsible business dealings, and because it approves
the corresponding strategies and programmes. The
various business units and professional departments
implement the sustainability measures and retrieve the
sustainability data against the background of their re-
spective core business activities and/or task fields.

All three business fields of the Allane Mobility Group
have established a firm and comprehensive process for
collecting, analysing and implementing improvement
measures on the basis of customer feedback. In the
corporate business, Allane customers are regularly in-
terviewed on their satisfaction, to which end the Com-
pany deploys a special CSI tool (Customer Satisfaction
Index). With the help of this tool, the fleet managers
and drivers can provide detailed feedback on service
quality. Allane uses these data to continually optimise
the service range to match customer wishes and re-
quirements.

Over and above statutory requirements, Allane’s sus-
tainability management receives additional support
from the Company’s own guidelines. The Code of Con-
duct applies worldwide, enjoys overriding significance
and defines the ethical framework for daily business
activities.

2. Material fields of action

The objective of Allane’s sustainability management is
to harmonise the Company’s business activities with
ecological, social and ethical aspects. It is operational-
ised through the fields of actions, objectives and
measures and integrated into corporate procedures. In
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addition, the sustainability management is based on the
requirements and interests of the stakeholders. Particu-
lar importance is attached to customers, employees,
suppliers and investors.

Alongside the higher-level area of ‘Sustainability at Al-
lane’ the sustainability management is divided up into
six further material fields of action, which are outlined
in the following.

2.1 Corporate Governance

The success of Allane rests not only on the business
policy, but also on its compliance with moral and ethical
standards, integrity and the trust which customers and
suppliers, shareholders and business partners place in
the Company. Such trust can only be won and main-
tained if all employees adhere to the law and legislation
and maintain Allane’s strict behavioural standards.
Franchise and cooperation partners likewise are obliged
by the same duties, as outsiders recognise them as the
Company’s representatives. It is Allane’s declared aim to
make all employees as well as franchise and coopera-
tion partners regularly aware of the issue of compli-
ance. A key role is afforded here to the Group-wide
applicable Code of Conduct, which is regularly updated.
All employees, franchise and cooperation partners have
committed themselves to observe this Code of Con-
duct. It governs behaviour towards business partners
and third parties, the fundamentals applicable for the
working environment, as well as how to deal with con-
flicts of interests, assets and equipment of Allane, intel-
lectual property of third parties and information.

The Code of Conduct specifies, among other things,
the institution of an external ombudsman. In case em-
ployees want to disclose compliance violations, the om-
budsman acts as additional contact point, alongside
their corporate superior and the compliance officer. The
compliance officer maintains regular contact with the
Managing Board and assists as well as advises the
Board with respect to preventive measures. All subsidi-
aries of the Allane Mobility Group are regularly in-
spected regarding their compliance with all laws and
adherence to the Code of Conduct.
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Conceptual chart: Corporate Governance
und Compliance

Performance
Objective Measures indicator
Sensitising Integration of further compliance 1.
employees, requirements into the Code of
franchise and  Conduct

cooperation
partners to
compliance

Obliging employees, franchise and
cooperation partners to adhere to
the Code of Conduct

Moreover, Allane has formulated clear expectations
concerning its employees’ correct behaviour and makes
it clear that business relations can only be maintained
with customers, service providers and business part-
ners whose business activities comply with statutory
stipulations and whose financial means have a lawful
origin. Within the framework of legislative and regula-
tory requirements, an anti-money-laundering officer
has been instituted with a clear, brief mandate. Besides,
organisational guidelines to prevent money laundering,
terrorist financing and other criminal activities were
drawn up. Every employee has to sign and accept the
relevant guidelines. In addition, all employees have to
receive regular training relating to this thematic com-
plex. Their successful participation in these training
sessions is recorded and filed. In accordance with sec-
tion 9 (1) and (2) no. 1 to 4 of the Money Laundering
Act, Allane has initiated ongoing risk-based measures
to assess reliability. For example, appropriate assess-
ments take place in the case of employment or employ-
ment relationships as well as risk-oriented during the
existence of a relationship by the supervisor.

As an internationally active company, Allane is unre-
servedly committed to respect human rights and corre-
sponding legal rules at home and abroad. The Group
has undertaken to respect and promote human rights
and to report in a transparent fashion about the results
of its actions. In addition, Allane follows the ILO core la-
bour standards and adheres to the four fundamental
principles: freedom of association and the effective
recognition of the right to collective bargaining, the
elimination of forced or compulsory labour, the abolition
of child labour and the elimination of discrimination in
respect of employment and occupation. In addition, Al-
lane also obliges its franchise partners who are active
in other countries to comply with strict social standards
and to respect human rights. To ensure this, the expec-
tations are contractually fixed and the partners are en-
couraged to run their business in accordance with
ethical principles and to act with integrity.
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2.2 Climate Protection

As a provider of mobility solutions, Allane is aware of its
responsibility for climate protection and has set itself
the target of continually lowering the average CO2
emissions of its customer fleet. It realises this through a
series of measures, such as the continuous utilisation
of the latest vehicle models that have state-of-the-art
powertrains in its fleet as well as by providing leasing
offers for electric and hybrid vehicles.

Conceptual chart: Climate protection
Performance
indicator

Objective Measures

Reduction of the
average CO:
emissions of the
fleet

Continuous renewal of vehicle  Average CO,
fleet with cars equipped with emissions of the
state-of-the-art technology fleet

For years, Allane has been assisting and following the
developments in electric mobility and alternative vehi-
cle powertrains as it promotes these by events for em-
ployees, fleet managers and media representatives, by
cooperating with manufacturers, dealers and electric
utility suppliers as well as by promotional offers for pri-
vate customers. The Company has expertise in the se-
lection and deployment of hybrid and electric vehicles
and is therefore capable of giving interested customers
competent advice and can optimise corporate fleets
with regard to its sustainability aspects. This includes
for example the use of e-car pools, improving pollutant
emissions and introducing a CO2 bonus-malus system.

In the 2021 financial year, Allane offered leasing agree-
ments to private, commercial and corporate customers
for new vehicles with terms anywhere between twelve
and 72 months. As per 31 December 2021 the contracts
had an average term of around 44 months. Conse-
quently, the leasing fleet is continually being renewed
with the more modern vehicles carrying more efficient
technologies. This results in a reduction of average CO2
emissions per vehicle within the Leasing business unit
over time.

Another example of Allane's ecological commitment is
the “You car — we tree” campaign, under which auto-
haus24 plants a tree for every used car sold. In 2021,
over 2,800 trees were planted in this way.
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Average CO:2-emissions of the Leasing
business unit

2021 2020
123 126
— —

2.3 Utilisation of Resources

The protection of the environment and responsible utili-
sation of resources are taken for granted by Allane. In
its own sphere of influence, the Company keeps its en-
ergy and water consumption as low as possible. With
the assistance of its environmental management sys-
tems, Allane regularly monitors its consumption of re-
sources and strives to achieve continuous
improvements in efficiency.

Conceptual chart: Utilisation of

Resources

Performance
Objective Measures indicator
Continual Implementing and monitoring 1.

improvement of
energy efficiency

energy efficiency measures
Conducting energy audits
Sensitising employees to energy-
saving measures

Allane pursues the objective of continually improving its
energy efficiency and cutting its energy consumption.
Next to the implementation and monitoring of the con-
crete energy efficiency measures, it also conducts en-
ergy audits and heightens the awareness of employees
for measures to utilise energy in a way that saves re-
sources. According to the last energy audit conducted
in the 2017 financial year for the calendar year 2016,
the consumption ratings for the corporate headquarters
are within the normal parameter range, while the heat-
ing requirements are below average.

2.4 Employer attractiveness

Allane attaches greatest importance to its workforce’s
customer focus and quality of service to ensure entre-
preneurial success. The Group therefore considers its
responsibility to develop its workforce, promote its
health, integrate it into decisions and to provide equal
opportunities for all. In addition, the Group-wide work-
ing climate and the interaction between all employees is
characterised by mutual respect, fairness and the pro-
hibition of any form of discrimination.

17



A - To our shareholders - Sustainability

Allane is a well-known employer with a good reputation.
In order to remain an attractive employer, the Company
has set its sights on improving the work-life balance of
its members of staff. To this end, flexible working time
programmes will be extended. Since 2015, employees in
the central and administrative functions, as well as ex-
ecutives, enjoy working time arrangements based on
trust. As of December 2021, around 50% of all employ-
ees of the Allane Mobility Group in Germany had work-
ing time arrangements based on trust (2019: 45%). All
other employees record their working hours. Further-
more, against the background of the COVID-19 pan-
demic, the Company enabled its employees to carry out
their work independently of their place of work (‘Mobile
Work’) to a significantly expanded extent also in the
2021 financial year.

Allane aims to keep employee satisfaction at a high
level. To this end, the Company conducts regular em-
ployee surveys, from which it then deducts further
measures. In addition, Allane relies on an active feed-
back culture with 360-degree feedback and custom-
ised development and promotion programmes.

Conceptual chart: Employer
attractiveness

Performance
Objective Measures indicator
Improving Expanding the programmes Number of
employees’ work- to strengthen work-life employees in time
life balance balance arrangements

based on trust
Maintaining high Regular execution and .

satisfaction levels
among employees

evaluation of surveys on
employee satisfaction
Deducing potential action
requirements from the
survey findings

Further information on strategic personnel development
and the relevant KPIs can be found in the section ‘Hu-
man resources report’ of this annual report.

2.5 Staff development and promotion

Allane’s entrepreneurial success is vitally dependent on
the knowledge, skills and commitment of its employees.
Qualified employees are the most important building
block for the Group in order to be able to act as a pre-
mium supplier on the market and generate ‘customer
excitement’. The Company is therefore committed to a
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culture that has the people at its centre who work for
Allane. It is the claim to consistently encourage and
promote the talents of its workforce, adequately remu-
nerate their commitment and apply uniform principles in
salaries and wages which exclude any form of discrimi-
nation.

Conceptual chart: Staff development and
promotion

Performance
Objective Measures indicator
Further Demand-oriented .
development of intensification of on-site
employees’ training and
professional e-learning units
expertise
Further Regular evaluation of Share of
development of variable remuneration employees with
performance- models and their KPIs performance-
based based
remuneration remuneration
models

Finding and promoting talents goes hand in hand with
further developing professional expertise. To this end,
Allane is intensifying the number of on-site trainings
and e-learning sessions in training facilities wherever
there is demand for them as well as interlocking these
forms of training. The training units are offered to em-
ployees of all ranks and cover a wide range of topics.

In order to foster the individual commitment of its em-
ployees to the Company's success and to honour it ac-
cordingly, Allane has introduced a performance-based
remuneration system for certain groups of employees.
At the end of 2021, 37% of all employees of the Allane
Mobility Group in Germany received variable remunera-
tion in addition to their fixed salary. In order to honour
the individual performance of each employee even
more than before, Allane has set itself the goal of fur-
ther developing the existing performance-related com-
pensation models. To this end, the existing variable
remuneration models are regularly evaluated and the
quota of employees is determined using performance-
based remuneration components.

Further information on the employee promotion pro-
gramme and the key features of the remuneration can
be found in the section ‘Human resources report’ of this
annual report.
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2.6 Social commitment

Allane considers it to be its duty to contribute towards
society’s well-being. Assuming social responsibility is a
firm component in its entrepreneurial policy and corre-
sponds with Allane’s identity, principles and values. The
Company has set itself the goal of expanding on its so-
cial commitments, especially in issues referring to en-
ergy and the environment, as well as non-profitable
work and its commitment in the charitable sector.

In 2021, Allane supported the independent Regine Sixt
Children’s Aid Foundation 'Drying Little Tears', which is
under the supervision of the government of Upper Ba-
varia. The foundation supports measures to improve the
health conditions and living conditions of children and
young people worldwide. In addition, facilities for care,
education and vocational training as well as social wel-
fare institutions are supported. The Regine Sixt Chil-
dren’s Foundation receives proposals and applications
from Allane employees to support projects and initia-
tives that benefit children worldwide. The selection and
implementation of the projects are carried out in close
coordination between the Company and the foundation.

Conceptual chart: Social commitment

Performanc
Objective Measures e indicator
Expanding social Drying Little Tears Days .
commitment
Continuing the Supporting foundation projects to ./.
cooperation with improve the health conditions and
the ‘Regine Sixt living conditions of children and
Children’s Aid young people worldwide and
Foundation’ promoting institutions for care,

education and vocational training
as well as social welfare
institutions
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B.1 - Group
Fundamentals

1. Business Model of the Group
1.1 Group structure and management

Allane SE, Pullach (previously: Sixt Leasing SE), is a Eu-
ropean Stock Corporation (Societas Europea) and the
parent company of the Allane Mobility Group, which
mainly conducts its business under the business names
of 'Sixt Leasing', 'Sixt Mobility Consulting’, 'Sixt Neu-
wagen', 'autohaus24' and ‘Flottenmeister'. The Com-
pany has its registered offices in Dr.-Carl-von-Linde-
StraBe 2, 82049 Pullach/Germany, and is registered in
the Commercial Register of Munich Local Court under
docket number HRB 227195. The Company has been
established for an indefinite period.

As a financial services company, Allane SE is supervised
by the Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht
(BaFin - Federal Financial Supervisory Authority) and
has to comply with the minimum requirements for risk
management of banks and financial services institutions
(MaRisk).

The Company was founded 1975 in Munich as 'Central
Garagen CG GmbH' and has been trading since 2003
under the name 'Sixt Autoland GmbH' with its registered
offices in Garching close to Munich. Sixt Group's opera-
tive leasing business has been overseen by 'Sixt Leas-
ing GmbH' since 1988 and after its change of legal form
into a stock corporation under the name 'Sixt Leasing
AG'. In 2004 'Sixt Leasing AG' merged with the previous
'Sixt Autoland GmbH?. In the following 'Sixt Autoland
GmbH' changed its legal form to a stock corporation
and continued under the name 'Sixt Leasing AG'. The
Company's shares have been listed on the regulated
market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Ex-
change since its IPO on 7 May 2015. By approval of the
Annual General Meeting on 1 June 2016 the Company
was transformed by way of changing the legal form ac-
cording to Art. 2 (4) in conjunction with Art. 37 SE-Reg
to Sixt Leasing SE.

On 16 July 2020, Sixt Leasing SE was acquired to ap-

proximately 92% by Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH
(HCBE), a joint venture of Santander Consumer Bank

allane

AG and Hyundai Capital Services Inc. as part of a volun-
tary public takeover offer. In the process, HCBE also ac-
quired the approximately 42% stake held by the former
main shareholder Sixt SE. As part of the separation
from Sixt SE, the Annual General Meeting of Sixt Leas-
ing SE resolved on 29 June 2021 to change the Compa-
ny's name to ‘Allane SE' The new company name ‘Allane
SE’ was entered in the commercial register on 5 August
2021.

The Managing Board of Allane SE manages the Com-
pany under its own responsibility and currently consists
of Mr. Donglim Shin, Chairman of the Management
Board (CEO) since 1 July 2021, and Mr. Alvaro Hernan-
dez, CFO since 1 December 2021. Previously, these of-
fices were held by Mr Michael Ruhl (CEO) until 30 June
2021 and by Mr Bjérn Waldow (CFO) until 30 September
2021.

The Supervisory Board of Allane SE, which consists of
six members, appoints, monitors and advises the Man-
aging Board and is directly involved in decisions of fun-
damental importance for the Company and the Group.

Allane SE acts as an operative leasing company and is
the parent company of the Allane Mobility Group. It has
directly or indirectly 100% shareholdings in the follow-
ing subsidiaries, which also operate in the leasing or
fleet management businesses of their respective coun-
tries:

m Allane Location Longue Durée S.a.r.l., Rueil-Mailmai-
son/France (previously: Sixt Location Longue Durée
SARL)

m Allane (Schweiz) AG, Urdorf/Switzerland (previously:
Sixt Leasing (Schweiz) AG)

m Allane G.m.b.H., Vosendorf/Austria (previously: Sixt
Leasing G.m.b.H.)

m autohaus24 GmbH, Pullach/Germany

m Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, Pullach/Germany
(previously: Sixt Mobility Consulting GmbH)

m Allane Mobility Consulting S.a.r.l., Rueil-Mailmai-
son/France* (previously: Sixt Mobility Consulting
SARL)

m Allane Mobility Consulting AG, Urdorf/Switzerland
(previously: Sixt Mobility Consulting AG)

= Allane Mobility Consulting Osterreich GmbH, Vésen-
dorf/Austria* (previously: Sixt Mobility Consulting
Osterreich GmbH)

m Allane Mobility Consulting B.V., Hoofddorp/Nether-
lands (previously: Sixt Mobility Consulting B.V.)
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m Allane Services GmbH, Rostock/Germany* (previ-
ously: SXT Leasing Verwaltungs GmbH)

m Allane Services GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock/Germany
(previously: SXT Leasing Dienstleistungen GmbH &
Co. KG)

In addition, the company Isar Valley S.A., Luxembourg
(share of 0%, however, control according to IFRS 10) is
fully consolidated.

Between Allane SE and Allane Mobility Consulting
GmbH, a profit and loss transfer agreement is in place.

As of reporting date 31 December 2021, the Company's
share capital amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00 divided
up into 20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The shares
are no-par value shares with a notional interest in the
share capital of EUR 1.00 per share. The shares are fully
paid up.

As of the reporting date, Hyundai Capital Bank Europe
GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (‘HCBE’), was the largest
shareholder with 92.07% of the shares and voting
rights is.

In the context of the sale of the stake in Allane SE by
Sixt SE to HCBE, Allane SE and Sixt SE also concluded a
number of agreements with regard to the temporary
continued use of the ‘Sixt’ brand and the Carve-Out of
the IT structure.

Further agreements concluded between Allane SE and
HCBE and its respective parties are described in the
notes to the consolidated statements under ‘related
party disclosures'. The previous year's figures pre-
sented in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments under ‘Related party disclosures’ also include
further agreements concluded between Allane SE and
Sixt SE or its related parties (until 15 July 2020).

1.2 Group activities and services portfolio
The Allane Mobility Group is organised into the two

business units (segments) Leasing and Fleet Manage-
ment.
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1.2.1 Leasing business unit

Through its Leasing business unit, Allane SE acts as a
non-bank, vendor-neutral leasing company in Germany.
In addition, the business unit is also represented by its
operative subsidiaries in France, Switzerland, Austria
and the Netherlands.

The Leasing business unit comprises the two business
fields Fleet Leasing (corporate customer leasing) and
Online Retail (private and commercial customer leas-

ing).

In the Fleet Leasing business field, the Group offers
lease financing and associated services (so-called full-
service leasing) to corporate customers.

Target customers for this business field are, on the one
hand, companies with a fleet size of more than 100 ve-
hicles, whose fleets are made up of different manufac-
turers and have a certain complexity. Allane SE
supports these mid-sized and large customers through
individual fleet solutions. On the other hand, smaller
corporate customers with a fleet size of around 20 to
100 vehicles are also served. The approach in this cus-
tomer segment is to use standardised products and
processes to professionalise fleet purchasing and man-
agement.

Next to the classic finance leasing, the offering includes
a variety of services such as multi-brand online config-
uration, consulting on the vehicle selection, online ap-
proval procedure according to individual company
guidelines, price-optimised vehicle procurement,
maintenance of the vehicles over the total contract pe-
riod, tire changing, damage assistance and manage-
ment incl. insurance handling as well as the
management of fuel cards, vehicle taxes and broadcast
contribution. The ratio of contracts which combine fi-
nance leasing with service components of various
scope accounted for around 87% of the total contract
portfolio of the Fleet Leasing business field at the end
of 2021.

Allane SE operates its Online Retail business field via
the websites sixt-neuwagen.de and autohaus24.de.
The platforms give private and commercial customers
(with up to 20 vehicles) the opportunity to configure
vehicle models from about 35 different car manufactur-
ers, to request their individual leasing offer and to order
online. In addition, a large number of immediately avail-
able storage cars can be selected. With the online-
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based vehicle leasing for private and commercial cus-
tomers, the Company addresses a market that is grow-
ing strongly in Germany.

The Online Retail business field also offers additional
services such as a wear and tear, an inspection or an
insurance package, which can be booked online to the
leasing contract and included in the lease instalment. At
the end of 2021, around 42% of private and commercial
customer contracts contained at least one service com-
ponent.

1.2.2 Fleet Management business unit

The Allane Mobility Group operates its Fleet Manage-
ment business unit via the Allane Mobility Consulting
GmbH, which was founded in 2011, and further direct
and indirect subsidiaries of Allane SE. So, the expertise
in managing larger customer fleets can also be offered
to customers, who purchased their vehicles or leased
them from other providers. The target group for this
service ranges from mid-sized businesses to interna-
tional corporations.

As bank- and manufacturer-independent fleet manager,
the aim of Allane Mobility Consulting is to advise and
support companies in the procurement and operation of
leasing and purchasing fleets. To this end, just as in the
Fleet Leasing business field, proprietary developed
online-based IT tools like the Multibid Configurator, and
the ‘Fleetintelligence’ analysis tool are used. The Multi-
bid Configurator offers functions such as freely config-
uring fleet vehicles, comparing them with possible
alternative vehicles and carrying out tenders for desired
vehicles among different leasing companies. In June
2021, Allane Mobility Consulting developed and
launched the digital analysis tool 'FleetIntelligence' for
fleet customers and managers as well as for internal
analyses. The new application is based on (cloud) tech-
nology and enables the fleet to be analysed in terms of
key parameters such as stock, costs, sustainability and
damage. In addition, Allane Mobility Consulting sup-
ports the company car users of the corporate clients in
all topics related to the vehicle, from ordering to acci-
dent management to wheel changes. The self-service
app 'The Companion' makes it possible to perform vehi-
cle-related tasks such as booking workshop appoint-
ments via smartphone and supports digital
communication between fleet managers and company
car users.
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1.3 Significant external influencing factors

As an internationally active leasing group with a stock-
listed parent company, the business activities of the Al-
lane companies are exposed to the influence of a num-
ber of different legal systems and
stipulations/requirements. These include road traffic
and public order stipulations, as well as tax and insur-
ance laws, and capital and financial market regulations.

Economically, the Group is dependent on general eco-
nomic conditions, which particularly affect the con-
sumption behaviour of private customers and
companies’ willingness to invest as well as the develop-
ment of the used car market. Next to these, changes in
interest rates or in tax frameworks are key external fac-
tors that can have an impact on Allane SE's business.
Likewise, social trends can also affect the demand for
mobility services, as for example the increasing willing-
ness to pay for the provision of mobility in form of a
time-dependent using fee rather than for owning a ve-
hicle

2. Business management

The long-term business success of the Allane Mobility
Group is measured by using predefined financial and
operative control parameters. In addition, non-financial
performance indicators play a role for the Allane Mobil-
ity Group, particularly in the fields of climate protection,
employer attractiveness as well as staff promotion and
development.

The following financial and operative control parame-
ters (financial performance indicators) are particularly
relevant for the Allane Mobility Group:

m Group contract portfolio,

m consolidated operating revenue (leasing revenue (fi-
nance rate), other revenue from leasing business and
fleet management revenue (without revenue from the
sale of returned vehicles) as well as

m consolidated earnings before taxes (EBT).

In addition, the following key figures support the man-
agement of the Group (no forecasts and therefore no
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target-actual comparisons are made for these key fig-
ures):

m contract portfolio of the business fields,

m consolidated revenue (operating revenue and sales
revenue),

m consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreci-
ation and amortization (EBITDA),
m operating return on revenue of the Group (EBT/oper-

ating revenue) and

m equity ratio of the Group (equity/total assets).

allane

3. Research and development

Allane SE did not pursue any significant research and
development activities in the 2021 financial year. In or-
der to drive the digitalisation of the business model, Al-
lane SE develops new products, applications and digital
business processes itself. In doing so, Allane SE makes
use of external services depending on project require-
ments, capacity needs and relevant expertise. In the fi-
nancial year 2021, production costs of EUR 4.5 million
were activated for development projects in progress.
Amortization of EUR 4.8 million occurred in the financial
year for completed and commissioned in-house devel-
opments.
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B.2 - Business Report

Due to rounding, it is possible that selected figures in
this report cannot be added up to the amount recorded
and that the year figures listed do not follow from add-
ing up the individual quarterly figures. For the same
reason, the percentage figures listed may not always
exactly reflect the absolute numbers to which they re-
fer.

1. Economic environment

Allane Mobility Group with its subsidiaries operates in
its domestic market in Germany as well as in France,
Switzerland, Austria and the Netherlands. The Group's
business activities in these markets are affected by a
number of different factors, above all the investment
activities of businesses, the spending propensity of
commercial and corporate customers, the consumer
behaviour of private customers and the development of
the used car market.

The global economy recovered in 2021 after a decline in
the previous year. According to the International Mone-
tary Fund (IMF), the global gross domestic product
(GDP) increased by 5.9% compared to the previous
year. According to the Kiel Institute for the World Econ-
omy (IfW), it rose by 5.7%. However, according to the
IfW, the recovery of the global economy has slowed
since mid-2021. The reason for this is again increasing
corona infections, supply bottlenecks as well as growth
problems in China. The impact of the new Omicron vari-
ant of the coronavirus on the economy is great.
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The German economy also returned to growth in 2021.
According to calculations by the Federal Statistical Of-
fice (Destatis), GDP increased by 2.8%. Economic out-
put recovered despite the ongoing pandemic and
supply bottlenecks in almost all areas. This applies in
particular to gross fixed capital formation as well as ex-
ports and imports. Private consumer spending stabi-
lized at the low level of 2020. The average number of
people in employment in 2021 was 44.9 million, about
the same as in the previous year. Government budgets
again ended 2021 with a financing deficit - the second
highest since German reunification.
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2. Group business performance
overview and comparison with
forecast of the year

Overview of key performance indicators:

31 December 2020 Outlook Adjustment 31 December 2021
Group contract portfolio (number 129,900 Slight increase Slightly below previous 128,800
of contracts) year's level”
Operating revenue (in EUR 423.3 At previous year's Significantly below 386.0
million) level previous year's level”
Earnings before taxes (in EUR 9.1 Higher single-digit - 6.1
million) million euro amount

1

The Allane Mobility Group's business performance in
2021 was basically in line with the adjusted expecta-
tions (does not refer to the supporting key figures). De-
spite the uncertainties and constraints from the COVID-
19 pandemic as well as the transaction-related ex-
penses, the Allane Mobility Group has a solid founda-
tion, as the results of operations, financial position and
net assets show. Consolidated revenue, which includes
operating revenue and sales revenue, fell by 1.0% year-
on-year to EUR 740.4 million (2020: EUR 747.7 million).
Consolidated operating revenue (excluding sales reve-
nues) decreased by 8.8% to EUR 386.0 million (2020:
EUR 423.3 million). This is mainly due to the signifi-
cantly reduced vehicle utilisation as a result of the
COVID-19-related contact restrictions and the associ-
ated decline in utilisation-related revenues as well as a
declining contract portfolio. In March 2021, the Manag-
ing Board had expected consolidated operating revenue
in the range of the previous year’s figure. In December
2021, the forecast was adjusted so that the Managing
Board henceforth expected a figure significantly below
the previous year’s figure. The main reasons for the de-
viation from the forecast are the weaker-than-expected
current business development, due in particular to the
below-expected recovery of the overall economic situa-
tion, as well as the worsening COVID-19 situation,
which continues to have a significant impact on mobility
behaviour due to the government measures introduced.
Sales revenues for lease returns and marketed cus-
tomer vehicles in Fleet Management increased by 9.2%
to EUR 354.4 million (2020: EUR 324.4 million). This is
mainly due to an increase in the unit prices of the vehi-
cles sold as a result of the high demand for used cars,
especially caused by the supply shortages of new cars.

allane

Due to this opposing development, consolidated reve-
nue declined only slightly.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation (EBITDA) declined by 13.0% to EUR 184.0 million
in the reporting year (2020: EUR 211.4 million). Consoli-
dated earnings before taxes (EBT) fell by 32.7% to EUR
6.1 million (2020: EUR 9.1 million). As a result, the oper-
ating return on revenue (ratio of EBT to operating reve-
nue) was 1.6% (2020: 2.2%). The lower EBT is in line
with expectations.

The equity of the Allane Mobility Group increased to a
total of EUR 220,192 thousand compared to the previ-
ous year (2020: EUR 212,851 thousand). The group eq-
uity ratio was thus 18.4% as of the balance sheet date
(2020:16.4%).

As of 31 December 2021, the Allane Mobility Group's
contract portfolio was 0.8% below the previous year's
level at 128,800 contracts (2020: 129,900 contracts). In
its forecast of March 2021, the Managing Board had ex-
pected a slight increase in the Group's contract portfo-
lio. From December, it expected a figure slightly below
the previous year’s figure. The main reasons for the ad-
justment were the weaker than expected business de-
velopment as well as the COVID-19 situation worsening
again in the fourth quarter of 2021.

In the Online Retail business field, the contract portfolio
as at 31 December 2021 of 36,500 contracts was 5.4%
below the level of the previous year (2020: 38,600 con-
tracts).
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In the Fleet Leasing business field, the contract portfo-
lio decreased by 11.9% to 33,300 contracts at the end
of the year (2020: 37,800 contracts).

The declines in both business field are due in particular
to the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the supply bottlenecks for new cars.

The contract portfolio of the Fleet Management busi-
ness unit developed very positively. Compared to the
previous year, it increased by 10.3% to 59,000 contracts
(2020: 53,500 contracts) and thus reached a new all-
time high. The main reason for this was the acquisition
of new customers and the expansion of existing cus-
tomer relationships.

Contract

portfolio’
Change
2021 2020 in %
Allane Mobility Group 128.8 129.9 -0.8
thereof Online Retail 36.5 38.6 (5.4)
thereof Fleet Leasing 33.3 37.8 (11.9)
thereof Fleet Management 59.0 53.5 10.3

3. Contract and revenue performance
of the business units
3.1 Leasing business unit
In the Leasing business unit, the contract portfolio at

the end of the reporting year totalled 69,800 contracts,
which was 8.6% below the figure as of 31 December
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2020 (76,400 contracts). At the same time, the contract
portfolio in the Online Retail business field declined by
5.4% to 36,500 contracts (2020: 38,600 contracts).
The contract portfolio in the Fleet Leasing business
field fell by 11.9% to 33,300 contracts (2020: 37,800
contracts).

Total revenue in the Leasing business unit fell by 2.7%
to EUR 625.1 million in the reporting year (2020: EUR
642.1 million). Operating revenue (segment revenue ex-
cluding proceeds from the sale of lease returns) de-
creased by 10.8% to EUR 332.8 million (2020: EUR
373.2 million). Revenue from the sale of used leasing
vehicles increased by 8.7% to EUR 292.3 million (2020:
EUR 268.9 million).

3.2 Fleet Management business unit

In the Fleet Management business unit, the contract
portfolio at the end of 2021 increased by 10.3% year-
on-year to 59,000 contracts (2020: 53,500 contracts),
a new record since the business unit was established.

The business unit’s total revenue increased by 9.2% to
EUR 115.3 million in 2021 (2020: EUR 105.6 million). Op-
erating revenue increased by 6.4% to EUR 53.2 million
(2020: EUR 50.0 million). Revenue from the sale of cus-
tomer vehicles increased by 11.8% to EUR 62.1 million
(2020: EUR 55.6 million). The marketing of customer
vehicles as an additional service is eliciting differing re-
sponses from customers, depending on their needs.
Consequently, the development of revenue from vehicle
sales is more volatile in the Fleet Management business
unit than in the Leasing business unit.
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4. Earnings development

Consolidated income statement (condensed)

Absolute Change
2021 2020 change in%
Consolidated revenue 740.5 747.7 (7.2) (1.0)
Thereof consolidated operating revenue' 386.0 423.3 (37.3) (8.8)
Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets 473.1 473.8 (0.7) (0.1)
Personnel expenses 50.1 42.9 7.2 16.6
Net losses from financial assets 4.0 4.0 0.0 0.0
Net other operating income/expense (29.3) (15.6) (13.7) 87.8
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 184.0 211.4 (27.4) (13.0)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 171.0 191.2 (20.2) (10.6)
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 13.0 20.2 (7.2) (35.7)
Net finance costs (6.9) (11.1) 4.2 38.1
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 6.1 9.1 (3.0) (32.7)
Operating return on revenue (%) 1.6 2.2 (0.6 points)
Income tax expense 0.3 6.9 (6.6) (95.8)
Consolidated profit 5.8 2.2 3.6 168.7
Earnings per share? (in EUR) - basic and diluted 0.28 0.11 0.17

Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets decreased by
0.1% to EUR 473.1 million (2020: EUR 473.8 million). Ad-
justed by expenditure incurred in connection with the
sale of lease assets, fleet expenses and cost of lease
assets recorded a decline of 7.0%, slightly less than the
decline in Group operating turnover.

Personnel expenses increased by 16.6% to EUR 50.1
million (2020: EUR 42.9 million), in particular due to the
increase in IT resources as a result of the IT carve-out
from Sixt SE.

The balance of other operating income and expenses
increased by 87.8% to EUR -29.3 million (2020: EUR
-15.6 million), due to costs in the IT, legal and consult-
ing areas, whereby other operating income decreased
less than other operating expenses increased.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation (EBITDA) decreased by 13.0% to EUR 184.0 mil-
lion (2020: EUR 211.4 million).

Depreciation and amortisation decreased by 10.6% to
EUR 171.0 million (2020: EUR 191.2 million).
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Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) totalled EUR
13.0 million, which was 35.7% less than the year before
(2020: EUR 20.2 million).

Net finance costs in the year under review improved
significantly once again, up by 38.1% to EUR -6.9 million
(2020: EUR -11.1 million). The improvement in the finan-
cial result is due to the decrease in the financing vol-
ume and the more favourable refinancing of the bond
issued in the 2017 financial year and repaid in Decem-
ber 2020.

Earnings before taxes (EBT) of Allane Mobility Group for
the 2021 financial year amounted to EUR 6.1 million,
which is 32.7% down on the previous year's figure of
EUR 9.1 million.

Consequently, the operating return on revenue (ratio of
EBT to operating revenue) came to 1.6% (2020: 2.2%).

Income taxes decreased by 95.8% to EUR 0.3 million
(2020: EUR 6.9 million). The main reason for this devel-
opment is deferred tax expenses in the previous year,
which are offset by deferred tax income in the financial
year from the recognition of deferred tax assets due to
the non-recognition of a provision in the tax balance
sheet. This was the main reason for the 168.7%
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increase in consolidated profit to EUR 5.8 million (2020:
EUR 2.2 million) in the reporting year.

Overall, the 2021 financial year fell short of the expec-
tations for the contract portfolio and operating revenue
set out in the previous year's management report. The
expectations of both financial performance indicators
were already adjusted in December 2021. The result
from ordinary activities was within expectations in the
2021 financial year.

5. Net assets

As of 31 December 2021, the total assets of the Allane
Mobility Group came to EUR 1,194.8 million, EUR 100.7
million or 7.8% less than on 31 December 2020 (EUR
1,295.6 million).

Non-current assets, which decreased year-on-year by
EUR 80.0 million to EUR 1,051.6 million (2020: EUR
1,131.6 million; -7.1%) are still dominated by lease assets.
By reference date comparison, lease assets fell by EUR
97.1 million or 8.9% to EUR 995.4 million (2020: EUR
1,092.5 million). As a proportion of total assets, its share
decreased slightly to 83.3% (2020: 84.3%). Among the
other items of non-current assets, above all intangible
assets as well as property and equipment increased. In-
tangible assets rose by EUR 5.5 million or 29.2% to EUR
24.2 million (2020: EUR 18.7 million) due to further in-
vestments in internally generated software in the re-
porting year. Property and equipment increased by EUR
10.8 million or 75.0% to EUR 25.1 million, mainly due to a
new right of use from a lease agreement for a new used
car marketing location in Berlin.

Compared with the same reporting date of last year,
current assets decreased by EUR 20.7 million or 12.6%
to EUR 143.2 million (2020: EUR 163.9 million). This was
largely the result of the decrease in inventories, which
mainly include lease fleet vehicles held for sale and
customer vehicles, as well as the decrease in other re-
ceivables and assets. Inventories fell by EUR 14.0 mil-
lion or 26.7% to EUR 38.5 million (2020: EUR 52.5
million) due to the decline in vehicle returns compared
to the previous year. Other receivables and assets fell
by EUR 10.8 million or 28.8% to EUR 26.7 million (2020:
EUR 37.5 million). This is mainly due to the decrease in
receivables from finance leases by EUR 5.1 million and
the decrease in receivables from value added taxes and
other taxes by EUR 2.4 million. In contrast, trade
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receivables increased by EUR 6.0 million or 8.7% to EUR
75.2 million (2020: EUR 69.2 million) due to the balance
sheet date.

Income tax receivables as of the reporting date de-
creased EUR 0.2 million or 25.0% to EUR 0.7 million
(2020: EUR 0.9 million).

Consolidated balance
sheet (condensed)

2021 2020
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 24.2 18.7
Lease assets 995.4 1,092.5
Other 32.0 20.4
Current assets
Inventories 38.5 52.5
Bank balances 1.7 24
Other 103.0 109.0
Assets 1,194.8 1,295.6
5.1 Equity

As of 31 December 2021, the Allane Mobility Group’s
equity amounted to EUR 220.2 million. The increase by
EUR 7.3 million or 3.4%, compared to the same report-
ing date of the previous year (2020: EUR 212.9 million),
is essentially the result of the generated consolidated
profit minus the cash outflow for the dividend of EUR
0.4 million paid out in the reporting year for the 2020 fi-
nancial year. The equity ratio increased from 16.4% to
18.4% of the balance sheet total, mainly due to the de-
crease in the balance sheet total as a result of lower
leasing assets.

As of the reporting date, the share capital of Allane SE
was unchanged at EUR 20.6 million.
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Consolidated balance sheet

(condensed)

2021 2020
Equity 220.2 212.9
Non-current liabilities and
provisions
Financial liabilities 314.7 671.7

Miscellaneous 45.3 50.8

Current liabilities and provisions

Financial liabilities 490.1 264.2
Miscellaneous 124.5 96.0
Equity and liabilities 1,194.8 1,295.6

5.2 Liabilities

As of 31 December 2021, the Group reported non-cur-
rent liabilities and provisions of EUR 360.0 million
(2020: EUR 722.5 million; -50.2%). This was mainly due
to the decrease in non-current financial liabilities by
EUR 357.0 million to EUR 314.7 million (2020: EUR 671.7
million; -53.2%). This is mainly due to the bond issued
in the 2018 financial year maturing in 2022, which was
no longer reported under non-current financial liabilities
as at 31 December 2021, but with EUR 249.7 million un-
der current financial liabilities. In addition, the required
financing volume has generally decreased due to the
decline in leasing assets.

Current liabilities and provisions as of 31 December
2021 amounted to EUR 614.6 million (2020: EUR 360.2
million). The increase by EUR 254.4 million or 70.6%
was essentially due to increasing current financial liabil-
ities by EUR 225.9 million or 85.5% to EUR 490.1 million
(2020: EUR 264.2 million) to refinance the repaid 2017
bond and from the above-mentioned reporting of the
2018 bond under current financial liabilities. Current
other provisions increased by EUR 3.4 million or 122.4%
from EUR 2.9 million to EUR 6.3 million. This is mainly
due to legal disputes against Allane SE from revocation
actions for leasing contracts with regard to the second
instance. In this context, the further course of some of
the open cases depends on the timing of outstanding
rulings by the Federal Supreme Court and / or the Euro-
pean Court of Justice on individual cases of Allane SE.
For these open cases, Allane SE is subject to an other
financial obligation in the amount of EUR 1.9 million,
which was not recognised in the provisions. At present,
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the Allane Mobility Group considers it unlikely that it will
be called upon in this regard.

Trade payables rose by EUR 17.9 million or 37.3% to EUR
65.7 million (2020: EUR 47.8 million).

6. Financial position

6.1 Financial management and financial
instruments

The financial management of the Allane Mobility Group
is centralised within the finance department on the ba-
sis of internal guidelines and risk policies as well as a
monthly Group finance planning. The key tasks over-
seen include safeguarding liquidity, cost-oriented long-
term coverage of financing requirements of the consoli-
dated companies, managing interest rate and credit
risks as well as maturity-matching refinancing. Opera-
tive liquidity control and cash management are effected
centrally by the Group's Finance department for all con-
solidated companies.

The financing instruments mainly consist of an asset
backed securities (ABS) programme, a bond, loans from
Santander Consumer Bank AG as well as bilateral credit
lines with other banks. The sale-and-lease-back trans-
actions (purchase loans) that still existed in previous
years have expired as of 31 December 2021.

As at the end of 2021 the Allane Mobility Group was pri-
marily financed by the following instruments:

= Bond with a nominal value of EUR 250 million matur-
ing in 2022, coupon of 1.5% p.a. (the bond was al-
ready repaid early on 2 February 2022 and refinanced
by loans from Santander Consumer Bank AG),

m Current and non-current drawings from the ABS pro-
gramme with variable market interest rates, maturing
up to 2027 as well as

m Current and non-current drawings from bank loans
with variable market interest rates, in particular from
Santander Consumer Bank AG. Of these committed
bank credit lines, EUR 558.7 million have not been
drawn down as of 31 December 2021.
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6.2 Liquidity position

Consolidated cash flow statement
(condensed)

2021 2020
Gross Cash flow 138.7 198.5
Cash inflow from operating activities 157.9 41.1
Cash outflow from investing activities (16.1) (11.2)
Cash outflow from financing activities (142.2) (30.6)
Cash-effective change in cash and
cash equivalents (0.4) (0.8)

For 2021, the Allane Mobility Group reports a gross cash
flow of EUR 138.7 million, which is EUR 59.8 million less
than the figure for the preceding year (2020: EUR 198.5
million). Adjusted for changes in lease assets and net
working capital, this results in net cash flows from oper-
ating activities of EUR 157.9 million (2020: cash inflow
of EUR 41.1 million). The change is essentially due to
higher income from disposals of lease assets and sig-
nificantly lower expenses for investments in lease as-
sets.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to EUR
16.1 million (2020: cash outflow of EUR 11.2 million), es-
sentially due to the investments made in intangible as-
sets.

Financing activities resulted in a cash outflow of EUR
142.2 million (2020: cash outflow of EUR 30.6 million).
Payments received of EUR 35.4 million were offset by
dividend payments as well as, in particular, the repay-
ment of financial liabilities in the total amount of EUR
177.2 million.

After changes relating to exchange rates, total cash
flows as of 31 December 2021 resulted in a reduction in
cash and cash equivalents, down by EUR 0.4 million
(2020: decrease of EUR 0.8 million). Cash and cash
equivalents of EUR -0.4 million correspond to the item
‘bank balances’ in the amount of EUR 1.7 million in the
balance sheet, netted with negative overdraft facilities
reported under current financial liabilities in the amount
of EUR 2.1 million.

6.3 Investments
In 2021, the Allane Mobility Group added vehicles with a

total value of EUR 315.8 million (2020: EUR 430.3 mil-
lion; -26.6%) to the leasing fleet. This is mainly due to
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the above-mentioned recovery of the overall economic
situation, which fell short of expectations, as well as the
worsening COVID-19 situation, which continues to have
a significant impact on mobility behaviour due to the
government measures introduced. Investments were
also negatively affected by delivery bottlenecks for new
vehicles.

7. Segment reports

7.1 Leasing segment

7.1.1 Industry development

During the first half of 2021, the European leasing in-
dustry recovered after a decline of 14.2% in the full year
2020. According to the industry association
Leaseurope, the new business volume for leasing com-
panies increased by 32.1% to EUR 152.9 billion com-
pared to the same period in the previous year. At the
same time, new business in vehicle and equipment
leasing increased by 39.4% and 24.7% respectively.

The German leasing market, the second biggest in Eu-
rope after the UK, also recovered slightly after the se-
vere decline in 2020 caused by the pandemic.
According to the Federal Association of German Leas-
ing Companies (BDL; Bundesverband Deutscher Leas-
ing-Unternehmen), the industry recorded growth in
acquisition values of 2% (incl. leasing and hire pur-
chase). The leasing segment (excluding hire purchase)
increased by 0.6%.

7.1.2 Business development

The Leasing business unit comprises the business
fields of Fleet Leasing (corporate customer leasing) as
well as Online Retail (private and commercial leasing
customers).

In the 2021 financial year, the business unit generated
total revenue of EUR 625.1 million, a decrease of 2.7%
(2020: EUR 642.1 million). The segment's operating rev-
enue (excluding sales revenues) fell by 10.8% to EUR
332.8 million (2020: EUR 373.2 million). At the same
time, leasing revenue (finance rate) decreased by 7.9%
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to EUR 199.4 million (2020: EUR 216.5 million). Other
revenue from the leasing business, comprising mainly
revenues from services, decreased by 14.9% to EUR
133.4 million (2020: EUR 156.8 million). Revenue from
the sale of vehicles increased by 8.7% to EUR 292.3 mil-
lion (2020: EUR 268.9 million).

The segment's contract portfolio as of 31 December
2021 totalled 69,800 contracts, a decrease of 8.6%
compared to the figure recorded on the same date the
year before (2020: 76,400 contracts).

In the Fleet Leasing business field, the number of con-
tracts deceased by 11.9% to 33,300 contracts (2020:
37,800 contracts). The decline is mainly due to the be-
low-expected recovery of the macroeconomic situation
and the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In the Online Retail business field, the contract portfolio
decreased by 5.7% to 36,500 (2020: 38,600 contracts).
Again, this was mainly due to the lower than expected
recovery of the overall economic situation and the eco-
nomic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The main expense item is fleet expenses and cost of
lease assets in the amount of EUR 369.1 million (2020:
EUR 380.7 million).

The business unit's earnings before interest, taxes, de-
preciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell in the report-
ing year, in line with the lower contract portfolio and the
decline in usage-related revenues, by 12.0% to EUR
183.4 million (2020: EUR 208.3 million). Earnings before
taxes (EBT) went down 8.1% to EUR 5.7 million (2020:
EUR 6.2 million). The segment's operating return on rev-
enue (EBT/operating segment revenue) thus amounted
to 1.7% (2020: 1.7%).
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Key figures
Leasing business unit
Change

2021 2020 in %
Leasing revenue (finance rate) 199.4 216.5 (7.9)
Other revenue from leasing
business 133.4 156.8 (14.9)
Sales revenue 292.3 268.9 8.7
Total revenue 625.1 642.1 (2.7)
Earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) 183.4 208.3 (12.0)
Earnings before interest and
taxes (EBIT) 12.4 171 (27.5)
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 5.7 6.2 (8.1)
Operating return on revenue
(%) 1.7 1.7 0.0 points

Marketing and sales activities: During the period under
review, Allane carried out several marketing and sales
campaigns in the Online Retail business field. These in-
cluded, in particular, the sales cooperation with Vehicu-
lum and Lidl in March 2021, in which the Kia Stonic and
various other vehicles were marketed to private cus-
tomers at special conditions. The contracts were con-
cluded with Allane.

In addition, during the reporting year Allane again ran
the ‘HotCars’ and ‘Black Leasing Friday’ special promo-
tions via sixt-neuwagen.de to offer private and com-
mercial customers a limited contingent of selected new
car models at discounted prices. Customers also re-
ceived special discounts on the entire offer as part of
the ‘Sparathon’ promotion.

Digitalisation of sales: In the reporting year, Allane in-
troduced a completely digital ordering process on sixt-
neuwagen.de. The process enables private customers
to order leasing vehicles online. The identity check and
signing of the contract is carried out with the help of
the partner IDnow. In addition, the website was revised
in particular with regard to user-friendliness, clarity and
mobile applicability.

Personnel changes: In July of the reporting year, Mr.
Patrick Kischkel took over the management of auto-
haus24 GmbH. His predecessor Mr. Josef Finauer left
the Company. Mr. Patrick Kischkel is responsible for the
online business at autohaus24.de. He also shares the
management with Mr. Werner Konig, who has been re-
sponsible for the offline business with the used car
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locations in Berlin, Munich and Frankfurt since October
2020. A common focus of the managing directors is on
expanding the product portfolio.

Promotion of customer satisfaction: At regular intervals,
private and commercial customers are asked about
their satisfaction with the Company's offers and service
at various touchpoints, from configuration means on
the website to the return of the vehicle. At the end of
2021, this resulted in a Customer Satisfaction Score
(CSS) of around 3.8 (previous year: 3.7), with a maxi-
mum value of 5.0.

The websites sixt-neuwagen.de and autohaus24.de
were awarded the consumer award ‘Germany's Best
Online Portals 2027 in the category ‘New Car Portals’
by the news channel n-tv and the German Institute for
Service Quality (DISQ) in the reporting year. sixt-neu-
wagen.de is thus among the winners for the fifth time in
a row and autohaus24.de for the third time in a row. For
this year's consumer award, around 45,000 customer
opinions were collected and over 640 providers were
evaluated. In addition, autohaus24.de received a ‘high
customer recommendation’ as part of a study by the
BILD newspaper and the rating agency ServiceValue.
For this purpose, more than 900,000 consumers were
surveyed and a total of 2,340 companies and providers
from 204 industries were considered.

Digitalisation of fleet leasing: In January 2021, the Sixt
Leasing app, which was fundamentally revised and re-
launched in December 2020, received its first software
update. Further updates followed during the course of
the year. Several new functions were added in the pro-
cess. The application offers company car drivers the
opportunity to manage their leasing contract via
smartphone and to use many useful functions. These
include, for example, workshop searches, appointment
bookings, damage reports or contacting the Assis-
tance. The app will continue to be developed in the fu-
ture.

In February 2021, Allane also optimised vehicle hando-
ver and collection at its locations in Frankfurt, Berlin
and Munich. Since then, all logistics processes have
been digitally recorded in the already launched SML
software solution (Service Module Logistics): from the
delivery of the new leased vehicle by truck and the
handover to the corporate or private customer to the
return and collection by the freight forwarder.
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In addition, in June 2021, Allane completely redevel-
oped its digital analysis tool ‘FleetIntelligence’ and
launched it for fleet customers and managers as well as
for internal analyses. The new application is based on
(cloud) technology and thus enables fleet managers to
analyse their fleet in terms of parameters such as in-
ventory, costs, sustainability and damage. In this way,
‘Fleetintelligence’ enables fleet managers to identify
optimisation potential at an early stage and to initiate
appropriate measures.

Expansion of business with smaller corporate custom-
ers: Smaller corporate customers with 20 to 100 vehi-
cles generally offer Allane a higher margin potential per
contract than larger fleet customers. In addition, the
competitive situation is less intense than in the key ac-
count business. In the year under review, Allane there-
fore expanded its activities in this customer segment in
line with its strategy and thus further diversified its
customer portfolio.

Promotion of customer satisfaction: Allane customers
are regularly interviewed on their satisfaction. To this
end, the Company deploys a special CSI tool (Customer
Satisfaction Index). With the help of this tool, the users
of leasing vehicles as well as the fleet managers can
provide detailed feedback on service quality. Allane
uses these data to continually optimise the service
range to satisfy customer wishes and requirements. In
2021, the CSlI tool once more indicated a high degree of
customer satisfaction. 83% indicated that they planned
to continue using Allane's solutions in future (2020:
94%).

7.2 Fleet Management segment

7.2.1 Industry development

According to Allane, the general demand for fleet man-
agement services remains high. This also applies to the
willingness of companies to outsource the management
of their vehicle fleets to external specialists. The deci-
sive factors include cost and planning security, individ-
ually tailored solutions and specialised know-how. In
addition, by outsourcing, companies aim to conserve
their personnel resources and to use their own capaci-
ties more for their core business.

According to Dataforce, around 786,000 new passen-

ger cars were registered in the relevant fleet market
(new commercial registrations excluding vehicle
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construction, trade and car rental companies) in 2021,
4.4% less than in 2020 (822,000 passenger cars). The
share of the total market of passenger car registrations
rose to a record figure of 30%. For 2022, Dataforce ex-
pects passenger car registrations in the relevant fleet
market to increase by 5%. In this context, manufactur-
ers are likely to start working off the ‘immense order
backlog” in the second half of the year as global supply
chains pick up again.

While interest in fleet management is growing, custom-
ers' expectations are also increasing. According to Al-
lane, fleet management is becoming increasingly
complex. This means that fleet managers have to de-
velop tailor-made mobility solutions and combine inte-
grated fleet management with individual advice. In the
course of digitisation, it is also necessary to develop in-
terfaces for the increasing exchange of data.

7.2.2 Business development

Within the Allane Mobility Group, the Fleet Management
business unit is operated by Sixt Mobility Consulting
GmbH and other direct and indirect subsidiaries of Al-
lane SE.

In the year under review, total revenue of the business
unit amounted to EUR 115.3 million, an increase of 9.2%
on the previous year figure of EUR 105.6 million. The
segment's operating revenue (excluding sales reve-
nues) increased by 6.4% to EUR 53.2 million (2020: EUR
50.0 million). Revenue from the sales of customer vehi-
cles increased in 2021 by 11.8% to EUR 62.1 million
(2020: EUR 55.6 million). The marketing of vehicles as
an additional service is eliciting differing responses
from customers, depending on their needs. Conse-
quently, the development of revenue from sales is more
volatile in the Fleet Management business unit than in
the Leasing business unit.

The segment's contract portfolio as of 31 December
2021 totalled 59,000 contracts and was thus 10.3%
higher than the corresponding figure on the same date
the year before (2020: 53,500 contracts).
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The main expense item is fleet expenses and cost of
lease assets in the amount of EUR 104.1 million (2020:
EUR 93.1 million).

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation (EBITDA) for the reporting year decreased by
79.1% to EUR 0.7 million (2020: EUR 3.1 million). Earn-
ings before taxes (EBT) fell by 84.6% to EUR 0.5 million
(2020: EUR 2.9 million). The development of earnings in
the 2021 financial year was particularly affected by
consulting expenses in connection with the application
for a permit to provide payment services under the Ger-
man Payment Services Supervision Act
Zahlungsdiensteaufsichtsgesetz - ZAG), which affects
Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, as well as increased
expenses for software products. Consequently, the
segment's operating return on revenue (EBT/operating
segment revenue) came to 0.8% compared to 5.8% the
year before.

Key figures
Fleet Management business
unit
Change

2021 2020 in%
Fleet management revenue 53.2 50.0 6.4
Sales revenue 62.1 55.6 11.8
Total revenue 115.3 105.6 9.2
Earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) 0.7 3.1 (79.1)
Earnings before interest and
taxes (EBIT) 0.6 3.1 (80.6)
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 0.5 2.9 (84.6)
Operating return on revenue
(%) 0.9 5.8 (4.9 points)

Digitalisation of fleet management: In July 2021, Allane
Mobility Consulting GmbH expanded its smartphone
app ‘The Companion’ with the electronic driving licence
check ‘DriversCheck’. The application fulfils all legal re-
quirements for driving licence checks and enables the
company car drivers of fleet customers to check their
driving licence independently and in real time. Drivers
and fleet managers are automatically notified by ‘Driv-
ersCheck’ when a check is due. And all other control
processes are also automatically recorded in the back-
ground. Fleet managers can view the data via a portal
and create reports.

Change of company name and personnel changes: In
July 2021, Sixt Mobility Consulting GmbH was renamed
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Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH. The two Managing
Directors Mr. Michael Poglitsch and Mr. Christian Brau-
miller left the Company during the reporting year. From
June 2021 until her departure at the end of December
2021, Mrs Silke Kuhnlein took over the management of
the Company.
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With effect from 1 January 2022, Mr. Omer Kéksal was
appointed Managing Director and Spokesperson of the
General Management. The General Management is to
be filled by a second person.
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B.3 - Human Resources Report

1. Strategic human resources work

Allane Mobility Group attaches great importance to all
its employees focusing strongly on providing services
with a clear service mentality. This applies to the devel-
opment of customised and demand-oriented product
solutions as well as competent, comprehensive, com-
mitted and customer-friendly service. For this reason,
Allane attaches strategic importance to its human re-
sources work. The holistic approach covers the exten-
sive recruitment process, apprenticeships and further
training as well as the employees' professional and per-
sonal development.

When searching and selecting employees Allane puts
great stress on making sure the candidates are a match
for the Company and its culture. By the same token, the
Company must also suit the future member of staff.
This is of special significance when searching for and
above all during the interview with the candidate. The
same approach applies already to those new to the pro-
fession. Whenever a new member of staff begins to
work for Allane, a very individually prepared onboarding
process gets started. It includes both the professional
as well as the personal introduction to the respective
work department and the entire Company.

During the employment term, the Company engages in
a pro-active feedback culture and makes sure superiors
and employees meet for regular appraisal interviews
that go in both directions. Feedback tools such as the
regularly employee satisfaction surveys as well as sup-
porting 360-degree feedback (manager assessments,
which compare employee self-assessments with those
of superiors, colleagues and employees) serve both the
employees and Allane as indicators and bases for future
development and promotion programmes tailored to the
respective employee. Further to these, all employees
have access to a portal integrated to the internet where
they can choose from a variety of seminars for further
training, which can then be selected in agreement with
the executive superior and attended.

Thus, a continuous personnel development geared to
the individual requirements and needs of the employ-
ees shall be achieved. Human resources work aims to
enable employees to act autonomously and responsi-
bly, seeking to continually improve Allane’s products
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and services and not only meet the changing (mobility)
needs of their customers but also support them ac-
tively.

Talent promotion, employee development and leader-
ship training of Allane are integrated into the central
human resources management of the Allane Mobility
Group.

Traineeship

Allane offers graduates a General Management trainee
programme, running for 18 months. During this time,
trainees pass through various core business areas. Fur-
thermore, they have the opportunity to gather working
experience in foreign subsidiaries. Trainees who per-
form well get offered a take-over contract into a perma-
nent employment within the Allane Mobility Group at
the end of their training. No new trainees started in
2021.

Promotional programmes

Allane offers its employees many different national and
international career paths. In addition, employees can
use a variety of options for their professional and per-
sonal development. Key elements in the executive de-
velopment are the promotion programmes entitled
‘Team Leader' and 'Supervisor'. They serve, among
other things, to identify colleagues with particular de-
velopment potential, offer them structured promotion
and thus train future top performers and executives.

2. Number of employees

2021 2020
Leasing 630 606
Fleet Management 85 87
Total 715 693

The Allane Mobility Group employed 715 people on av-
erage in 2021, an increase of around 4% over the previ-
ous year (2020: 693 employees).
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3. Key features of the remuneration
system

3.1 General remuneration policy of the Allane
Mobility Group

The Managing Board of Allane SE is responsible for the
appropriate structure of the employees' remuneration
systems and informs the Supervisory Board of Allane
SE regularly on the actual structure of the remuneration
systems, taking due account of the requirements of the
Remuneration Regulation for Institutions (InstitutsVergV
- Institutsvergtitungsverordnung). Arranging the remu-
neration system for the Managing Board of Allane SE, in
turn comes under the responsibility of the Supervisory
Board of Allane SE. The control units (especially internal
audit, compliance, human resources and risk manage-
ment) are integrated into the arrangement and monitor-
ing of the remuneration systems in accordance with the
stipulations of the InstitutsVergV.

The remuneration policy is a key component of the cor-
porate policy of the Allane Mobility Group. Its primary
purpose is to be able to attract new employees to the
Company, as well as to motivate the existing workforce
by means of suitable incentives and to bind them to the
Group in the long term. Furthermore, compliance with
all legal requirements is an important part of the remu-
neration policy. The following general conditions apply
for our remuneration policy:

m |t is derived from the business and risk strategy.

m It is transparent and comprehensible for executives
and employees.

m [t includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest.

m It supports the future economic development and
performance of the Allane Mobility Group.

3.2 Remuneration system of employees

The Allane Mobility Group is not bound to any collective
wage bargaining agreements.

The components of the remuneration system outlined

in the following do not essentially differ between the
different business units and are therefore presented as
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a whole. In case of deviations in individual cases, these
will be explicitly referenced.

For the employees, the total remuneration consists of a
non-performance-related basic remuneration, a varia-
ble salary component (bonus or commission) and so-
called benefits (fringe benefits), whereby not all em-
ployees receive a variable salary component.

Non-performance-related basic remuneration
All employees receive a fixed annual salary to be paid
out in 12 equal instalments monthly after each month
(basic remuneration). Key parameters determining the
remuneration unrelated to performance are the function
as well as the scope of assignments and responsibilities
held and the associated decision-making powers.

Variable salary component

Besides their basic remuneration, a part of the employ-
ees receives a variable remuneration pro-rated for the
year and contingent on the Company's success and/or
their personal target attainments. The variable remu-
neration component depends on the functional role, the
hierarchical as well as the personal target attainment
level. The ratio between the basic and the variable re-
muneration component can vary anywhere between
around 60:40 through to around 95:5 (in each case as-
suming a 100% target attainment). The personal targets
are deduced over the various functional levels from the
overall corporate objectives. Consequently, any per-
sonal target attainment takes due consideration of the
target attainment of the individual employee's organisa-
tional unit. Usually in September, employees receive a
down-payment on the expected variable salary pay-
ment, as far as variable salary payment for the current
financial year is expected. The final payment will be
made with the salary payment after the close of the fi-
nancial year but no later than three months after the
end of the financial year.

In derogation of the foregoing, the variable remunera-
tion (commission) in sales is calculated monthly (Online
Retail business field) or quarterly (corporate customer
business) and paid in arrears. In Online Retail, the ratio
of the basic remuneration to variable remuneration can
go up to 1:2, depending on the personal degree of tar-
get achievement. This group of employees achieves its
sales performance within a very narrow framework.
This group does not decide independently if a contract
is concluded, but such approval is given or denied by
Operational Credit Management within the framework
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of the competence regulations. This ensures that the
actions of the sales team are in line with the business
and risk strategy.

Benefits

Besides their basic and variable remuneration, employ-
ees of Allane Mobility Group can receive the following
fringe benefits:

m Capital-forming benefits (German "Vermogenswirk-
same Leistungen"),

m Company pension scheme, offered through a Partner,
m Company car and fuel card, depending on function,

m Mobile phone and

m Employee leasing.

As determined by the Managing Board of Sixt SE, the
wholly-owned parent company until the IPO in May
2015, selected employees had the opportunity to par-
ticipate in an employee stock ownership programme
(Matching Stock Programme) until the IPO. For the last
existing tranche for Allane SE employees with exercise
in 2021, no distribution was made in the 2021 financial
year, as the exercise conditions were not met.

The structure of remuneration and of the remuneration
systems is based on the requirements of section 5 of
the InstitutsVergV. Above all, the combination of the ex-
isting strategies, the business model, the organisational
set-up and competence rules with the existing remu-
neration structure do not provide incentives to take on
disproportionately high risks and do not conflict with
the monitoring function of the control units. In addition,
there is no significant dependence on a variable remu-
neration. Entitlements established in individual con-
tracts to benefits in the event of termination of
activities are not created in an amount which remains
unchanged despite any negative individual perfor-
mance contributions. The structure of the remuneration
runs not counter to the control function of the control
units. Special attention was given to ensure that the
structure of the variable remuneration systems for the
employees in the control units are not concurrent with
the departments controlled and the organisational units
monitored by them so that there is no threat of a con-
flict of interest.
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Moreover, the requirements of section 10 of the Insti-
tutsVergV are also recognised. In addition, the empha-
sis of the remuneration structure regarding the control
units’ staff is on their fixed remuneration (section 9 (2)
of the InstitutsVergV).
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3.3 Remuneration system of the Managing
Board

The Supervisory Board has determined the remunera-

tion for 2020 and 2021 on an individual basis as fol-
lows™

Remuneration

Michael Ruhl Bjorn Waldow
2021 actual 2020 actual 2021 actual 2020 actual
Basic remuneration 200,000 400,000 314,589 400,000
Taxable pecuniary benefits and other fringe benefits 6,812 20,811 14,589 20,884
Total fixed remuneration 206,812 420,811 329,178 420,884
Multi-year variable remuneration 1 200,000 848,460 66,667 498,460
Total remuneration 406,812 1,269,271 395,845 919,344
Remuneration
Donglim Shin Alvaro Hernandez
2021 actual 2021 actual
Basic remuneration 290,971 100,000
Taxable pecuniary benefits and other fringe benefits 79,428 34,530
Total fixed remuneration 370,399 134,530
Multi-year variable remuneration 1 94,570 37,600
Total remuneration 464,969 172,130

The remuneration system for the Managing Board of Al-
lane SE is determined by the Supervisory Board. The le-
gal requirements as well as the recommendations and
suggestions of the German Corporate Governance
Code are duly taken into account and essentially fol-
lowed. The structure of the remuneration system is reg-
ularly reviewed to test its appropriateness. This is
intended to ensure that remuneration is commensurate
with the tasks and performance of the Managing Board.

The total remuneration of the Managing Board consists
of a fixed basic remuneration and a variable salary com-
ponent (bonus), which is determined and set by the Su-
pervisory Board for each financial year on the basis of
individual objectives and the Company rating (MBODs).
The bonus payment is subject to the Company’s current
remuneration principles.

In particular, under certain circumstances, 70% of the

variable remuneration must be deferred over a retention
period of up to four years.
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In addition, the members of the Managing Board, as
well as other senior executives of the Allane Mobility
Group, receive non-cash benefits such as company
cars, fuel cards, mobile phones and accident insurance
contributions. Furthermore, a D&O insurance policy has
been taken out for individual members of the Managing
Board. There are no pension commitments for the mem-
bers of the Managing Board.

3.4 Remuneration system of the Supervisory
Board

The remuneration paid to members of the Supervisory
Board is governed by the Articles of Association of Al-
lane SE. These provide solely for a non-performance-
related component and therefore do not specify any
variable performance-based components. In accord-
ance with the Articles of Association, the members of
the Supervisory Board are entitled to a fixed remunera-
tion of EUR 40,000 in each financial year. The Chairman
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is entitled to EUR 50,000. If a member and/or the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board holds office for less than
a full financial year, the above remuneration is paid pro
rata for the actual time the individual is a member of the
Supervisory Board or holds the office of Chairman. The
remuneration is payable after the end of each financial
year. In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board
are reimbursed for their expenses and the value added
tax payable on their remuneration and expenses. D&O
insurance policies have also been taken out for mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board. There are no pension
obligations towards members of the Supervisory Board.
In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board of
the Company who are related to the current majority
shareholder have waived their claims to remuneration.

3.5 Adjustments to the remuneration of the
managing board during the year

As a result of the acquisition of the majority of shares
and voting rights in Allane SE by Hyundai Capital Bank
Europe GmbH, the Company has to observe special
banking supervisory regulations. Due to the fact that
the provisions of the InstitutsVergV for major institu-
tions now apply to Allane SE, there is a need to adjust
the regulations on variable remuneration. For members
of the Managing Board, the stricter regulations already
apply retroactively from 1 January 2020.

As so-called risk takers pursuant to section 18 Insti-
tutsVergV, sections 19 to 22 InstitutsVergV in particular
apply to variable remuneration. This means in particular
that under certain circumstances 40% of the variable
remuneration must be spread over a retention period of
up to five years.

At the moment, the so-called deferral instrument for
stretching the bonus payments of risk takers over sev-
eral years is still being processed and is expected to be
finalised in the course of the second quarter of 2022.
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B.4 - Disclosures in accordance with sections
289a and 315a of the HGB

Composition of subscribed capital,
share categories

As of 31 December 2021, the share capital of Allane SE
amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00 in total and was com-
posed of 20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The Com-
pany's shares are no-par value shares with a notional
interest in the share capital of EUR 1.00 per share. All
shares have been fully paid up. The shareholders' rights
and obligations are governed by the provisions of the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG), in
particular by sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and
186 of the AktG.

Restrictions on voting rights or the
transfer of shares

Each ordinary share entitles its holder to one vote at the
Annual General Meeting and determines the sharehold-
er's portion in the Company's profit. Exempted are any
treasury shares held by the Company, which do not
confer any rights onto the Company. In cases of section
136 of the AktG, the voting right for the concerned
shares is excluded by law.

The Company's Articles of Association do not impose
any restrictions on the voting rights. Equally, they do
not impose any restrictions on the transfer of shares.
The Managing Board is not aware of any agreements
between shareholders aimed at restricting voting rights
or the transfer of shares.

Shareholdings in Allane SE

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH, with its registered
office in Frankfurt am Main, Federal Republic of Ger-
many, continues to hold 18,976,123 ordinary voting
shares in the share capital of the Company pursuant to
the latest voting rights announcement published in con-
nection with the acquisition as of 16 July 2020, ac-
counting for 92.07% of the voting rights. The Company
has not received any information about, and the Man-
aging Board is not aware of, any further direct or indi-
rect interests in the share capital exceeding 10% of the
voting rights as at 31 December 2021.

Shares with special rights

As of 31 December 2021, there are no shares conveying
special control rights.
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Employee participation and their
control rights

The Company is not aware of any employees holding
shares in the Company's capital where the employees'
control rights are not exercised directly.

Appointment and dismissal of
Managing Board members,
amendments to the Articles of
Association

Allane SE has a two-tier management and monitoring
system, made up of a management body (Managing
Board) and a supervisory body (Supervisory Board).
The legal stipulations and conditions of the Articles of
Association governing the appointment and dismissal
of Managing Board members are defined in article 39
(2), sent. 1 of the SE Regulation (SE-VO), article 46 SE-
VO, section 16 of the SE Implementation Act (SEAG), ar-
ticle 9 (1) lit. c ii of the SE-VO, sections 84, 85 AktG and
section 7 of the Articles of Association.

In accordance with these, the Managing Board com-
prises one or more members. The Supervisory Board
determines the number of Managing Board members,
as it appoints a chairperson or speaker as well as a
deputy chairperson or deputy speaker for the Managing
Board. Furthermore, the statutory provisions of section
84 and section 85 of the AktG apply for the appoint-
ment and dismissal of Managing Board members.

Amendments to the Articles of Association of Allane SE
are resolved by the Annual General Meeting. In accord-
ance with article 16 of the Articles of Association,
amendments to the Articles of Association that only
concern the formal wording may also be resolved by
the Supervisory Board. Mandatory statutory provisions
require resolutions to amend the Articles of Association
to be adopted by a majority of three-quarters of the
share capital represented at the adoption of the resolu-
tion (article 59 (1) SE-VO, section 179 (2) sent. 1 of the
AktG).

However, the law also provides for the possibility that
the Articles of Association allow for a smaller majority
providing that at least half of the subscribed capital is
presented. This possibility does not apply though to a
change of the Company’s purpose, relocation of the
Company’s seat into another member state of the
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European Union, or for cases where a higher majority of
capital is mandatory under statutory provisions (article
59 (2) SE-VO, section 51 SEAG).

Allane SE has made use of the option of specifying dif-
ferent majority requirements by means of a provision in
the Articles of Association that is common among listed
companies. According to section 20 (2) of the Articles
of Association, decisions of the Annual General Meeting
can be adopted by a simple majority of votes cast, inso-
far as this does not conflict with any mandatory statu-
tory provisions or the Articles of Association. According
to section 20 (3) of the Articles of Association, amend-
ments to the Articles of Association can be adopted by
a simple majority of the submitted valid votes if at least
half of the voting share capital is represented and inso-
far as this does not conflict with any mandatory statu-
tory provisions.

Powers of the Managing Board with
regard to the issue and buyback of
shares

Conditional capital

In accordance with section 4 (4) of the Articles of As-
sociation, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting
of 1 June 2016, the Company's share capital is condi-
tionally increased by up to a total of EUR 4,122,318.00
(Conditional Capital 2016). The Conditional Capital
2016 serves the purpose of granting shares to the hold-
ers and/or creditors of convertible bonds as well as the
holders of option rights from option bonds. Further de-
tails follow from the aforementioned article of the Arti-
cles of Association.

In addition, the Company's share capital has been con-
ditionally increased by a total of up to EUR 1,000,000.00
(Conditional Capital 2017) in accordance with section 4
(5) of the Articles of Association by resolution of the
Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2017. Conditional
Capital 2017 is used to service the stock option pro-
gramme 2017 and will only be effected to the extent
that subscription rights are issued under the stock op-
tion programme 2017 and the holders of the subscrip-
tion rights make use of their exercise rights. Further
details follow from the aforementioned article of the Ar-
ticles of Association.
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Authorisation to issue convertible bonds
and/or bonds with warrants

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 1 June
2016, the Managing Board was authorised, with the
consent of the Supervisory Board, to issue bearer
and/or registered convertible bonds and/or bonds with
warrants on one or more occasions up to and including
31 May 2021 for a total amount of up to EUR
200,000,000.00 with a limited or unlimited term and to
grant the holders or creditors of bonds conversion or
option rights to subscribe to a total of up to 4,122,318
new no-par value bearer shares of Allane SE with a total
proportionate amount of the share capital to a total of
up to EUR 4,122,318.00 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds or bonds with
warrants. A corresponding issue and granting did not
take place in the 2021 financial year.

Significant agreements by the
Company that are subject to a change
of control as a result of a takeover
offer

Bonds

In case of a change of control event, including the case
of a takeover offer, the respective creditors of the bond
2018/2022 (ISIN: DEOOOA2LQKV?2) issued by Allane SE
in the amount of EUR 250.0 million are entitled to de-
mand the issuer repay them in full or in parts the bonds
held by them. According to the bonds' terms and condi-
tions, a ‘change of control event’ only occurs, if there is
a change of control and an existing rating is lowered
during the period the change of control occurs or no
rating agency has assigned an investment grade rating
during this period (120 days beginning from the an-
nouncement and occurrence, respectively, of the
change of control). Such a bondholder right constitutes
a creditor right commonly encountered on the capital
markets and in lending transactions. The bond was re-
paid early on 2 February 2022. The notice to the credi-
tors regarding the early repayment was published in the
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 30 December
2021.
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Agreements with Sixt SE and subsidiaries

As part of the agreement of 21 February 2020 regarding
the sale of Sixt SE's investment in the Company to
Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (‘HCBE’), the Com-
pany and Sixt SE concluded an agreement relating to
the continued usage of the existing trademark rights for
a period of five years from the date of the closing of the
transaction (the ‘Trademark Agreement’).

This Trademark Agreement may be terminated extraor-
dinarily by the licensor Sixt SE if the shareholding of
HCBE (or that of an affiliated company) falls below a
threshold equal to the shareholding of approximately
41.9% acquired from Sixt SE or if a third party acquires
a shareholding in Allane SE that is greater than the
shareholding of HCBE and affiliated companies. It can
also be terminated extraordinarily, if HCBE or its share-
holders directly or indirectly transfer shares in the
Company to competitors of Sixt SE, which are listed ex-
haustively in detail.

The Company and Sixt Autovermietung GmbH & Co. KG,

which is a 100% subsidiary of Sixt SE, have agreed on
such a corresponding special right of termination in the
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'IT Carve-Out Agreement' which was also concluded as
part of the sale of Sixt SE's investment in the Company
to HCBE.

Finally, the rental agreement concluded in the context
of the sale of Sixt SE's shareholding in the Company to
HCBE for the properties used by the Company at its
registered office, which are owned by a subsidiary of
Sixt SE, also provides for a corresponding special right
of termination.

Compensation agreements between
the Company and members of the
Managing Board or employees in the
case of a takeover offer

The Company has no agreements with members of the
Managing Board or employees that would entitle them
to compensation in the case of a takeover offer.
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B.5 — Report on Outlook

1. Economic environment

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) expects the
global economy to continue growing in 2022, albeit at a
slower pace. In its January 2022 outlook, the IMF ex-
pects global gross domestic product (GDP) to increase
by 4.4% (2021: 5.9%). It has thus reduced its estimate
by 0.5 percentage points compared to its forecast from
autumn 2021. This is due in particular to reintroduced
mobility restrictions following the spread of the Omi-
cron variant of the coronavirus, as well as rising energy
prices and supply bottlenecks, which have led to
higher-than-expected inflation. In addition, the outlook
is burdened by a tightening of monetary policy in the
USA, the problems in the Chinese real estate market
and a slower than expected recovery of private con-
sumption.

For the euro area, the IMF expects GDP growth of 3.9%
(2021: 5.2%). The autumn forecast has thus been cor-
rected downwards by 0.4 percentage points. The main
reasons for this are the pandemic-related mobility re-
strictions and supply bottlenecks. For Germany, the IMF
assumes economic growth of 3.8% (2021: 2.7%). The
autumn forecast had been 0.8 percentage points
higher.

The Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW) had ex-
pected the global economy to grow by 4.5% in 2022 ac-
cording to its projections published in December 2021,
thereby reducing its September 2021 forecast by 0.5
percentage points. The pandemic and supply bottle-
necks would continue to dampen the economy, but
would lose influence, according to the IfW. Although
new waves of infections are expected, the impact is
likely to become increasingly smaller due to high vac-
cination rates and a high proportion of recoveries. At
the same time, the IfW estimates for supply bottlenecks
to be gradually overcome in the wake of increased ad-
justments made to production capacities and value
chains.

For the euro area, the IfW projected economic growth in
its December 2021 outlook to come to 3.5% in 2022.
The institute thereby downscaled its September 2021
forecast by almost one percentage point. According to
the IfW, the recovery should pick up speed again in the
spring of 2022 after the setback in winter 2021. In the
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process, supply bottlenecks that significantly impaired
industrial activity in the winter should gradually dissi-
pate and enable strong value-added growth in the man-
ufacturing sector over the course of the year. Price
pressures from energy prices are expected to ease,
while the upward pressure on prices of industrial goods
could increase. The unemployment rate should con-
tinue to decline.

For Germany, the IfW forecasts GDP to grow by 4.0%.
Accordingly, its December 2021 forecast falls 1.1 per-
centage points below the outlook from September
2021. However, the IfW reckons that the economic re-
covery will be slowed down once again. As in previous
waves, the infection rate in winter is hampering particu-
larly activities in the contact-intensive service sectors.
Therefore, there will likely be a setback in private con-
sumer spending and probably also a slight decline in
GDP. If the burdens of the pandemic ease in the spring,
a strong recovery is likely to set in, similar to 2021, ac-
cording to the IfW. Economic activity should then de-
velop a particularly strong momentum as supply
bottlenecks, which are currently burdening industrial
production Beverly, are expected to ease.

Both the IMF and the IfW published their forecasts be-
fore the start of the war in Ukraine. Therefore, they do
not take into account the potential impact of the war on
the future economic development in the regions men-
tioned above.

2. Projected industry development

The German leasing industry expects new business ac-
tivities to grow in 2022. The Bundesverband Deutscher
Leasing-Unternehmen e.V. (BDL — German Association
of Leasing Companies) provisionally expects an in-
crease in acquisition values (including hire purchase) of
between 5 and 7%. The association justifies this as-
sessment above all strength of the forecasts by the
economic research institutes. The BDL identifies risks in
a longer-than-expected shortage of intermediate prod-
ucts, persistently high energy costs and an escalation
of the Ukraine war.
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The German Association of the Automotive Industry
(VDA - Verband der Automobilindustrie e.V.) expects
the global passenger car market to grow by 4% in 2022,
similar to the growth rate of 2021. This means that in
2022 the market would still be just under 13% below its
peak level of 2017. Car markets in the USA and China
are expected to grow by 2%. According to the VDA, Eu-
rope is currently much further away from pre-crisis lev-
els and is therefore projected to grow by 5% due to
catch-up effects among other things. For Germany, the
VDA expects a market growth of 7% up to 2.8 million
passenger cars. Domestic production is expected to in-
crease by 13% to 3.5 million units, which would corre-
spond to the production level of 2020. Foreign
production is expected to increase by 5% to 9.9 million
units.

The VDA forecasts presented above were published be-
fore the outbreak of the war in Ukraine and have not
been changed since. However, at the beginning of
March, shortly after the outbreak of the war, the VDA
announced that a reliable outlook was difficult due to
the 'very dynamic situation' and that there would be
‘further impairments' in vehicle production in Germany.
The VDA was not yet able to quantify the extent of this,
according to its own information.

It is the view of Allane that providers of fleet manage-
ment services will continue to register solid demand
even in strained economic conditions, as corporations
especially in this situation are relying on lowering their
internal efforts and fleets' total operating costs. By out-
sourcing the fleet management, they benefit from ser-
vice providers' expertise in the purchasing and re-
marketing of vehicles, as well as their maintenance and
repair networks, which will allow them to protect their
own human resources and focus on their own core
business.

3. Expected general development

The Allane Mobility Group intends to further expand its
position in online direct sales of new vehicles and as
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specialist in the management and full-service leasing of
corporate fleets.

The current strategy is to be continued. The focus will
continue to be on digitalisation, internationalisation as
well as contract and earnings growth. Allane’s goal is to
become the leading multi-brand provider of compre-
hensive mobility solutions in Europe.

In 2022, the Company plans to further set course for
future strong and profitable growth, above all in the
Online Retail and Fleet Management business fields.
The focal point will be especially on digitalising the
business model.

Furthermore, measures to improve processes and cost
optimisation will positively impact the productivity and
earnings performance of the Group. The aim is to make
internal processes even more efficient by driving for-
ward the digitisation and automation of business pro-
cesses. In addition, it is planned to optimise the cost
structure by making even better use of the synergies
between the business fields.

Further growth opportunities and synergy possibilities
could arise from the cooperation with the majority
owner of Allane SE, Hyundai Capital Bank Europe
GmbH.

3.1 Online Retail business field

The online retail market in Germany offers the Company
an attractive growth potential. Allane expects new car
sales to shift more and more towards online channels in
the near future. This is also shown by numerous studies
(see ‘Opportunities Report’ in this Annual Report).

The Allane Mobility Group has made it its goal to con-
quer the relatively new online leasing market for private
and commercial customers. Further market shares are
expected to be won above all by launching suitable
marketing activities as well as campaigns and coopera-
tions. To access further sales channels, the Company is
permanently reviewing the possibilities of acquisitions.

The Company is continually working to further develop
the product and service range of the business field to
address new customer groups and generate additional
growth. In particular, sales cooperations for the market-
ing of new cars as well as the introduction of leasing
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offers for used vehicles are to support the growth in
contracts. In addition, the focus is on extending the
range of services by severing the ties between leasing
contracts and service products.

Alongside the expansion of its product and service
range, Allane is attaching significant importance to fur-
ther developing its IT systems and optimising its cus-
tomer processes. The objective is the continuous
improvement of the customer experience by gearing
the websites as well as the order, delivery and return
processes much more to user-friendliness. All of this is
intended to have a positive impact on customer satis-
faction and thereby foster and promote the conclusion
of new and follow-up contracts.

In view of this growth perspectives and the ongoing
digitalisation, the Online Retail business field continues
to be seen as the Group's biggest growth and earnings
driver.

3.2 Fleet Leasing business field

In the Fleet Leasing business field, Allane is operating in
a competitive market, dominated in Germany by the
large vendor-neutral leasing companies. Consequently,
in its key account segment Allane is focusing in particu-
lar on strengthening long-standing customer relation-
ships and on convincing existing customers with
individual solutions and consistent high levels of ser-
vice quality.

Given the intense price competition in the segment with
large and medium-large corporate customers, Allane in-
tends to further expand the business with smaller cor-
porate customers (20 to 250 vehicles). This segment is
addressed and serviced by a local Business Account
Manager. Thereby, interesting margin potentials as well
as a further diversification of the corporate customer
portfolio shall be achieved.

Based on this, the Managing Board expects that share
of customers with smaller fleets will increase within the
business field's contract portfolio.

In addition, fleet customers shall be convinced by pro-
active contract monitoring as well as consulting on flex-
ible and optimal duration and mileage changes while
taking into concern the actual COVID-19 and purchase
situation.
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3.3 Fleet Management business unit

In the Fleet Management business unit, the Allane Mo-
bility Group will continue to exploit the trend among
larger corporations to outsource their fleet manage-
ment so as to win over new customers. To this end the
coming years will see the expansion of business in ex-
isting home markets, especially by using existing cus-
tomer relationships.

In addition, Allane will continue to focus on intelligent IT
solutions and continuously invest in the further devel-
opment of the digital infrastructure and the digitalisa-
tion of the business model. The aim is to further
improve the level of service for corporate customers
and the user experience for company car drivers
through digital solutions. The self-service app for com-
pany car drivers, ‘The Companion’, launched in the sec-
ond half of 2019 and continuously expanded, is to be
rolled out to more customers and users in the 2022 fi-
nancial year. More widespread use of the app could re-
duce staff time spent on user support and shift it to
other activities such as advisory services. The Com-
pany expects this to have a positive impact on produc-
tivity and customer satisfaction.

In the long term, the Fleet Management business unit is
to develop into a full-service provider of corporate mo-
bility. This is because the mobility needs of employees
have recently changed significantly, especially in large
cities. Although the company car will probably remain a
key component of corporate mobility, the demand from
employees for flexible and individual mobility offers that
integrate all means of transport is increasing. Allane is
therefore preparing to manage the entire range of cor-
porate mobility across all suppliers and providers in the
Fleet Management business unit: from classic company
cars to further mobility solutions within the B2B busi-
ness segment.

4. Financial outlook 2022

For the financial year 2022, the Managing Board ex-
pects a contract portfolio in a range between 130,000
and 150,000 contracts (2021: 128,845 contracts) and
consolidated operating revenue in a range between
EUR 350 million and EUR 400 million (2021: EUR 382.6
million). With regard to EBT, the Managing Board ex-
pects a higher single-digit million euro amount (2021:
EUR 6.1 million).
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The reasons for this forecast are, in addition to the op-
erating business development in the current financial
year to date, the ongoing COVID-19 situation, the new
car supply restrictions due to the semiconductor’s
shortage, and the potential impact the Ukraine war
might have on the automotive market as described in
the report on risks. In this context, the Company ex-
pects that the market and business environment for
new contracts and usage-based revenues will continue
to be negatively impacted by the aforementioned ele-
ments. However, for the second half of 2022, the com-
pany expects a recovery in the business development
of new contracts and usage-based sales due to a nor-
malisation of the Corona pandemic and an improved
supply of new cars after the summer, while the impact
of the Ukraine situation on European economies re-
mains uncertain. With regard to EBT for the first quarter
of 2022, the Managing Board expects the figure to be
higher than the corresponding figure for the previous
year (Q12021: EUR 1.0 million) due to the strong vehicle
recycling business. The recycling business is not ex-
pected to match the results achieved in previous
months during the rest of the year. In addition, the

allane

Group's overall result in the 2022 financial year will con-
tinue to be burdened by transaction-related costs in
connection with the takeover of the company by Hyun-
dai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE).

Overall statement on future development

Overall, the year 2022 is fraught with great uncertain-
ties. In particular, the further course of the COVID-19
pandemic, the supply bottlenecks in the automotive in-
dustry and the geopolitical developments in Ukraine are
to be mentioned here. In order to master these chal-
lenges, the Allane Mobility Group will continue to work
on increasing the efficiency and digitalizing the prod-
ucts and processes, as well as completing the IT carve-
out. Due to the solid asset, financial and earnings posi-
tion as well as the cooperation with Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH, a joint venture of Santander Con-
sumer Bank AG and Hyundai Capital Services Inc, the
Allane Mobility Group looks forward to the year 2022
with confidence.
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B.6 — Report on Risks and Opportunities

1. Risk situation

As a company operating across Europe, Allane Mobility
Group is exposed to a variety of risks which could have
a significant impact on the Group's business perfor-

mance, assets, financial situation and operating results.

1.1 General market risks (economic, social
and regulatory risks)

The Allane Mobility Group is primarily engaged in the
two business units Leasing and Fleet Management,
both of which are focused mainly on Germany.

Both segments are dependent to a large degree on
general economic conditions in Europe and especially in
Germany, because these influence particularly cus-
tomer readiness to invest and spend, and correspond-
ingly the demand for leasing and fleet management
services.

In periods of economic weakness, the demand for leas-
ing and fleet management services on the part of com-
panies and private households can decline as a result of
austerity measures. In addition, higher default risks
(e.g. sector-specific risks and counterparty default
risks) can be expected during these phases. A weaken-
ing of the overall economy can therefore have a nega-
tive impact on demand for leasing and fleet
management products and on their profitability.

Demand for classic leasing and fleet management ser-
vices could also be adversely affected by the emer-
gence of alternative mobility solutions that are offered
by established and new car manufacturers and market
players, by the increasing trend away from the combus-
tion engine as well as new mobility offerings.

The Allane Mobility Group regularly develops new prod-
uct ideas and business models in order to respond ap-
propriately to these rapidly changing market conditions
and customer requirements, and to maintain the
Group's claim for innovation leadership while acquiring
additional market share. Launching these new products
on the market and ensuring market penetration can
generate high initial costs. In spite of the corresponding
market analysis and planning, it cannot be guaranteed
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that the products will, in the form offered, meet with the
market acceptance and level of demand which are ex-
pected. This may have a negative impact on the profita-
bility of the Group.

In addition, the business development of the Allane Mo-
bility Group may be affected by unforeseeable external
factors such as natural and environmental disasters,
terrorist attacks or epidemics or pandemics. Such
events could have negative effects both directly on op-
erations and on general demand and supply. As a result
of these external events, there may be defaults by cus-
tomers in the inventory portfolio, by dealers/manufac-
turers on vehicle sales, especially via buy-back
agreements, and by service providers. As a result of the
ongoing pandemic, there are currently resource short-
falls in the new car business, primarily due to supply
shortages in semiconductor technology. Correspond-
ingly, prices in the used car segment are rising dispro-
portionately.

With the invasion of Russian troops into Ukraine on

24 February 2022, the Russian war against Ukraine has
become a new risk factor for Allane SE, the automotive
industry and the macroeconomic environment. As at
the end of March 2022, when this risk report was final-
ised, it was not possible to accurately assess the full
economic impact of the conflict. However, the war had
already caused a significant increase in fuel prices
among other things at that particular point in time.
These higher prices could lead to a decline in mobility
demand and therefore burden the Company's business
development in the 2022 financial year, especially in
the Online Retail business field. Moreover, the war
could further exacerbate supply shortages and there-
fore limit the availability of new cars. This could have a
further negative impact on the Online Retail and Fleet
Leasing business fields. The Company will closely ob-
serve the future development. In particular, the Manag-
ing Board has convened a bi-daily meeting of the key
areas (Sales, Remarketing, Purchasing, Risk, IT, Infor-
mation Security, Human Resources, Treasury). In this
meeting, current developments are discussed and pos-
sible effects on the business of the Allane Mobility
Group are analysed. The first significant measures were
to strengthen IT security requirements, to examine the
portfolio for potentially impaired industries and custom-
ers, and to analyse the current stress scenarios with re-
gard to possible effects due to the application of
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tightening assumptions. In addition, larger customers
and suppliers were contacted directly regarding possi-
ble impacts. Based on these initiated measures, there is
currently no further acute need for action. Clients po-
tentially directly affected by the crisis have been placed
on a watch list to monitor their payment behaviour more
closely. In the medium to long term, effects are ex-
pected due to rising energy prices and further supply
bottlenecks for the business. However, the extent of
these effects cannot be quantified at this time.

The business of the Allane Mobility Group is subject to
numerous laws and regulations, under which the Group
is active. There is a risk that Allane fails to meet all legal
and regulatory requirements or to react timely to
changes in the legal or regulatory environment. In addi-
tion to the existing requirements under the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the German Banking
Act (KWG) within the Group, Allane Mobility Consulting
GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Allane SE, submit-
ted an application for permission under the German
Payment Services Supervision Act
(Zahlungsdiensteaufsichtsgesetz; ZAG) in order to ob-
tain a licence to execute payment transactions. The Al-
lane Mobility Group has installed a project team which
ensures that the required licence specifications are met
on time. Fulfilment of the necessary requirements under
the licensing process is expected to be completed in
the first half of 2022.

1.2 Specific risks in the Leasing and Fleet
Management business units

In both business units, the focus of business activities
is on corporate customers. The development of the
business units is accordingly among others dependent
on corporate investment behaviour. This investment be-
haviour can - apart from general cyclical influences - be
affected by economic, accounting, regulatory, and fis-
cal conditions, in particular when it comes to commer-
cial vehicle leasing. Higher taxes on leasing
transactions and company cars or the possibility of ad-
verse changes in international accounting regulations
relating to contracts of lease can also reduce the at-
tractiveness of solutions based on leased fleets.

The leasing market in Germany continues to be domi-
nated by leasing companies tied to specific manufac-
turers or banks. They either enjoy good purchasing

conditions and remarketing opportunities due to their
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close connections with the manufacturers or good refi-
nancing conditions because of their affiliation with a
bank. For this reason, there is fierce competition on the
market for vehicle leasing in terms of price and condi-
tions, which could have a negative impact on margins.

In the Fleet Leasing business field, the Allane Mobility
Group focuses on full-service leasing which, in addition
to pure financial leasing, also provide a variety of addi-
tional services for corporate customers. Due to the
consistent orientation as a full-service leasing provider,
the Allane Mobility Group aspires to reduce its depend-
ency on pure finance leasing, which is under constant
price pressure. In addition, the continuous development
of new, mostly internet-based products provides an op-
portunity for the Group to differentiate itself from the
competition. Allane Mobility Groups’ Online Retail busi-
ness field offers attractive leasing solutions to private
and commercial customers, particularly on its websites
sixt-neuwagen.de and autohaus24.de. In addition, a
new business field, captive leasing, is currently being
established and will form the third pillar of Allane in the
future. It offers both, both private and commercial cus-
tomers vehicle models from the manufacturers Hyundai
and KIA at the point of sale via the dealer network. This
business segment is currently in the pilot phase and is
scheduled to be put into productive operation in the
middle of the 2022 financial year. In the Fleet Manage-
ment business unit, the Company benefits from its
many years of experience in the management of vehicle
fleets and from its position as a major fleet operator.

Alongside the fleet customer business, the Online Retail
with private and commercial customers is already im-
portant and is to be further expanded in the future as
well as the new Captive Leasing business field with pri-
vate and commercial customers. The related diversifi-
cation of the Group's customer portfolio shall contribute
to counteract risk concentrations which could arise,
among others, from the economic, accounting, regula-
tory and fiscal conditions for commercial vehicle leasing
in the fleet customer business.

Allane procures the vehicles it leases to corporate,
commercial and private customers from car manufac-
turers and dealers. Consequently, the Company is de-
pendent on the adequate supply of popular car models,
their purchase at competitive conditions as well as an
attractive and high-quality product range. The same
dependence exists in relation to third-party providers,
from whom the Company procures for example tyres,
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insurance and services such as repairs. To limit these
risks, Allane negotiates long-term framework contracts
and rebate agreements with these respective suppliers.

2. Internal control and risk
management organisation

2.1 Risk management system

The risk management system supports the manage-
ment of the Allane Mobility Group in implementing the
business and risk strategy and monitors all relevant
risks at home and abroad.

The risk assessment and control systems established
by Allane SE as well as the organisation of credit risk
management orientate themselves towards the mini-
mum requirements for risk management of banks and
financial services institutions (MaRisk) imposed by
BaFin (Bundesanstalt fur Finanzdienstleistung-
saufsicht).

During the reporting period, Allane SE considered the
measures required by MaRisk relating to the adequacy
of risk management as well as the measures required to
ensure the correctness of the business organisation,
taking into account the complexity and scale of the
risks assumed by the Company.

Allane SE only takes risks if they are calculable and
consistent with the principles enshrined in the policy
objectives and strategy of the Company or Group as
well as the previously defined risk appetite.

Based on the risk strategy determined by the manage-
ment, essential components of the risk management
system are the identification, systematic documenting
and analysis, assessment and prioritisation of risks, as
well as an analysis of the effects and impact of risks on
the Company. The risk management system has its
components embedded into the organizational struc-
ture which follows the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model
and intends a clear separation of duties between the
business and operating units, risk management, the
control and monitoring functions, as well as process-in-
dependent auditing. On this basis, measures to avoid,
reduce or transfer risks can be initiated.
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Risk management is based on the risk-taking capability
calculation, which is established quarterly as part of the
risk report and which lists all material risks of the Com-
pany. Taking into account any outsourced processes,
Allane SE has installed a risk management system for
the monitoring of all relevant risks incurred, which is
continuously developed further on the basis of the
Company's own business needs and in line with the re-
quirements of a stock listed company. Allane SE has es-
tablished internal policies and controls to comply with
the minimum requirements for risk management of
banks and financial services institutions (MaRisk) and is
constantly reviewing and developing these. The exist-
ing risk management systems within the departments
of controlling, accounting, compliance, risk controlling,
operative credit management, receivables manage-
ment, IT governance and internal audit orientate them-
selves towards the stipulations of the MaRisk.

The following function was partly outsourced as part of
outsourcing arrangements to Sixt GmbH & Co. Au-
tovermietung KG as of the end of the reporting period:

m |IT administration

In addition, two other IT services classified as material
were outsourced to various IT providers.

Allane SE has made adequate provisions for contingent
and exposure risks and other risks arising from its busi-
ness activities.

For the short-term receivables from leasing and full-
service payments as well as fleet management ser-
vices, a risk provision is created as of the reporting date
in the form of a value adjustment on the outstanding re-
ceivables. For this purpose, the customer receivables
are divided into risk classes and the value adjustment
rates are applied based on historical defaults. Future-
oriented assumptions play only a subordinate role in the
valuation due to the short-term nature of the receiva-
bles portfolio.

For risks from residual values of the leased assets, a
risk provision is made in the form of a value adjustment
on the leased assets as at the reporting date. The risk
provision is calculated from the difference between the
residual value from the initial lease calculation and the
residual values expected at the end of the lease on the
respective reporting date, which the Allane Mobility
Group receives from an external market provider. The
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residual value forecasts of the external market provider
are adjusted by historical additional revenues compared
to the residual values of the external market provider of
the Allane Mobility Group as well as marketing ex-
penses of the Allane Mobility Group.

The Allane Mobility Group recognises provisions for le-
gal disputes if a financial burden is more likely than not.
The expected judgement and settlement costs as well
as other legal costs are estimated on the basis of expe-
rience.

Depreciations and value adjustments in the financial
statements have been made at an appropriate level.

2.2 Internal control and risk management
system for (Group) accounting (disclosures
in accordance with sections 289 (4), 315 (4)
of the HGB - German Commercial Code)

The internal control and risk management system for
the Group’s and the Company’s accounting contains or-
ganisational provisions and technical requirements to
manage the risk associated with accounting. Key ele-
ments here are the clear and appropriate separation of
functions with regard to the Managing Board and lead-
ership responsibilities including management control
processes, the central accounting and reporting organi-
sation for all consolidated companies, the technical
stipulations contained in guidelines, manuals, process
descriptions and Group-wide principles, the recording
of business transactions with the so-called 'four eyes
principle' (two man rule), the implementation of quality
assurance processes and effectiveness checks by the
internal audit function and external audit procedures
and consulting, systems-based security measures,
manual control measures and regular comparisons with
planning and controlling processes taking the form of
target to actual comparisons and analyses of devia-
tions. To guarantee the safety of data the accounting-
related systems have access restrictions and access
rules. Employees receive appropriate instruction and
regular training on information security as well as data
protection rules and regulations.

The Supervisory Board examines the annual financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements
together with the management report on the Group’s
and the Company’s situation as well as the Dependent
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company report and discusses these with the Manag-
ing Board and the auditors.

3. Risk identification

In addition to the monitoring of risks in the planning, re-
porting, controlling and early warning systems which
are established, as part of risk control processes, per-
sons in charge within the organisational units document
- as part of a risk inventory - all business-relevant and
significant risks throughout the Group on a regular ba-
sis. To this end the estimates made by the responsible
managers and other relevant information are analysed
and aggregated. Relevant changes in the risk assess-
ment and new risks are communicated to the manage-
ment immediately within the framework of the
presentation of the risk inventory result.

The identified individual risks are categorised into dif-
ferent loss levels and defined into risk types by their
probability of occurrence and the potential loss level in
the case of occurrence. The central risk controlling unit
of the Allane Mobility Group then agglomerates these
decentralised registered individual risks and the identi-
fied individual risks are assessed according to their ma-
teriality. This forms the basis for the risk inventory,
which is integral part of the reporting system to the
Managing and Supervisory Board of Allane SE.

The internal audit regularly monitors risk management
as part of its audit mandate and reports directly to the
Managing Board of Allane SE.

The following provides an aggregate overview of the
material risk factors.

3.1 Counterparty default risk

The counterparty default risk arises if lessees and fleet
management clients do not meet their payment obliga-
tions during the term of the contract or only partly or if
vehicle suppliers cannot fulfil their buyback agreements
towards Allane SE, resulting in payment defaults. This
counterparty default risk in customer business gener-
ally increases with a deterioration in the economic situ-
ation, resulting in increased payment defaults by
leasing and fleet management customers or a vehicle
supplier subject to a buyback obligation.
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The established credit management identifies the risks
of counterparty default on receipt of the leasing or fleet
management agreement. When setting up an overall
framework for leasing contracts with customers and
vehicle buyback agreements with manufacturers and
dealers, when certain thresholds are exceeded - these
are usually the amount of the present value of the leas-
ing contracts or, in the case of vehicle repurchase
agreements, the sum of those agreed with the respec-
tive credit union buyback prices — the approval or infor-
mation of certain boards and bodies, respectively, is
required according to the given order of competences.
Likewise, prior to the conclusion of fleet management
and leasing contracts, the resulting risks and margins
are identified and prepared for the relevant decision
makers prior to their approval of the conclusion of the
contract. In the case of larger commitments, the Man-
aging Board also informs the Supervisory Board if cer-
tain threshold values for leasing and vehicle buyback
agreements are exceeded.

The counterparty default risks are monitored on a regu-
lar basis and actively managed. In addition, there is a
regular review of the customer’s creditworthiness in the
fleet customer business during the term of the lease or
fleet management contract. The approved general
frameworks are subject to regular prolongation and
credit assessment processes in keeping with the com-
petency structure.

Also, when selecting car suppliers, which provide buy-
back commitments to Allane Mobility Group, the Allane
Mobility Group therefore places great emphasis on their
economic stability. As with leasing and fleet manage-
ment customers, vehicle suppliers are subject to regu-
lar strict credit checks.

As a result, any negative changes in the relationship to
leasing and fleet management customers as well as ve-
hicle suppliers can be identified immediately and early,
and the appropriate countermeasures can be taken
promptly if necessary. Commitments with higher levels
of risk or potential default risks are monitored regularly
by the receivables management.

Counterparty default risk may give rise to risks that
may ad-adversely affect the risk profile of Allane SE
due to concentrations of similar and dissimilar risk fac-
tors. Here, portfolio-specific concentrations can arise
both for individual customers and for individual sectors.
In order to avoid risk concentrations, the Company has
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set up suitable risk monitoring measures to be able to
identify any concentrations in relation to individual cus-
tomers or sectors at an early stage.

3.2 Market price risk

The market price risk describes the danger of a loss
caused by changes to market prices. For Allane SE it is
especially the residual values of leasing vehicles as well
as the refinancing interest rates that are subject to the
market price risk.

3.2.1 Residual value risk

Residual value risks result from the marketing of vehi-
cles at the end of the leasing contract, if at this point in
time the selling price which can be achieved is below
the calculated residual value at the beginning of the
contract. To counteract the risks involved in the dis-
posal of vehicles within the Leasing business unit, the
residual values of the vehicles included in the calcula-
tion of the leasing contract are covered partly by buy-
back agreements with dealers or manufacturers
depending on market conditions. This applies in partic-
ular to a visible part of vehicles in the Fleet Leasing
business, the residual values of which are covered by
buyback agreements. As of 31 December 2021, on the
basis of the lease assets and inventories as well as or-
ders, approximately 19% (2020: 26%) of the existing re-
sidual value volume of Allane SE were covered by
buyback agreements.

Especially when it comes to the marketing of used leas-
ing vehicles, the Allane Mobility Group is also depend-
ent on developments on the used-car market,
particularly in Germany. The vehicles to be directly dis-
posed by the Allane Mobility Group on the used-car
market undergo regular valuation tests, which are
based on the Group's own experience and monitoring of
the market.

The remarketing of these vehicles is executed via a
multistage process. Vehicles that are not sold under a
buyback agreement to a manufacturer, dealer or the
lessee at the end of their leasing contract, are generally
offered via an online auction platform to registered
dealers. If after the end of an auction period Allane
reckons from its own sales experiences that a specific
vehicle could achieve a price above the highest offer
from the auction if it was offered on the used vehicle
stations operated by itself, this vehicle will be
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transferred to these stations. Operating under the
brand name 'Autohaus24' at three sites across Ger-
many, the Company’s own sales experts are responsible
for marketing the vehicles to end customers. In several
cases, leasing returns are also directly handed over to
one of the Autohaus24 stations for remarketing.

The Managing Board is closely monitoring develop-
ments in the context of increasing registrations of vehi-
cles with innovative drive technologies compared to
conventional combustion engines. As at 31 December
2021, vehicles with electric or hybrid drive technologies
accounted for 7.8% (2020: 3.5%) of the total number of
vehicles in the Allane Mobility Group's portfolio. For
some of the affected vehicles in the Allane Mobility
Group's portfolio, there are no buy-back agreements
with dealers or manufacturers. The management is also
observing the general political discussion on new emis-
sion requirements in accordance with the Euro-7 stand-
ard as well as government subsidy measures for
electric or hybrid drive technology and their impact on
future business. Due to the introduction of new drive
technologies, there is a higher potential for uncertainty
in the determination of residual vehicle values. In con-
nection with the ongoing discussion about the Euro-7
standard, the Allane Mobility Group could be exposed
to an increased residual value risk and lower than ex-
pected sales revenues in the future.

3.2.2 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risks comprise potential losses due to
changes in market interest rates. They can arise when
fixed-interest periods between the asset and liability
sides of the balance sheet are not congruent. A variable
interest rate for financing instruments can also lead to
an interest rate risk in the event of market changes.

The Allane Mobility Group pursues the goal of obtaining
refinancing funds with largely matching maturities in or-
der to avoid maturity mismatches and will occasionally
enter into derivative contracts to hedge against interest
rate risks. However, no guarantee can be given that
such hedging will be fully effective or that losses will be
completely avoided.

Rising interest rates for refinancing instruments could

result in higher refinancing costs and have a negative
impact on earnings.
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3.3 Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that existing financial re-
serves are not sufficient to service the financing of the
Group's financial liabilities at maturity. Through its fi-
nancial planning, the Allane Mobility Group seeks to en-
sure that sufficient liquidity is available to pay the due
liabilities under both normal and stress conditions.

Refinancing of the Allane Mobility Group is essentially
dependent on self-financing through operative cash
flows or the ability to borrow external funds from banks
or on the debt capital markets. Due to the change in the
ownership structure implemented in the financial year
2020, the Group will increasingly strive for refinancing
with matching maturities within the Group in the future
in order to reduce potential uncertainties due to exter-
nal debt financing options.

Furthermore, a range of asset-based financing oppor-
tunities (e. g. forfeiting or securitisation of leasing re-
ceivables) is available to Allane Mobility Group. The
Allane Mobility Group made use of this for the first time
in the year 2016 and set-up an asset backed securities
(ABS) programme, which was prolongated until the end
of 2021 and will be amortised continuously until the fi-
nancial year 2027. The leasing and residual value re-
ceivables supplied into the ABS programme are
refinanced with matching terms through additional
swap transactions. Nevertheless, the risk generally re-
mains that an increase in refinancing costs could have a
significant impact on the cost basis and that the Group
is potentially not able to pass on higher refinancing
costs to its customers.

3.4 Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of a loss particularly caused
by human behaviour, technological failure, inadequate
or faulty processes, or by external events. Regulatory,
legal and tax related risks are also included in this defi-
nition of operational risk.

The Allane Mobility Group follows a decentralized ap-
proach to the management of operational risks, with
specially trained coordinators receiving their nomina-
tion from the individual departments. The Risk Control-
ling department is responsible for measuring and
monitoring operational risks.
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The Allane Mobility Group is exposed to operational
risks from legal disputes. In particular, this includes le-
gal disputes arising from revocations of leasing con-
tracts. In order to prevent revocations, the standard
leasing contracts and the general terms and conditions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. There is a depart-
ment for the processing, handling and monitoring of ap-
peals, which is located in the Legal Division. Further
information on current revocations can be found in the
economic report under item 5.2 Liabilities.

The success of the Allane Mobility Group's business
depends to a high degree on the recognition and repu-
tation of the Sixt brands, trademarks and domain
names owned by Sixt SE. As a result of the completed
change of ownership, the Allane Mobility Group is enti-
tled to use the Sixt brands and domain usage rights for
a limited period of time. In order to counteract potential
reputational and strategic business risks, Allane SE has
established an internal project team to prepare the
brand change within an appropriate timeframe and to
ensure awareness of the newly introduced brand
through suitable marketing measures.

A complex and high-performance IT system is essential
for the implementation of the leasing and fleet manage-
ment business. Hardware and software-related system
faults or system failures can have a significant impact
on operational processes and, as a worst-case sce-
nario, even lead to their total breakdown. If new, re-
placement or supplementary software is introduced,
the high level of complexity of the IT system can create
increased demands in terms of compatibility with exist-
ing systems when it comes to ensuring the smooth pro-
gress of operations.

Alongside these internal operational risks, there is also
the risk of targeted external attacks from criminals aim-
ing at the IT infrastructure and corporate data inventory
(Hacking, DDoS attacks, etc.). To address these risks
accordingly, the Allane Mobility Group maintains its own
IT department, IT resources and IT infrastructure since
the implementation of the IT carve-out project. Their
task is permanent monitoring, maintenance, continuous
development and protection of the Group's IT systems.
In addition, Allane SE has increased the number of em-
ployees in the area of information security in the year
under review.

The personal skills and knowledge of its employees are
an important success factor for the Allane Mobility
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Group. If there is an increased rate of fluctuation and a
corresponding loss of know-how, this could impact on
service quality in leasing or fleet management opera-
tions. The Allane Mobility Group prevents these risks by
increased commitment to basic and advanced training,
anchoring personnel development in corporate culture
and the use of incentive systems. Furthermore, when
key positions are vacated, emphasis is placed on filling
these positions with our own employees.

The business of the Allane Mobility Group is associated
with a variety of different contracts. This is for the most
part only possible using standardised agreements,
which have to be reflected within the operational man-
agement systems. Even minor wording inaccuracies or
changes in the legal or contractual framework can
therefore have a significant impact on the Company's
business. The Allane Mobility Group counteracts the re-
sulting risks by means of contract management with
the involvement of legal experts and wide-ranging sys-
tem controls.

Further regulatory, legal and tax related risks associ-
ated with the operation of a financial service institution
will be mitigated by a compliance structure in accord-
ance with MaRisk and the corresponding control and
prevention mechanisms. Any regulatory, legal or tax-re-
lated changes are constantly monitored by the respec-
tive departments of Allane SE, communicated to the
management and implemented promptly and on time
within the framework of projects.

The outsourcing risk primarily related to the outsourced
IT services. By means of corresponding outsourcing
agreements, the envisaged audit and control rights
against the respective outsourcing unit were carried out
on an ongoing basis. The IT administration, which is
partly still outsourced at present, is to be incorporated
into the Allane Mobility Group in the middle of the com-
ing financial year 2022 as part of the ongoing IT carve-
out project.

3.5 Investment Risk

According to Allane SE, investment risk is the risk of un-
expected losses resulting from a decline in the market
value of the investments below their carrying amount.
In addition, there is a direct earnings impact risk in the
case of Allane SE's 100% shareholding in Sixt Mobility
Consulting GmbH, as a profit and loss transfer
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agreement has existed between Allane SE and its
shareholding since the 2015 financial year. Losses in-
curred by Sixt Mobility Consulting GmbH would have a
direct impact on the earnings situation of Allane SE.

The risk management and risk controlling system of Al-
lane Mobility Consulting GmbH is largely outsourced to
Allane SE due to the existing outsourcing agreement.
The risk methods and procedures to be applied at Al-
lane SE are also used for Allane Mobility Consulting
GmbH. In this respect, Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH
is closely integrated into the risk management and risk
monitoring processes of Allane SE. Thus, negative risk
and earnings developments at Allane Mobility Consult-
ing GmbH can be identified at an early stage and suita-
ble countermeasures can be initiated.
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4. Assessment of the overall risk
profile by the Managing Board

Allane SE has installed a Group-wide internal control
and risk management system for the purpose of proac-
tive identification and active management of any devel-
opments at an early stage which could lead to
significant losses or jeopardise the continued existence
of the Company or the Group. As part of the Group's
established risk management system, all identified risks
are regularly documented, reviewed, analysed and eval-
uated for their probability of occurrence and potential
impact. The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board
are informed about the results, so that the necessary
countermeasures can be taken if the need arises.

In the course of the change in ownership, the Allane
Mobility Group is also integrated into the internal con-
trol and risk management system of the German San-
tander subgroup. This ensures in particular the
adequacy of the risk management and risk controlling
processes.

In addition, leasing companies are obligated to meet the
qualitative requirements for a proper business organi-
sation pursuant to section 25a of the German Banking
Act (KWG), which are substantiated by the minimum re-
quirements for risk management of banks and financial
services institutions (MaRisk). In this context, leasing
companies have to ensure that they are invested at all
times with adequate funds to shoulder the risk they
have entered into (principle of risk bearing capacity).
The corresponding risk bearing capacity statement is
therefore key component of the quarterly risk reporting
system of Allane SE. According to this statement, the
unexpected loss from those risks deemed to be mate-
rial is compared with the risk cover amount available.
Risk capacity is given, if the material risk can be contin-
ually covered by a corresponding risk cover amount. As
of 31 December 2021, Allane SE has a risk potential for
counterparty default, market price (residual value and
interest rate risk), liquidity and operational risk as well
as equity investment risk in the amount of EUR 151 mil-
lion.
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The material risk types are distributed as at 31 Decem-
ber 2021 as follows:

Risk share in total risk
In EUR million*

Residual value risk 72.3[84.5]
Counterparty default risk 45.6 [26.4]
Operational risk 11.7 [10.2]
Interest rate risk 5.2 [3.3]
Investment risk 2.1[2.1]
Liquidity risk 0.1[0.2]
Other risks 13.7 [12.7]

* Previous year's figures are shown in brackets

The main changes compared to the previous year's re-
porting date relate to the risk types of residual value
risk and counterparty default risk. The residual value
risk declined due to the change in the quantification
methodology during the year, in which the expected
risk was eliminated. The counterparty default risk in-
creased disproportionately as of the reporting date due
to the increase in vehicle orders at the end of the year.

To determine the residual value risk, the negative devi-
ations between the assessed residual value at the be-
ginning of the contract and the expected market value
at the expected marketing date of the vehicle after the
end of the leasing contract are compared. Counterparty
default risks are quantified using a CVaR approach
based on the Gordy model. Operational risk is calcu-
lated on the basis of both an economic approach as
well as the regulatory basic indicator approach. The
higher value of these two approaches is decisive in the
consideration of the risk-bearing capacity calculation.
Interest rate risks are simulated using a historical loss
distribution based on interest rate changes since the
2008 financial year. The quantification of investment
risk is also carried out on the basis of a scenario calcu-
lation. Liquidity risks are determined on the basis of a
historical loss distribution. Liquidity risks are measured
using the liquidity value-at-risk, which calculates the
monetary impact of changes in refinancing costs. A
lump sum is formed for the other relevant risks. The ad-
justments made during the year in the context of quan-
tifying market price risks (interest rate risk and direct
residual value risk), liquidity risks and operational risks
serve to ensure the Group-wide adequacy of methods.

The internal capital (risk coverage potential) according

to the net asset value approach amounts to
EUR 350 million. This results in a coverage of the
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material risks of around 209%. During the entire report-
ing period, the risk-bearing capacity was ensured at all
times, both at the overall risk level and at the risk type
level. Limit overruns were not identified.

In addition to the presentation of the risk-bearing ca-
pacity calculation, various risk appetite metrics are cal-
culated to depict the dimensions of solvency, earnings
volatility, concentrations, liquidity and non-financial
risks. These metrics are used for early risk detection. In
the reporting period, no limit overruns of the total of 24
risk appetite metrics were identified.

The worldwide spread of the Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-
2) and the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) have a pro-
found social and economic impact. In Germany and
many European countries, lockdowns and in some Euro-
pean countries even curfews have been imposed to fur-
ther contain or at least slow down the spread of the
virus and any virus variants. Public life is repeatedly
brought to a halt. Some industries such a non-food re-
tailers, tourism, restaurants and the hotel industry often
had to partially or completely shut down their opera-
tions. It is still likely that companies' revenues and earn-
ings will remain at a low level across a wide range of
sectors and that supply chains will remain disrupted. In
conclusion, the affected companies reacted to this de-
velopment by using state bridging aid, applying for
short-time work and in individual cases even laying off
employees. The extent of the consequences of the con-
tinuing restrictions are still not foreseeable in its en-
tirety at the present time. It is recognisable that the
measures to restrict the pandemic and the economic
consequences resulting from the pandemic have had an
impact on consumer behaviour and the economic situa-
tion of private households in particular. Allane SE has
already taken the resulting consequences into account
in the adverse scenarios of the capital planning.

With the internal control and risk management organi-
sation outlined above, the Allane Mobility Group be-
lieves to be in an adequate position to monitor and
control the Allane Mobility Group in view of the of the
ongoing Corona crisis. The Company's risk situation has
been very stable and inconspicuous since the begin-
ning of the pandemic in March 2020. Given the contin-
ued dynamics of current developments and the lack of
experience of research and industry with such an exog-
enous shock for societies and economies worldwide,
the Allane Mobility Group has significantly intensified
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its early warning, monitoring and control measures and
increased their frequency.

As part of these measures, the Allane Mobility Group
has increased the frequency of meetings and the inten-
sity of the work overseen by the internal credit commit-
tee, particularly with regard to the topics of monitoring
the creditworthiness of its customers and buyback
partners and receivables management. Furthermore,
the Allane Mobility Group has integrated the sectors
particularly affected by the pandemic more strongly
into its risk monitoring processes, expanded the risk in-
ventory to include the risks of the ongoing pandemic
and strengthened the assumptions for the existing
stress tests accordingly or set up new stress tests.
Moreover, the risk appetite is adjusted to the current
risk situation.

With the onset of the first lockdown in spring 2020 as
well as the reimposed home office requirement at the
end of the reporting year, the majority of the activities
to be performed were duly carried out remotely from
the employees’ home office. No adjustments to the ex-
isting operating model were necessary to implement
the services. An increased incidence of external fraud
during remote operation was not observed.

In order to more closely monitor and control the station-
ary used car sales in particular, the Allane Mobility
Group has further expanded its inventory monitoring
and increased its focus on alternative sales channels.
To secure liquidity, the Allane Mobility Group uses ex-
isting credit lines as well as refinancing from the Group.
On the basis of the short- and medium-term liquidity
forecast, the Allane Mobility Group closely monitors the
utilisation of the financing instruments and derives any
necessary measures.

Due, above all, to the long-term contracts and customer
diversification, in particular in terms of industry and
size (from large corporations to private customers), as
well as the market opportunities, especially in the con-
text of digitisation and innovation and two strong part-
ners within the ownership structure, the Allane Mobility
Group believes that the overall risk as well as the risk
profile of the Allane Mobility Group will be negatively af-
fected temporarily, but otherwise at a comparable level
to the previous year. At present no risks have been
identified, which, alone or in their entirety, could endan-
ger the Group's or the Company's continued existence.
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5. Opportunities report

Opportunities are understood to be possibilities arising
from events, developments or actions that allow a com-
pany to secure and/or outperform the scheduled tar-
gets. It is the operative business field's responsibility to
identify and utilise opportunities as part of the corpo-
rate strategy.

The studies referred to in the following are in each case
the most recent studies relevant to the opportunities
report that can be obtained with reasonable effort. It
should be noted that none of the studies contain a ref-
erence to direct or indirect effects of the current war in
Ukraine. In principle, the short- and long-term effects
on the opportunities of the Allane Mobility Group can
hardly be reliably determined at present.

5.1 Market opportunities

Opportunities from general economic
developments

The Allane Mobility Group is highly dependent on gen-
eral economic conditions in Europe and in particular in
Germany. Improving economic conditions can resultin a
higher corporate investment willingness for fleet vehi-
cles and fleet management services and stronger in-
vestment propensity from private and commercial
customers for new and used vehicles. This in turn could
have a positive effect on the demand for offers and ser-
vices provided by Allane.

The Group operates its business primarily in Germany.

German gross domestic production (GDP) grew contin-
uously before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic

and affected demand for new vehicles.

According to preliminary calculations of the German
Federal Statistical Office (Destatis), GDP increased by
2.8% in 2021. At the same time, the number of new ve-
hicle registrations dropped by around 10% year-on-year
to 2.6 million vehicles according to the German Associ-
ation of the Car Industry (VDA - Verband der Automo-
bilindustrie e.V.). For 2022, the Kiel Institute for the
World Economy (IfW) expects a GDP growth of 4.0%.
This also could invigorate demand for new passenger
cars.

In its plans for financial year 2022, the Allane Mobility
Group takes due account of economic analysts'
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assessments for the business cycle, as the report on
outlook outlines. In the event that the economy should
develop better than these projections, it could also re-
sult in stronger demand for the products and services
offered by the Allane Mobility Group.

Opportunities from a positive leasing
business cycle

After the UK, the German leasing market is the second
biggest in Europe and has since 2013 been character-
ised by a stable upward trend. This was interrupted for
the first time in 2020: Thus, the German Association of
Leasing Companies (Bundesverband Deutscher Leas-
ing-Unternehmen e.V. - BDL) recorded a 9.5% year-on-
year decline in new lease investments in the first year
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In 2021, the leasing industry recorded growth in acqui-
sition values of 0.6% (excl. hire purchase) and 2% (incl.
hire purchase). For 2022, the BDL expects an increase
of between 5 and 7% (incl. hire purchase).

The German Council of Economic Experts (Sach-
verstandigenrat zur Begutachtung der
gesamtwirtschaftlichen Entwicklung) forecasts an in-
crease in equipment investment of 6.8% for 2022
(2021: 5.1%) and attributes this to positive impulses
from the expected recovery of the global economy.

According to Allane's assessment, an economic recov-
ery can have a positive effect on investment sentiment
and thus also on the leasing business.

Opportunities from market changes

Experts are agreed that the mobility market and cus-
tomer needs will continue to change strongly over the
coming years. This shift is often explained by such
trends as using instead of owning, flexibilisation, indi-
vidualisation, car subscription, new mobility, urbanisa-
tion, autonomous driving, digitisation, interlinking,
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sustainability, alternative powertrains, electro-mobility
and customer focus. Some of these trends, such as
flexibilisation, digitisation and electro-mobility, are in
the view of experts, going to be accelerated by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Leasing providers such as Allane
SE can benefit from current and future developments
by developing appropriate products and services.

According to the business consultancy McKinsey, the
above-mentioned changes could mean for the Euro-
pean leasing market that it could reach a volume of EUR
31 to 34 billion by 2025 (2019: EUR 25 billion). This
would equal an average annual growth rate of around 4
to 5%, or a total gain of 24 to 36%.

According to Dataforce, vehicle leasing is ‘indispensa-
ble’ for commercial fleets in Germany as 59.8% of all
passenger cars in Germany are leased. In the view of
the BDL, numerous reasons speak for leasing for com-
panies, as well as for the self-employed and freelanc-
ers. These include, in particular, planning security,
liquidity protection, tax advantages and favourable con-
ditions, as well as modern technology and the associ-
ated higher environmental friendliness.

Leasing has also become established in the private
sector. According to the Deutsche Automobil Treuhand
(DAT), the leasing rate for new car purchases by private
customers was 22% in 2020, an increase of eight per-
centage points compared to 2018. According to the
DAT, private leasing could become even more important
in the future, especially due to interesting leasing offers
for e-cars, as this form of use would offer end consum-
ers the advantage of switching to an e-car without risk-
ing a major loss in value. The most important reasons
for private new car leases are the ‘convenient, calcula-
ble manner of using the vehicle’, the ‘not ownership but
(merely) usage’ factor and the potential avoidance of
value depreciation as well as low instalment rates.

The Allane Mobility Group can benefit in particular from
the market change described above with its leasing of-
fer on sixt-neuwagen.de, as the online platform enables
private customers, among other things, to configure
and digitally order leased cars.
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5.2 Competitive opportunities

Growth through brand independence

Allane is a vendor-neutral leasing company (non-cap-
tive) and thus has key competitive advantages over
vendor-tied leasing companies (captive). They have
plentiful expertise on the life cycle of vehicles and the
marketing of used vehicles. Furthermore, they operate
business models that are already geared to future cus-
tomer requirements, for example through brand-inde-
pendent full-service leasing and direct marketing.

In a study, Deloitte estimates that car manufacturers
will change their previous brand strategy and will inte-
grate cross-brand solutions into their offer by the year
2035 in order to be able to address a larger target cus-
tomer group and better serve the changing mobility re-
quirements. This underlines the increasing importance
of brand independence in automotive sales.

Against this backdrop, the Allane Mobility Group can
take advantage of further growth opportunities in both
corporate and private customer business.

Growth from ‘first mover’ approach

Especially online retail leasing holds growth potential
for Allane, as this market is still much undeveloped in
Germany. According to Dataforce, merely 7% of private
leasing customers concluded their contract online in
2019. The potential though is enormous. However, the
potential is high: Figures provided by the Porsche sub-
sidiary MHP have online leasing as purchase variant of
choice being as much in demand with customers (50%)
as one-off payments and online financing (53% each).

According to McKinsey, direct online sales to private
customers will gain more and more significance and by
2025 will have highest strategic priority with executives
in the area of vehicle financing (incl. leasing). At the
same time, executives expect that the proportion of
online sales will climb significantly in this segment to
between 20 to 25% by the year 2025. That would mean
a tripling compared to their share in 2020.

Allane positioned itself early on as a provider of new
vehicles on the online market for private and commer-
cial customers with the launch of its online platform
sixt-neuwagen.de in 2012 and further improved its
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position by acquiring the online platform autohaus24.de
in 2016. The company aims to continue to benefit above
average from the development of the online vehicle
market in the future.

Accelerated growth through acquisitions

The Allane Mobility Group pursues the objective of driv-
ing forward its foreign expansion primarily through or-
ganic growth. In addition, there is also a possibility of
accelerating the Group's growth through acquisitions at
favourable conditions of other providers or leasing
portfolios. To this end, Allane is permanently reviewing
relevant market opportunities. When examining poten-
tial take-over candidates, the Managing Board and Su-
pervisory Board apply strict criteria regarding earnings
situation, risk profile and enterprise culture as well as
compatibility with Allane's business model.

Growth through internationalisation

The Allane Mobility Group permanently monitors the ex-
pansion of its international presence to unearth new
growth potential.

In the Fleet Leasing business field, the Allane Mobility
Group is active in Germany as well as through its own
national subsidiaries in France, Switzerland, and Aus-
tria. Moreover, Allane counts on its collaboration with
established franchise and cooperation partners, with
whom it currently maintains a network of around 30
countries.

In its Online Retail business field, Allane is present on
the German market and since 2016 also in Switzerland.
The perspective here is to capitalise on the 'first mover
advantages so as to expand online-based business
with private and commercial customers in other coun-
tries as well.

In the Fleet Management business unit, the Allane Mo-
bility Group is active on the German market as well as
through its own national subsidiaries in Switzerland,
France, Austria and the Netherlands. This business pur-
sues above all the objective of overseeing fleets of its
international customers across national boundaries.
Through the Sixt Mobility Consulting brand, Allane can
reveal to its customers potential cost savings in individ-
ual countries and provide them with optimisation
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proposals. Important tools for this are the Group's self-
developed digital applications, such as smartphone
apps for company car drivers and analysis programmes
for fleet managers.

Growth through complementary services

Over the last few years, the trend continued among
customers to utilize additional services next to their
leasing financing. According to Dataforce, more and
more fleet customers switch from finance to full-ser-
vice leasing. Thus, the full-service share of fleets in
Germany with more than five passenger cars increased
from 47 to 55% between 2016 and 2020. According to
the BDL, the trend toward full-service leasing opens up
‘great opportunities’ for leasing companies. Thus, they
can differentiate themselves from traditional financing,
because the latter in particular keeps labour-intensive
areas of fleet management inside the company. Moreo-
ver, companies wanted to continue working with part-
ners that offer services and packages as a ‘one-stop
shop’ in addition to financing.

Within the scope of full-service-leasing, the Allane Mo-
bility Group offers its fleet customers an all-in package
and assumes all administrative work associated with
the fleet. On top of this, Allane is developing incentive
models that will allow corporations to improve their ap-
peal on the labour market and to reward committed em-
ployees.

Figures from Dataforce show that particularly mid-sized
fleet with 10 to 49 vehicles have seen a continuous in-
crease in the usage of service leasing agreements. Ac-
cordingly, 43% of these leasing fleets use exclusively
service leasing contracts for their vehicles. With large
leasing fleets, this share goes up to 61%, with work-
shops (95%) and tyre services (56%) being utilized
most frequently.

Against this background, the Allane Mobility Group
seeks to increase its share of complementary services
in individual fleet business contracts step by step and
so raise the profitability of the contract portfolio. This is
done because the quantity and quality of services con-
stitute a key differentiating feature on this market. With
its decades of know-how and close network of cooper-
ation partners, Allane considers itself to be in a good
position to benefit from a general upturn in the demand
for services.
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The Online Retail business field is also witnessing the
increasing importance of additional service contracts
for customers. Thus, according to Dataforce, almost
every second private leasing agreement contains ser-
vice components. McKinsey is of the opinion that these
services will gain in significance over the coming years.

On its online platform sixt-neuwagen.de, the Allane Mo-
bility Group offers private and commercial customers
service packages for damage management, inspection
as well as wear and tear, among other things. McKinsey
expects that the significance of such bundled and mod-
ular services will increase substantially over the coming
years.

The declared aim of the Allane Mobility Group is to en-
hance the service portfolio continuously, as an in-
creased service ratio offers in particular the
opportunity to improve profitability in the contract port-
folio.

Marketing campaigns and cooperation
agreements as growth drivers

In its Online Retail business field, Allane uses marketing
campaigns to raise the name and awareness of the
online platforms sixt-neuwagen.de and autohaus24.de
and increase the number of contracts concluded. Mar-
keting events can be held both in cooperation with a
marketing partner or fully independently using the
brand name ‘Sixt Neuwagen'.

In 2021, Allane ran promotions in which limited contin-
gents of new cars in particularly high demand were
marketed to private and commercial customers at spe-
cial conditions.

Growth through remarketing

Remarketing vehicles holds significant opportunities for
leasing providers to attain a leading position on the
used vehicle market. In Germany, this market has grown
continually over the last few years. According to Sta-
tista, revenues in 2020 amounted to EUR 103.4 billion, a
gain of around 15% over the previous year (EUR 89.7
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billion). Volume grew at an annual rate of around 7%
and doubled overall since 2009 (EUR 51.7 billion).

Fleet leasing and fleet management providers could
benefit from this development as they are already the
biggest re-sellers within Europe and therefore enjoy a
high degree of customer trust. They are also able to of-
fer their clients not only purchase, leasing and rentals
but also a wide network of repair and maintenance ser-
vices. Moreover, the providers also stand the chance to
maximise the re-sale value of their vehicles by market-
ing them across numerous countries.

Remarketing vehicles is an established element in Al-
lane's business model and is especially conducted via
the Group-owned online B2B auction platform as well
as the local used car stations. As part of the group
strategy, the Company started to connect more and
more international dealers to the platform in 2018 to in-
tensify the marketing of used leasing vehicles outside
Germany and thereby reduce dependence on the Ger-
man used vehicle market. The overriding aim of this
measure was to improve the Allane Mobility Group's
risk-return profile through pro-active risk management.
Allane currently operates three of its own locations in
Germany for the remarketing of vehicles.

5.3 Opportunities from digitalisation

Digitalising services

The digitalisation is of vital importance for the growth
of Allane, above all in the Online Retail and Fleet Man-
agement business fields. With the launch of the online
platform sixt-neuwagen.de in 2012 and the introduction
of digital offers and the fully digital ordering process in
2021, Allane has reached significant milestones in the
digitalisation of new car sales. In addition, the Company
has built up a portfolio of digital applications for com-
pany car drivers and fleet managers. Allane thus sees
itself prepared for future developments in these areas.

Increasing significance of the internet as
information and sales channel

The vehicle market for private and commercial custom-
ers is mainly served by station-tied car dealers with a
limited geographic reach. This means, that often they
have vehicles from one or a few OEM, which for
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customers translates into a market with little transpar-
ency, as cars, options and prices are hard to compare
on site. In addition, megatrends such as digitalisation
and new mobility needs are leading to an increasing
shift of automobile sales to the internet. Therefore, the
importance of the internet as an information and sales
channel is growing.

A McKinsey survey on consumer behaviour of car and
mobility customers has found that 44% of all consum-
ers in in Europe can imagine ordering a car entirely
online. According to DAT, more than 87% of new vehicle
buyers in Germany inform themselves online prior to
their purchase in 2020, seven percentage points more
than in the previous year (2020: 80%). Of these people,
68% also visited new vehicle portals. Overall, 10% of all
private new vehicle buyers made their car purchase via
a new vehicle portal.

This change in user behaviour can have a positive im-
pact on Allane SE's business model, as the Group oper-
ates two online platforms, sixt-neuwagen.de and
autohaus24.de, which are geared towards these needs.

Individual digital customer service

A study by the business consultancy Capgemini found
that the future of mobility will be very much determined
by the so-called Generation Z. This generational group
was born between 1995 and 2015, has a very strong af-
finity to technology and is very demanding. Thus, Gen-
eration Z is not only expecting mobility service
providers to offer them simple and flexible solutions
plus constant availability, but also personalised ser-
vices as well as a ‘seamless’ online experience with ac-
cess to all products and services from on platform of
their choosing.

According to MHP, personal consultancy services con-
tinue to play vital role for car customers. 56% of cus-
tomers surveyed accorded personal advice provided
during their online purchase the score ‘important’ to
‘very important’. Younger survey participants (18 to 34
years) found such personal consultancy services to be
significantly more important at 59% than it was for cus-
tomers aged 35 or older (46%). At the same time, 64%
of car dealers are of the opinion that the consultancy
phase can also be provided online.
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The Allane Mobility Group offers its customers individ-
ual digital customer services, such as the workshop
search on the Allane website. In addition, the Company
conducts regular customer surveys both in its business
with private as well as with commercial customers. The
company takes these findings to derive suitable
measures for optimising its customer services.

5.4 Opportunities from innovations

Individualised online and mobile solutions

It is the view of Allane that digitisation will expand cus-
tomer solutions across all business fields. Fleet Leasing
and Fleet Management will see that, on top of personal
assistance, companies are attaching increasing im-
portance to aspects such as automation, efficiency and
process safety. In this context, a trend towards out-
sourcing fleet management services can be observed,
as companies are focusing on their core business and
at the same time want to make sure that their fleet is
optimally managed. For the Online Retail business field,
the focus will increasingly be on aspects such as trans-
parency, individuality and convenience.

The Allane Mobility Group puts great emphasis on the
development of modern online and mobile services. In
the business with corporate customers, leasing and ad-
ministration processes are to be optimized especially in
the form of reporting and apps. In its business with pri-
vate and commercial customers, the leasing process
should be facilitated above all through the use of an
online configurator and digital ordering steps.

Growth market electric mobility

Worldwide electric mobility is gaining traction. Factors
for this are, among other things, the accelerated cli-
mate change, a stronger environmental awareness, hew
mobility requirements, a bigger choice of vehicles, fall-
ing production and acquisition costs, better charging
infrastructure, new battery technologies as well as
higher performance and mileage range. Of particular
importance in Europe are also such factors as legisla-
tive regulations, CO2 stipulations as well as govern-
mental subsidy programmes. In Germany, the topic
receives added attention through the debate over bans
on Diesel-powered vehicles. In all of this, it is not only

allane

environmental aspects that are being debated, but also
the growth opportunities for the automotive industry.

Experts are agreed that over the coming years the
worldwide market for electric mobility will grow sub-
stantially and that Europe will take up a trailblazer role
in the electrification of powertrains. The management
consultancy McKinsey reckons that in 2030 Europe will
lead the transformation with a 75% market share for e-
cars in all newly registered passenger cars. It will be
ahead of China, the largest e-car market in absolute
terms that will have a 70% share, and the USA with a
65% share. Accordingly, by 2030 a total of more than
70 million vehicles on the roads of the European Union
could thus already have an electric drive. The consul-
tancy firm PwC reckons that the share of e-vehicles
and plug-in hybrids for new vehicle sales in Europe will
climb strongly to 36% by 2025 (2021: 16%). For 2030,
PwC projects a share of 66% and for 2035 are share of
91%.

In Germany electric mobility enjoys a high acceptance
even if that is not yet adequately reflected in the vehi-
cle stock. At the same time, vehicles with electric
powertrains are witnessing strong growth in the num-
ber of new registrations. A study conducted by Aral in
2021 saw signs for a paradigm shift in the type of
drivetrains car customers are preferring. In the 2019
survey, for example, two-thirds of motorists were still
relying on diesel or gasoline engines. Meanwhile
though, the balance of power between conventional
and alternative drive systems is almost even. One in
four car buyers would like to buy a hybrid vehicle, and
interest in electric vehicles has also more than doubled
to 15% within two years. 62% of car buyers would pur-
chase an electric car even without government subsi-
dies, according to the Aral study. According to the
German Federal Motor Vehicle Office (Kraftfahrtbun-
desamt; KBA), around 681,000 passenger cars with
electric powertrain were newly registered in 2021,
which equals a share of 26% of all new passenger car
registrations. The number of newly registered plug-in
hybrids climbed by 62.3% to around 325,000, while the
pure electric cars gained 83.3% to around 356,000
units.

Leasing customers are also open to alternative drives.
According to Dataforce, half of all future private lessees
would like to drive a corresponding drive. Among com-
pany car drivers who currently use a leased vehicle, the
share is 59%.
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The leasing industry can benefit from this development.
According to a survey by McKinsey among executives
responsible for vehicle financing (incl. leasing), it is
above all regulatory changes that could boost demand
for electric leasing vehicles in Europe. Thus, around
95% of executives considered offers for electric vehi-
cles to be ‘important’ or ‘extremely important’. This indi-
cates that electric vehicles have highest strategic and
financial priority among executives, even ahead of new
and used vehicles.

Allane promotes electromobility, for instance, through
cooperations with manufacturers and electric power
suppliers as well as consulting services, for example
with a view to improving the pollutant emissions bal-
ance. Technological advances in electric vehicles, man-
ufacturer's initiatives to promote this drive type, for
example in setting up a nation-wide charging infra-
structure, government subsidies as well as increasing
corporate interest in optimising their fleets for ecologi-
cal considerations open up additional opportunities for
the Allane Mobility Group.

5.5 Assessment of the overall opportunities
profile by the Managing Board

Allane SE considers itself well positioned to take ad-
vantage of the growth opportunities described above.
The recovery of the global economy expected by ex-
perts in the course of the 2022 financial year is likely to
have a positive impact on the leasing economy, as com-
panies' willingness to invest is influenced in particular
by the overall economic situation. This may also have a
positive impact on the business development of the Al-
lane Mobility Group.

Although the ongoing COVID-19 situation has burdened
the business development of Allane so far and also in
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the short term, it could also provide positive impulses in
the medium to long term according to industry observ-
ers. Accordingly, it could strengthen the shift towards
new mobility needs and requirements to the extent that
acceptance of products and services from leasing com-
panies such as Allane increases further.

In terms of competitive opportunities, the Allane Mobil-
ity Group has a competitive business model that can
address the changing mobility needs of customers due
to its brand independence and its early positioning in
the online direct sales of new leased vehicles. The com-
pany reserves the right to accelerate its growth also
through targeted acquisitions. Further opportunities
arise from the organisation's focus on future national
and international growth. In addition, Allane can expand
its position as a full-service provider by introducing fur-
ther complementary services. Marketing campaigns
and sales cooperations also play an important role and
can help to raise awareness of Allane, expand the con-
tract portfolio and generate additional revenues, for ex-
ample in the area of services. With its online auction
platform and the expansion of its used car locations,
the company is also in a position to benefit from the
continuous growth of the used car market.

The expansion of the digital product and service port-
folio enables the Allane Mobility Group to exploit the
growth potential in the area of digitalisation. This ap-
plies in particular to the Online Retail business field. The
digitalisation of the business model should also contrib-
ute to process and cost optimisation and thus have a
positive impact on productivity and earnings develop-
ment. In addition, the development towards electromo-
bility opens up additional opportunities for Allane.

The overall opportunity profile of Allane SE can also be
assessed as good with regard to the new major share-
holder, Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH. The part-
nership puts the Allane Mobility Group in a position to
continue to successfully pursue its strategy and to
jointly exploit new growth opportunities in the future. In
addition, Allane intends to be able to further optimise
its refinancing structure from the integration into the
group of the two international and financially strong
groups Santander and Hyundai.
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B.7 — Non-financial declaration in accordance
with sections 289b to e and 315b and c of the

HGB

Pursuant to section 289b (2) and section 315b (2) of
the HGB, Allane SE is exempt from the obligation to add
a non-financial declaration to the management report
on the situation of the Group and the Company, as it is
included in the non-financial consolidated declaration
of Banco Santander S.A., which is contained in the
management report on the situation of the Group and
the Company for the financial year 2021 of Banco

Santander S.A.. Banco Santander S.A. is the controlling
shareholder of Santander Consumer Bank AG, which in
turn is the majority shareholder of Hyundai Capital Bank
Europe GmbH. Information on the sustainability of Al-
lane SE can also be found in the chapter ‘Sustainability’
of the Allane SE Annual Report 2021 and is made gener-
ally available on the internet at ir.allane-mobility-
group.com in the ‘Financial Reports’ section.

B.8 — Dependent company report

HCBE is the largest shareholder of Allane SE with
92.07% of the ordinary shares and voting rights. Thus,
Allane SE had a relationship of dependence within the
meaning of section 17 of the AktG with Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, and its affiliated
companies in the 2021 financial year.

Due to the indirect majority shareholding of Banco San-
tander S.A., Santander, Spain, in Allane SE, there was
thus a relationship of dependence of Allane SE within
the meaning of section 17 of the AktG with Banco San-
tander S.A., Santander, Spain, and its affiliated compa-
nies in the 2021 financial year.

Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, Korea, holds a majority
stake of 59.70% in Hyundai Capital Services Inc, Seoul,
Korea. Hyundai Capital Services Inc., Seoul, Korea, on
the other hand, does not hold a majority stake in HCBE
with 49.00% of the shares. Due to the joint venture
structure and the equal composition of the Supervisory
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Board of HCBE with members of Hyundai and Santan-
der, there was nevertheless a relationship of depend-
ence within the meaning of section 17 of the AktG with
Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, Korea, and its affiliated
companies in the 2021 financial year.

Therefore, pursuant to Article 9 (1) lit. ¢) (ii) SE Regula-
tion, section 49 (1) SEAG in conjunction with section
312 of the (AktG), a report is prepared containing the
following concluding declaration by the Managing
Board: "According to the facts and circumstances
known to the Managing Board at the time legal transac-
tions subject to disclosure requirements were con-
ducted, Allane SE received appropriate consideration in
each case. Actions subject to disclosure requirements
taken or actions omitted did not exist in the period un-
der review.”
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B.9 - Additional information for Allane SE

(pursuant to the HGB)

Fundamentals and business
performance

Allane SE has its registered offices in Pullach and is the
parent company of the Allane Mobility Group. It as-
sumes central management tasks and is responsible for
the strategic and financial management of the Group.
At the same time, Allane SE is also the operative com-
pany for the leasing business within Germany. In this
function Allane SE is essentially responsible for results
of operations, net assets and financial position as well
as the opportunities and risks of the Allane Mobility
Group. The above explanations in the economic report
on the Allane Mobility Group and the Leasing business
unit also apply to Allane SE, unless otherwise stated
below.

The annual financial statements of Allane SE are pre-
pared in accordance with the provisions of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with the Ordi-
nance on Accounting for Banks and Financial Services
Institutions (RechKredV) and, in addition, in accordance
with the provisions of the German Stock Corporation
Act (AktG) and form the basis for the appropriation of
the net retained profits for the financial year to be re-
solved by the Annual General Meeting.

The above explanations refer to the Allane Mobility
Group and are the subject of the capital market com-
munication of Allane SE. The following explanations
comply with the requirements of the German Commer-
cial Code for the management report of Allane SE. They
are not directly relevant for the capital market commu-
nication relating to the consolidated financial state-
ments according to IFRS.

The most significant financial performance indicator for
Allane SE is the pay-out ratio (pay-out of Allane SE in
relation to the consolidated profit of the Allane Mobility
Group according to the International Financial Reporting
Standards [IFRS]). The most significant non-financial
performance indicators are essentially identical and
concurrent with those of the Allane Mobility Group.
These are described in detail in the economic report of
the combined management report.

Differences between the accounting and valuation
methods according to the HGB in conjunction with
RechKredV and IFRS arise primarily in the following cir-
cumstances: Vehicles held for sale that have been
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returned from the leasing contract are not reported in
inventories as under IFRS, but in other assets. Liabilities
from advance payments received from full-service con-
tracts are not reported under contract liabilities as un-
der IFRS, but under other liabilities. The liabilities from
the ABS transaction are not reported under current and
non-current financial liabilities as under IFRS, but under
other liabilities. Furthermore, the discount as well as
costs in connection with the issuance of the bonds are
not deducted from the carrying amount of the bonds,
but are reported in prepaid expenses. Certain leases
classified as finance leases under IFRS 16 will be re-
ported under other receivables and assets in the IFRS
financial statements, while they will continue to be re-
ported under leased assets in the HGB financial state-
ments. For these contracts, the lease payment in the
IFRS consolidated financial statements is divided into
repayment of receivables and interest income. In the
HGB financial statements of Allane SE, the leasing in-
stalments for these contracts are reported under leas-
ing income. Furthermore, depreciation on the leased
assets is reported in the HGB financial statements. In
accordance with IFRS 16, rights of use are reported un-
der property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities
under financial liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements for the rental agreements for office space
and land. This results in depreciation on the rights of
use in the IFRS consolidated financial statements,
whereby the rental interest payments are divided into
the repayment of the lease liabilities and interest ex-
penses. In the HGB financial statements of Allane SE,
only the rental payments are reported under other ad-
ministrative expenses. The goodwill arising in the 2020
financial year from the acquisition of significant parts of
the business operations of SL Car Sales GmbH,
Garching, is amortised over ten years under HGB,
whereas under IFRS there is no scheduled amortisation,
but an annual impairment test is carried out.

The general economic and industry-related conditions
of Allane SE are essentially the same as those of the Al-
lane Mobility Group and are described in the economic
report of the combined management report.

Results of operations, net assets and
financial position

As shown in the combined management report for the
key financial performance indicators according to IFRS,
the 2021 financial year fell short of the expectations for
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the sales portfolio and the operating revenue as pre-
sented in the management report of the previous year.
Both financial performance indicators were already ad-
justed in December 2021. The result from ordinary busi-
ness activities in the 2021 financial year was within
expectations. Despite the uncertainties and constraints
from the Corona pandemic as well as the transaction-
related expenses, Allane SE has a solid basis, as the op-
erations, assets and financial situation shows.

While the significant financial performance indicators
mentioned in the previous paragraph refer to the IFRS
financial statements of the Allane Mobility Group, the
following explanations refer to the financial statements
of Allane SE according to HGB in conjunction with
RechKredV.

In the 2021 financial year, Allane SE generated a result
(leasing income less leasing expenses) of

EUR 224.0 million (2020: EUR 233.7 million) from the
operating leasing business. In addition, interest income
and expenses resulted in a net charge of EUR 4.8 million
(2020: charge of EUR 8.9 million). This was offset pri-
marily by personnel and administrative expenses of
EUR 77.9 million (2020: EUR 59.1 million) and expenses
from depreciation, amortisation and impairments, par-
ticularly on lease assets, of EUR 147.2 million (2020:
EUR 170.2 million). Personnel expenses increased in
particular due to the increase in resources in the IT area
as a result of the IT carve-out from Sixt SE. Administra-
tive expenses increased mainly due to higher legal and
consulting expenses as well as higher IT costs in the
context of the IT carve-out.

Profit from ordinary activities amounted to EUR 1.5 mil-
lion in 2021 (2020: EUR 6.2 million). The Company
shows a net profit for the year of EUR 2.6 million (2020:
EUR 0.8 million) and - with the addition of a profit car-
ried forward from the previous year and less the trans-
fer to other revenue reserves — a balance sheet profit of
EUR 23.1 million (2020: EUR 22.2 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the main assets of Allane SE
consist of leased assets in the amount of EUR 894.6
million (2020: EUR 1,005.5 million). The decrease is
mainly due to the lower number of new contracts and
the further scheduled depreciation of the existing leas-
ing assets. As at 31 December 2021, receivables from
customers amount to EUR 24.4 million (2020: EUR

31.0 million) and receivables from banks amount to EUR
0.5 million (2020: EUR 0.1 million). In addition, other

allane

assets, mainly receivables from affiliated companies, of
EUR 254.6 million (2020: EUR 281.3 million) are re-
ported. This mainly includes receivables from Isar Val-
ley of EUR 82.2 million (2020: EUR 94.7 million). These
consist primarily of the sub-loan as part of the ABS
transaction. The decrease corresponds to the decrease
in the general financing requirement due to the decline
in leasing assets.

The share capital of Allane SE remained unchanged at
EUR 20.6 million on the balance sheet date.

A total of EUR 193.7 million (2020: EUR 191.5 million) is
reported in equity.

Significant liabilities are other liabilities in the amount of
EUR 550.4 million (2020: EUR 645.5 million). In addition
to trade payables of EUR 21.5 million (2020: EUR 19.3
million), other liabilities mainly include liabilities to Isar
Valley in connection with the ABS transaction of EUR
496.7 million (2020: EUR 595 million). The liabilities to
Isar Valley have decreased mainly due to the decline in
general financing requirements. Furthermore, there are
liabilities to banks of EUR 122.7 million (2020: EUR 170.0
million) and securitised liabilities of EUR 250 million
(2020: EUR 250 million). Other provisions increased to
EUR 28.8 million (2020: EUR 19.0 million). The main rea-
son for this is the provisions made for outstanding in-
voices for consulting services and settlements reached.
Furthermore, provisions for legal disputes were in-
creased by EUR 2.4 million to EUR 2.8 million in other
provisions. This is mainly due to legal disputes against
Allane SE arising from revocation actions for leasing
contracts with regard to the second instance. For some
of the related open cases, the further course depends
on the timing of pending rulings by the BGH and / or
EUGH on individual cases of Allane SE. For these open
cases, Allane SE has an other financial obligation of
EUR 1.9 million, which was not recognised in the provi-
sions.

For the 2021 financial year, the Managing Board of Al-
lane SE is considering proposing a dividend of EUR 0.06
per share for distribution. Subject to approval by the
Supervisory Board and the Annual General Meeting on
the appropriation of profits, this would result in a distri-
bution of EUR 1.2 million (2020: EUR 0.4 million). This
corresponds to a pay-out ratio of just under 21% (2020:
around 20%) based on the consolidated net income.
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Opportunities, risks and forecast

As the parent company and operating leasing company,
Allane SE has a significant influence on the opportuni-
ties and risks of the Allane Mobility Group. In this re-
spect, reference is made to the overall assessment in
the report on risks and opportunities of the Allane Mo-
bility Group. Allane SE also has a significant influence
on the economic development of the Allane Mobility
Group.

Allane SE operates the group-wide risk management
system as well as the internal control system and is
thus an integral part thereof.

For the 2022 financial year, Allane SE expects a pay-out
ratio (pay-out of Allane SE in relation to the consoli-
dated profit of the Allane Mobility Group according to
IFRS) in the corridor of 30% to 60% (2021: 21%).

Investments

As the operative leasing company, Allane SE oversees
as part of its normal business activities the investments
in lease assets, intangible assets and property and
equipment. As part of its financing function within the
Allane Mobility Group, Allane SE will provide consoli-
dated companies with loans and funds in the form of
equity if so required. Potential company start-ups or
acquisitions could require investments to be made by
Allane SE.

B.10 — Corporate governance declaration in
accordance with sections 289f and 315d of the

HGB

For Allane SE, good and responsible corporate govern-
ance is an important way of securing and enhancing the
trust of the capital market in the Company. Responsible
management geared to long-term value creation has a
high job value for the Company. The fundamental char-
acteristics of good corporate governance are efficient
and trustful cooperation between the Managing Board
and Supervisory Board, respect for the interests of
shareholders and openness in corporate communica-
tions both externally and internally. The Supervisory
and Managing Board report on important aspects of
corporate governance in accordance with the provi-
sions of sections 289f and 315d of the Han-
delsgesetzbuch (HGB - German Commercial Code). The
report is also available on the website of Allane SE un-
der ir.allane-mobility-group.com under ‘Corporate Gov-
ernance’.

6. Corporate governance declaration in
accordance with sections 289f and
315d of the HGB

The corporate governance declaration is part of the
Company's management report. Pursuant to section
317 (2) sentence 6 of the HGB, the disclosures made in
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accordance with sections 289f and 315d of the HGB are
not included in the audit.

6.1 Compliance with German Corporate
Governance Code and declaration of
conformity

The recommendations of the Government Commission
on the German Corporate Governance Code are an es-
tablished benchmark for corporate management at Ger-
man listed companies. The Managing Board and
Supervisory Board of Allane SE have therefore dealt in
detail with the requirements of the German Corporate
Governance Code and issued the following declaration
of conformity in February 2022.

Declaration of conformity in accordance with
section 161 of the AktG

The recommendations of the “Government Commission
on the German Corporate Governance Code” in the ver-
sion of 16 December 2019 (hereinafter referred to as
“Code”) announced in the official section of the Federal
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 20 March 2020 have been
complied with by Allane SE (the “Company”) in the pe-
riod since the last Declaration of Conformity of 10
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December 2020, and will be continued to be complied
with, to the extent not otherwise indicated below:

m The Corporate Governance Statement (Erklarung zur
Unternehmensfiihrung) does not contain statements
on the approach to the long-term succession plan-
ning regarding the Managing Board (section B.2 half-
sentence 2 of the Code). As the Company is part of
the Hyundai Group as well as the Santander Group, it
has access to internationally experienced and highly
qualified management personnel, which is the reason
why the Company is of the opinion that a reporting on
the approach to the long-term succession planning
regarding the Managing Board would not benefit to
any greater extent the information interests of share-
holders and investors.

m The Supervisory Board routinely assesses effectivity
and efficiency of its work and performance (self-as-
sessment) but, however, refrains from reporting on
such self-assessment within the Corporate Govern-
ance Statement (section D.13 sentence 2 of the
Code). The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that
the actual structure of the Supervisory Board (com-
position of five members as well as non-existence of
committees) does not have a degree of complexity
which would require a reporting on self-assessment
by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the rec-
ommendation in section D.13 sentence 2 of the Code.

m The report of the Supervisory Board (Bericht des
Aufsichtsrats) does not contain statements as to
training and professional development measures for
the members of the Supervisory Board (section D.12
of the Code). The Supervisory Board is of the opinion
that a reporting on training and professional develop-
ment measures for the members of the Supervisory
Board does not constitute essential information for
shareholders or investors.

m The Supervisory Board decides on a case-by-case
basis how to take into account the age of candidates
when appointing Managing Board members or pro-
posing Supervisory Board candidates for election, as
the Supervisory Board believes that specifying a gen-
eral age limit and, thereby, imposing a general re-
striction on selection, would not be in the interest of
the Company. Therefore, a specified age limit for
Managing Board Members or Supervisory Board
members has not been determined and is not
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reported in the Corporate Governance Statement
(section B.5 and C.2 of the Code).

The rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board are
not published on the Company’s website (section D.1
of the Code). The Company does not consider the
rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board to be an
essential information for shareholders or investors
which needs to be publicly available in addition to the
information made available in the Corporate Govern-
ance Statement.

Due to the current size of the Supervisory Board,
which allows efficient work of the entire body
(Gesamtgremium), the formation of committees has
not been deemed necessary to date. Therefore, none
of the recommendations regarding committees of the
Supervisory Board and their members have been im-
plemented (cf. sections C.10, D.2, D.3 sentence 1, D.4,
D.5, D11, D13 and G.17 of the Code). However, the Su-
pervisory Board intends to establish an Audit Com-
mittee with effect from 16 December 2021 and to
implement the recommendations of the Code with re-
gard to the Audit Committee and its members with an
exception only regarding the recommendation in sec-
tion G.17 of the Code to provide for special remunera-
tion for committee work (see below for more details).

The Managing Board members’ variable remuneration
is not granted predominantly as share-based remu-
neration (section G.10 sentence 1 of the Code). The
Supervisory Board takes the view that also by the
current structure of the variable remuneration an in-
centive is created that is effectively geared towards a
sustainable and long-term development of the Com-

pany.

The remuneration for Supervisory Board members
provided for in the Company’s Articles of Association
only takes account of the larger time commitment of
the chairperson of the Supervisory Board, but neither
of the deputy chairperson of the Supervisory Board
nor of the chairperson or members of committees
(section G.17 of the Code). With the exception of the
additional time commitment required for the service
as chairperson of the Supervisory Board, the Com-
pany, for the time being and subject to ongoing re-
view of the required time commitment in the
individual case, considers service in other functions
within the Supervisory Board as regular part of the
duties of the Supervisory Board members.
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Furthermore, Supervisory Board members related to
the current majority shareholder of the Company
have waived their remuneration claims.

m The Company discloses all price-sensitive information
equally to analysts and all shareholders. However, the
Company takes the view that disclosure to all share-
holders also of hon-price-sensitive information pro-
vided to financial analysts and similar parties (section
F.1 of the Code) would not benefit to any greater extent
the information interests of shareholders.

m The annual consolidated financial statements and the
annual report of the Company are published within
the statutory periods. Interim reports are published
within the periods stipulated by stock exchange rules.
The Company takes the view that compliance with
the shorter publication deadlines recommended by
section F.2 of the Code does not benefit to any
greater extent the information interests of investors,
creditors, employees and the public.

Pullach, 11 February 2022

For the Supervisory
Board of Allane SE

For the Managing
Board of Allane SE

Jochen Klopper
Chairman

Donglim Shin
Chairman

6.2 Relevant disclosures on corporate
governance practices

The practices used for managing Allane SE and the Al-
lane Mobility Group fully comply with the statutory pro-
visions.

Strategic and operational management of the Group is
per-formed on the basis of planning policies and regular
comprehensive reports to the Managing Board. Report-
ing covers the risk management system, the internal
control system as well as the internal audit system.

The risk management system, the functioning and ex-
tent of which is documented in the risk manual, speci-
fies several types of reports to support management
with the identification, assessment and control of risks.
Among other things, the Managing Board and the Su-
pervisory Board receive a comprehensive risk report
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each year. In addition, the Managing Board is regularly
informed about relevant issues by the Company’s func-
tional units. The internal control system consists of
measures and controls, for example, to ensure compli-
ance with statutory provisions and corporate guide-
lines. It specifies regular reports by the Company’s
business units, audit reports and regular working meet-
ings relating to different topics. The internal audit sys-
tem relates to measures such as planned audits and
other audits, the results of which are documented in the
respective audit and activity reports to the Managing
Board.

6.3 Compliance within the Allane Mobility
Group

As a financial services company, in accordance with
section 1 (1a) no. 10 KWG, Allane SE is subject to the
provisions of MaRisk and section 25a (1) sentence 3
no. 3 KWG. This results in requirements for the imple-
mentation and design of a compliance function.

The Managing Board of Allane SE has appointed a cen-
tral compliance officer who, in cooperation with the in-
ternal audit department and the legal department of
Allane SE, is responsible for coordinating and monitor-
ing all compliance measures and compliance processes
within the Allane Mobility Group.

The success of the Allane Mobility Group is not only
driven by its excellent business policy, but also by the
harmonisation of business principles with the highest
moral and ethical standards, and the trust that custom-
ers, suppliers, shareholders and business partners
place in. In order to win and keep this trust, it is a pre-
condition that the Managing Board and the employees
of the Company in any situation and continuously com-
ply with the high standards of legislation, ethics and so-
cial skills. The Code of Conduct of Allane SE and its
affiliated companies, which is mandatory for all employ-
ees, contains these behavioural principles for the acting
individuals’ dealings in relation to third parties and
within the Company. The Code of Conduct defines
compliance-relevant procedures on the part of man-
agement and provides specific instructions for action in
the following areas of compliance: corruption and brib-
ery, money laundering, antitrust law, data protection, in-
sider information and conflicts of interest. In addition,
all departments are required to coordinate key legal or
regulatory processes and procedures with the legal
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department, the compliance officer and internal audit.
The internal audit department carries out plan audits
and project-accompanying audits based on risk-ori-
ented audit planning. Within the scope of these rule au-
dits, business processes are examined not only with
regard to economic risk aspects but also with regard to
possible compliance risks and compliance with the ap-
plicable internal (work instructions, processes) and ex-
ternal regulations. At the same time, the audit
department supports the compliance function in moni-
toring the compliance measures implemented by carry-
ing out ad-hoc checks as required.

The compliance function constantly monitors the main
defined compliance areas of Allane SE, initiates the
necessary measures and accompanies their implemen-
tation. To become aware of potential compliance de-
faults, Allane SE offers its employees different reporting
channels via the superior, the compliance officer or the
ombudsman. The compliance officer maintains regular
contact with the Managing Board and assists as well as
advises it with regard to preventive measures.

6.4 Working practices of Managing Board and
Supervisory Board

As European Stock Corporation (Societas Europaea) Al-
lane SE is governed by the German Aktiengesetz (AktG
— German Public Companies Act), the specific European
SE regulations and the German SE Implementation Act.
Allane SE has a dualistic management system with a
clear division of corporate management and its supervi-
sion between the Managing Board and Supervisory
Board. The Management Board is therefore strictly sep-
arated from the Supervisory Board, which monitors the
activities of the Management Board and decides on its
composition. Simultaneous membership in both bodies
is not permitted.

6.4.1 Managing Board

The Managing Board of Allane SE manages the Com-
pany on its own responsibility and represents Allane SE
in transactions with third parties. It conducts business
in accordance with the legal provisions, the Articles of
Association and the rules of procedure for the Manag-
ing Board.

As the central task of corporate management, the Man-

aging Board defines long-term goals and strategic ori-
entation for the Company and the Group, agrees these
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with the Supervisory Board and coordinates their im-
plementation. The Managing Board determines the in-
ternal corporate organization, decides on key
management positions and manages and monitors the
Group's business by planning and determining budgets,
allocating resources and monitoring and deciding on
key individual measures.

The members of the Managing Board are jointly respon-
sible for the entire management. Without affecting the
overall responsibility of all members of the Managing
Board, the individual members manage the areas as-
signed to them within the framework of the Managing
Board resolutions on their own responsibility. The distri-
bution of tasks among the members of the Managing
Board is set out in a written business allocation plan at-
tached to the rules of procedure of the Managing
Board.

The Managing Board as a whole makes decisions on all
matters of fundamental and material importance as well
as in legally or otherwise binding cases. The rules of
procedure of the Managing Board provide for a cata-
logue of measures that require discussion and decision
by the Managing Board as a whole.

In 2021, the Managing Board had two members. Mr. Mi-
chael Ruhl, Chairman of the Managing Board of Allane
SE, was responsible for group strategy and corporate
development, sales, marketing, operations, purchasing,
remarketing und human resources, until he resigned
from the Managing Board of Allane SE at his request
with effect from the end of 30 June 2021. Mr. Donglim
Shin was appointed to the Managing Board of Allane SE
as the new Chairman of the Managing Board with effect
from 1 July 2021 with the same areas of responsibility.
Mr. Bjérn Waldow, CFO of Allane SE, was responsible for
accounting, controlling, treasury & financing, investor
relations, risk management, internal audit, legal, compli-
ance and IT. With effect from 30 September 2021, Mr.
Bjorn Waldow resigned from the Managing Board of the
Company. With effect from 1 December 2021, Mr. Alvaro
Hernandez was appointed to the Managing Board of the
Company with the same areas of responsibility.

6.4.2 Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Allane SE consists of six
members following the expansion resolved by the Ex-
traordinary General Meeting of the Company on 10 De-
cember 2020 in accordance with article 10 (1) of the

71



B — Management Report on the situation of the Group and the company - Corporate governance declaration in accordance with

sections 289f and 315d of the HGB

Articles of Association. At present, the Supervisory
Board has five members.

All members are elected by the Annual General Meeting
in accordance with legal provisions and the provisions
of the Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board
has formed an Audit Committee at its meeting on

16 December 2021. There were no other committees
with decision-making powers as at the reporting date.

The Supervisory Board’s main tasks include the ap-
pointment of Managing Board members and supervi-
sion of the Managing Board. As a general rule, the
Supervisory Board adopts its resolutions at meetings.
On instruction of the Supervisory Board Chairman, res-
olutions by the Supervisory Board may also be adopted
outside of meetings (or by way of a combined resolu-
tion) by casting votes verbally or by telephone, in writ-
ing (section 126b BGB - German Civil Code) and/or by
using other means of telecommunication or electronic
media (article 14 (2) of the Articles of Association).
Moreover, a resolution may also be validly adopted by
aforementioned means without the instruction of the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board if no member ob-
jects (article 14 (3) of the Articles of Association). Res-
olutions of the Supervisory Board require a simple
majority of votes cast, unless otherwise mandatorily re-
quired by law (article 14 (7) of the Articles of Associa-
tion). The Supervisory Board's report contains further
details on the meetings and activities of the Supervi-
sory Board during the 2021 financial year.

The Managing and Supervisory Board cooperate closely
for the benefit of the Allane Mobility Group. The Manag-
ing Board in-forms the Supervisory Board regularly,
promptly and comprehensively on matters that are rele-
vant to the Company and the Group regarding strategic
planning, business development, the risk situation and
risk management as well as the results of internal revi-
sions. The Managing Board agrees the Company’s stra-
tegic orientation with the Supervisory Board and
discusses the implementation of strategy at regular in-
tervals. Documents required to make decisions, in par-
ticular the annual financial statements of Allane SE, the
consolidated financial statements, the management re-
port on the Group’s and the Company's situation, in-
cluding the auditors' reports, are forwarded to the
members of the Supervisory Board in good time before
the respective meeting. The rules of procedure of the
Managing Board provide for a catalogue of measures
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requiring approval, which must be submitted to the Su-
pervisory Board for approval.

6.5 Objectives of Supervisory Board and
implementation status

The Supervisory Board has resolved objectives regard-
ing its composition and developed a competence profile
for the entire Supervisory Board.

Accordingly, the Supervisory Board is to be composed
in such a way as to ensure qualified supervision and ad-
vice of the Managing Board by the Supervisory Board.
Overall, its members should have the knowledge, skills
and professional experience required to properly per-
form the tasks of a supervisory board in a capital mar-
ket-oriented, internationally active company in the
business areas of leasing for private and business cus-
tomers and fleet management.

6.5.1 Profile of competence

Overall, the Supervisory Board shall have the compe-
tencies that are considered essential in view of the ac-
tivities of the Allane Mobility Group. This includes, in
particular, in-depth experience in and knowledge of

m the management of a large or mid-sized international
company;

m the leasing and fleet management business;

m the fields of marketing, distribution and digitalization;

m the main markets in which the Allane Mobility Group
is active;

m bookkeeping and accounting;

m controlling/risk management and

m the area of governance/compliance.

In addition, in compliance with the requirements of sec-
tion 100 (5) of the AktG, at least one member of the Su-
pervisory Board must have expertise in the areas of
accounting or auditing.

6.5.2 Requirements for the composition of
the entire board and the individual members

First and foremost, the prerequisites for filling the seats
on the Supervisory Board are professional qualifications
and personal competence. The Supervisory Board will
always give priority to these prerequisites, which are in-
dispensable for the fulfilment of its legal obligations,
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when proposing the election of Supervisory Board
members.

Overall, the Supervisory Board pursues the goal of opti-
mally fulfilling its supervisory and advisory functions
through the diversity of its members. The diversity in-
cludes in particular internationality as well as different
horizons of experience and ways of life. In preparing the
election proposals or the proposals for dismissals, it
should be assessed in each individual case to what ex-
tent different, complementary professional profiles,
professional and life experience and an appropriate
representation of both sexes benefit the work of the
Supervisory Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board
will support the Managing Board in strengthening diver-
sity within the Company.

All members of the Supervisory Board shall have in-
depth knowledge and experiences in work areas that
are important for the Company and they shall meet the
other professional and personal requirements from the
applicable regulatory stipulations.

The Supervisory Board shall have at least two mem-
bers. These shall be experienced in the management or
supervision of a mid-sized to large corporation.

At least two members of the Supervisory Board shall
have business experience in the main sales markets of
Allane SE and be able to provide competent assistance
in Allane SE's continued internationalisation.

The Supervisory Board shall have a suitable number of
independent members. In the view of the Supervisory
Board, this is the case against the background of the
ownership structure of the Company if at least two of
the six Supervisory Board members according to the
Articles of Association are independent within the
meaning of the section C.1 of the German Corporate
Governance Code. The Supervisory Board will be
guided by these requirements in its election proposals.

Moreover, no one shall be proposed for election to the
Supervisory Board, whose other activities could mean a
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potentially material and not just sporadic or intermittent
conflict of interests.

The current composition of the Supervisory Board is in
accordance with aforelisted targets. In view of their dif-
ferent backgrounds and experiences, the members of
the Supervisory Board in their entirety with regard to
their different lives and horizons of experience repre-
sent the necessary diversity to do optimal justice to
their supervisory duty. In particular, the Supervisory
Board as a whole has the knowledge, skills and profes-
sional experience required to properly perform the
tasks of a Supervisory Board in a capital market-ori-
ented, internationally active company in the business
areas of fleet management and leasing for private and
business customers. All members of the Supervisory
Board demonstrate specialised industry expertise and
experiences in the Company's main sales markets due
to their previous professional activities and have expe-
rience in the management or supervision of a mid-sized
to large corporation. With Mr Dr Julian zu Putlitz, one
independent shareholder representative is represented
in the Company's Supervisory Board, the Supervisory
Board will follow the guidelines of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code when proposing candidates for
the other statutory Supervisory Board positions.

6.6 Diversity Concept

6.6.1 Managing Board

Overall, the Managing Board should have the compe-
tencies that are considered essential in view of the ac-
tivities of the Allane Mobility Group. In the opinion of
the Supervisory Board, these include:

m complementary professional profiles and different
professional and educational backgrounds;

m highest personal integrity;

m in-depth practical experience in dialogue with the
various stakeholders, including in-depth knowledge
of capital market requirements;

m profound experience in IT management and under-

standing of the increasing digitalisation of the busi-
ness model;
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m many years of experience in value-based strategy de-
velopment and change management;

m many years of experience in the management of large
companies;

m knowledge of accounting and financial management;
m solid knowledge of risk management;
m international experience and

m adequate representation of both sexes and different
ages.

As arule, the service contracts of the members of the
Managing Board should end when the standard age
limit for statutory pension insurance (currently 67 years
of age) is reached.

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, complementary
professional profiles and different professional and ed-
ucational backgrounds already result from the duty of
proper management. In addition, the different lives and
experiences of the individual members of the Managing
Board are decisive for analysing current challenges,
problems and strategies from different perspectives
and thus making a decision for the benefit of the Com-

pany.

In view of the increasing digitalisation of the business
model and the enormous relevance of modern IT struc-
tures for all areas of the Company, profound experience
in IT management and a profound understanding of dig-
italisation are indispensable in order to successfully
lead the Company into the future.

Many years of experience in the management of larger
companies, strategy development and change manage-
ment are decisive and indispensable elements of mod-
ern top management in the opinion of the Supervisory
Board. The Managing Board also requires sound practi-
cal experience in dialogue with the various stakehold-
ers, including in-depth knowledge of the requirements
of the capital market. In particular, the Supervisory
Board is of the opinion that successful corporate man-
agement requires consistent communication with the
lower management levels by the Managing Board.
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The Supervisory Board also strives for an appropriate
representation of both genders and different ages on
the Managing Board, as it believes that mixed-gender
teams achieve the same or better results than teams in
which only one gender is represented. However, as the
Managing Board currently consists of only two mem-
bers, the Supervisory Board believes that a strict quota
at this point would lead to a significant reduction in the
number of suitable candidates on the one hand and on
the other would call into question the future coopera-
tion with deserving members of the Managing Board
who are familiar with the Company.

The Supervisory Board takes into account the diversity
aspects described above when appointing members to
the Managing Board. In addition, the Managing Board
and Supervisory Board regularly exchange information
on suitable successor candidates and high potentials
from the Group in order to ensure the continuous fur-
ther development of promising talents.

6.6.2 Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board has drawn up a comprehensive
competence profile for its composition and formulated
detailed requirements for the composition of the entire
Supervisory Board and its individual members.

Accordingly, the Supervisory Board should have the
overall competencies that are considered essential in
view of the activities of the Allane Mobility Group.

The most important prerequisites for filling the seats on
the Supervisory Board are professional qualifications
and personal competence. The Supervisory Board will
consider these conditions, which are indispensable for
the fulfilment of its statutory obligations, when making
nominations for election of members of the Supervisory
Board.

The Supervisory Board also pays particular attention to
different, complementary professional profiles, profes-
sional and life experience and an appropriate represen-
tation of both sexes.

The Supervisory Board maintains that it does not define

an age limit or a rule limit for membership of the Super-
visory Board. The Supervisory Board also maintains
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that it will not set a target figure for the proportion of
women on the Managing Board and Supervisory Board.
The Supervisory Board is in the opinion that a strict
quota at this point would lead to a significant restriction
on suitable candidates on the one hand and on the
other would call into question the future cooperation
with deserving members of the Supervisory Board who
are familiar with the Company. With Mrs Hyunjoo Kim,
there is currently already one woman on the Supervi-
sory Board of the Company. The proportion of women is
thus 20%.

Overall, the Supervisory Board pursues the goal of opti-
mally fulfilling its supervisory and advisory functions
through the diversity of its members. The diversity in-
cludes in particular internationality as well as different
horizons of experience and paths of life. In preparing
nominations for election or nominations for second-
ments, the extent to which different, complementary
professional profiles, professional and life experience
and an appropriate representation of both sexes benefit
the work of the Supervisory Board shall be assessed on
a case-by-case basis.

In addition, the different lives and experiences of the in-
dividual members of the Supervisory Board are decisive
in analysing current challenges, problems and strate-
gies from different perspectives and making a decision
for the best of the Company. The Supervisory Board
pursues the goal of always being in a position to com-
petently advise and monitor the Managing Board and to
adequately acknowledge and accompany new develop-
ments in the industry.

The Supervisory Board takes into account the diversity
aspects described above when proposing candidates of
the election of Supervisory Board members. The Super-
visory Board also undergoes an annual efficiency re-
view. The audit focuses on the effective performance of
the tasks assigned to the Supervisory Board, including
the practicability of the procedural rules in the rules of
procedure of the Supervisory Board, as well as on the
efficiency of the work of the committees. In the future,
diversity aspects should also be taken into account to a
greater extent.
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7. Further disclosures on corporate
governance

Notification concerning directors' dealings
In the 2021 financial year, Allane SE has not been noti-
fied of any reportable purchase or sale transactions of
shares in Allane SE or of financial instruments relating
thereto by persons subject to reporting requirements
(directors' dealings or managers' transactions). Corre-
sponding notifications are published on the Company's
website ir.allane-mobility-group.com under ‘Directors
Dealings’

Determinations pursuant to sections 76 (4)
and 111 (5) AktG

In June 2020, the Supervisory Board has set the target
figure for the proportion of women on the Supervisory
Board and the Managing Board at 0%, and thus no tar-
get figure, in accordance with section 111 (5) of the
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and has decided
on an implementation deadline of 30 June 2023.

In 2017, in accordance with section 76 (4) of the AktG,
the Managing Board set the targets for the proportion
of women in the first management level below the Man-
aging Board to 20% and in the second management
level below the Managing Board at 30% and resolved
that both targets should be achieved by 30 June 2021.
In this context, domestic Group companies of Allane SE
were taken into account.

The target proportion of 20% women in the first man-
agement level below the Managing Board was missed.
This was mainly due to the high fluctuation in the Com-
pany, which prevented further women from being
placed in the first management level below the Manag-
ing Board. However, the target proportion of 30%
women in the second management level below the
Managing Board was achieved with 36%.

Furthermore, in 2021, the Managing Board again set the
target quotas for the proportion of women in the first
and second management levels below the Managing
Board at 20% (first management level) and 30% (sec-
ond management level) in accordance with section

76 (4) of the AktG and decided that both targets should
be achieved by 30 June 2026.
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Disclosures relating to the auditor

The ordinary Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2021
adopted the proposal of the Supervisory Board to ap-
point PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH,
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Munich, as auditor for
financial year 2021 for Allane SE and the Allane Mobility
Group.

Pullach, 14 April 2022
Allane SE

The Managing Board

Donglim Shin Alvaro Hernandez
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C - Consolidated financial statement — Consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income

C.1 - Consolidated income statement and
statement of comprehensive income

of Allane SE, Pullach, for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021

Consolidated Income Statement

Notes 2021 2020
Revenue 14.1/ 740,450 747,723
Other operating income 14.2/ 8,018 10,566
Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets 14.3/ 473,091 473,758
Personnel expenses 14.4/ 50,076 42,934
a) Wages and salaries 42,936 37,050
b) Social security contributions 7,140 5,884
Net losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets 14.5/ 3,190 6,103
Net impairment losses/gain from financial assets 14.6/ -788 2,084
Other operating expenses 14.7] 37,310 26,155
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) 184,013 211,422
Depreciation and amortisation expense 14.8/ 171,019 191,228
a) Depreciation of lease assets 161,773 187,140
b) Depreciation of property and equipment 4,177 2,478
c) Amortisation of intangible assets 5,069 1,609
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 12,994 20,194
Net finance costs 14.9/ -6,861 -11,081
a) Interest income 289 379
b) Interest expense -7,305 -11,283
c) Other net financial income 155 -177
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 6,133 9,114
Income tax expense 14.10/ 295 6,941
Consolidated profit /14.11/ 5,838 2,173
Of which attributable to shareholders of Allane SE 5,838 2,173
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (in Euro) 14.12/ 0.28 0.11
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Notes 2021 2020
Consolidated profit 14.11/ 5,838 2,173
Other comprehensive income (not recognised in the income statement) 1,915 2
Thereof components that could be reclassified to income statement in the future
Currency translation gains/losses 14.22/ 596 60
Change of derivative financial instruments in hedge relationship 1,670 -112
Related deferred taxes -373 12
Other change - -
Thereof components that will not be reclassified to income statement in the future
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 14.24/ 27 56
Related deferred taxes -5 -13
Total comprehensive income 7,753 2,175
Of which attributable to minority interests 1,296 -101
Of which attributable to shareholders of Allane SE 6,458 2,276
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C - Consolidated financial statement — Consolidated balance sheet

C.2 - Consolidated balance sheet

of Allane SE, Pullach, as at 31 December 2021

Assets
31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Notes 2021 2020
Non-current assets
Goodwill 14.13/ 4,300 4,293
Intangible assets 14.14/ 24,168 18,709
Property and equipment 14.15/ 25,148 14,374
Lease assets 14.16/ 995,378 1,092,535
Financial assets 26 27
Other receivables and assets 14.19/ 1,777 888
Deferred tax assets /4.10/ 814 797
Total non-current assets 1,051,612 1,131,623
Current assets
Inventories 14.17/ 38,488 52,527
Trade receivables 14.18/ 75,222 69,173
Receivables from related parties 490 1,461
Other receivables and assets 14.19/ 26,679 37,499
Income tax receivables 673 897
Bank balances 14.20/ 1,655 2,374
Total current assets 143,206 163,931
Total assets 1,194,818 1,295,553
Equity and liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

Notes 2021 2020
Equity
Subscribed capital 14.21/ 20,612 20,612
Capital reserves 135,045 135,045
Other reserves 14.22/ 63,795 57,750
Minority interests 14.23/ 740 -556
Total equity 220,192 212,851
Non-current liabilities and provisions
Provisions for pensions 14.24/ 237 232
Other provisions 14.25/ 226 226
Financial liabilities 14.26/ 314,651 671,693
Other liabilities 14.29/ 10,525 13,962
Deferred tax liabilities 14.10/ 34,343 36,383
Total non-current liabilities and provisions 359,982 722,496
Current liabilities and provisions
Other provisions 14.25/ 6,349 2,855
Income tax liabilities 2,303 1,077
Financial liabilities 14.26/ 490,109 264,201
Trade payables 14.28/ 65,675 47,849
Contract Liabilities /4.30/ 15,923 13,977
Liabilities to affiliated companies 14.27/ 23 21
Other liabilities 14.29/ 34,262 30,226
Total current liabilities and provisions 614,644 360,206
Total equity and liabilities 1,194,818 1,295,553

allane 80



C - Consolidated financial statement — Consolidated cash flow statement

C.3 - Consolidated cash flow statement

of Allane SE, Pullach, for the 2021 financial year

Consolidated cash flow statement

Notes 2021 2020

Operating activities
Consolidated profit 14.11/ 5,838 2,173
Income taxes recognised in income statement 14.10/ 2,731 2,917
Income taxes received/paid (net) -1,280 -1,144
Financial result recognised in income statement’ 14.9/ 6,861 11,081
Interest received 214 398
Interest paid -6,469 -12,140
Depreciation and amortisation 14.8/ 171,019 191,228
Income from disposal of fixed assets -21,012 -1,883
Other (non-)cash expenses and income -19,175 5,900
Gross cash flow 138,726 198,531
Proceeds from disposal of assets 290,264 268,891

thereof leasing assets 289,553 268,891

thereof fixed assets 711 -
Payments for investments in lease assets -315,842 -430,320
Change in inventories 14.17] 14,040 -2,528
Change in trade receivables 14.18/ -6,050 11,809
Change in trade payables 14.28/ 17,826 3,266
Change in other net assets 18,950 -8,553
Cash inflow from operating activities 157,913 41,096
Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and equipment 5 -
Payments for investments in intangible assets and equipment /14.14] to

14.15/ -16,098 -9,148

Acquisition of a business 14.13/ - -2,100
Cash outflow from investing activities -16,093 -11,248
Financing activities
Dividends paid -412 -18,550
Proceeds from bank loans (incl. ABS-transaction)? 14.26/ 10,360 380,685
Payments made for redemption of bonds, borrower's note loans and bank loans (incl. ABS-
transaction)®* 14.26/ -145,150 -408,766
Proceeds from current financial liabilities® 14.26/ 25,000 25,000
Payments made for current financial liabilities® 14.26/ -32,000 -9,000
Cash outflow from financing activities -142,202 -30,631
Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents -382 -783
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 35 3
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January -70 710
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December® 14.20/ -417 -70
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C.4 - Consolidated statement of changes in

equity

of Allane SE, Pullach, as at 31 December 2021

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Equity

attribut-

able to

share-

holders
of Allane  Minority Total
Other reserves SE interests equity

Currency
Subscribed Capital  Retained translation Other
capital reserves  earnings reserve equity

1 Jan. 2021 20,612 135,045 9,745 2,083 45,922 213,407 -556 212,851
Consolidated profit - - - - 5,838 5,838 - 5,838
Other comprehensive income - - - 596 22 619 1,296 1,915
Dividends paid - - - - -412 -412 - -412
Transfer to retained earnings - - 1,300 - -1,300 - - -
31 Dec. 2021 20,612 135,045 11,045 2,679 50,070 219,452 740 220,192
1 Jan. 2020 20,612 135,045 9,337 2,023 62,664 229,681 -455 229,226
Consolidated profit - - - - 2,173 2,173 - 2,173
Other comprehensive income - - - 60 43 103 =101 2
Dividends paid - - - - -18,550 -18,550 - -18,550
Transfer to retained earnings - - 408 - -408 - - -
31 Dec. 2020 20,612 135,045 9,745 2,083 45,922 213,407 -556 212,851

See also Notes \4.21\ to \4.23\
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C.5 - Notes to the consolidated financial
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1. General disclosures

1.1 Information about the company

Allane SE (former: Sixt Leasing SE), domiciled in Dr.-
Carl-von-Linde-StraBe 2, 82049 Pullach, Germany, is
registered in section B of the commercial register at the
Munich Local Court (Amtsgericht), under the docket
number 227195. The company was founded in 1975 in
Munich as ‘Central Garagen CG GmbH’ and has been
trading since 2003 under the name ‘Sixt Autoland
GmbH’ with its registered office in Garching close to
Munich. Sixt Group's operative leasing business has
been overseen by the ‘Sixt Leasing GmbH’ since 1988
and after its change of legal form into a stock corpora-
tion by the name ‘Sixt Leasing AG'. In 2004 ‘Sixt Leasing
AG’ merged with the previous ‘Sixt Autoland GmbH-’.
Subsequently ‘Sixt Autoland GmbH’ changed its legal
form to a stock corporation and continued to operate
under the name ‘Sixt Leasing AG". The Company floated
on the stock market in May 2015. By approval of the An-
nual General Meeting on 1 June 2016 ‘Sixt Leasing AG’
was transformed by way of changing the legal form ac-
cording to article 2 (4) in conjunction with article 37 SE-
Regulation to ‘Sixt Leasing SE’ On 25 July 2016 the
Company was registered in the commercial register.
The Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2021 resolved
to change the Company's name to "Allane SE". The new
company name "Allane SE" was entered in the commer-
cial register on 5 August 2021. The Company has been
established for an indefinite period.

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the ob-
ject and purpose of the Company is (a) the leasing
business relating to motor Vehicles and other road and
land Vehicles including, in particular, e-bikes and bikes
(hereinafter collectively “Vehicles”) and Vehicle acces-
sories as a lessor, (b) to otherwise grant use of Vehicles
against payment, (c) the administration of Vehicle fleets
and Vehicle accessories (Vehicle fleet management),
(d) the brokerage of purchase agreements, leasing
agreements, agreements regarding the grant of use
against payment as well as insurances relating to Vehi-
cles and Vehicle-related goods, (e) the exploitation of,
and the trade with, vehicles and spare parts, lubricants,
fuels, and process materials as well as vehicle accesso-
ries, (f) the performance and brokerage of mobility ser-
vices and Vehicle-related services; as well as (g) the
sale and distribution of online advertising spaces.
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The Company is entitled to carry out all transactions
and measures that are related to the aforementioned
activity areas or that are otherwise suitable to serve
the business purpose directly or indirectly.

The Company may establish branches and permanent
establishments in Germany and abroad, establish, ac-
quire or participate in other companies in Germany and
abroad, as well as establish, acquire or participate in
such companies in Germany and abroad and manage
such companies. The limits applicable to the business
activities of the Company shall also apply to the busi-
ness activities of subsidiaries and associated compa-
nies.

The Company may furthermore pursue its operations
fully or partially through subsidiaries or associated
companies. The Company is especially entitled to
transfer or assign partially or fully its operations to sub-
sidiaries or associated companies. The Company can
limit its business activities to one or specific purpose of
the aforementioned objects, and also to the activity of a
holding company and/or the administration of other
own assets.

At the reporting date, the Company’s subscribed capital
amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00. It is divided into
20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. All shares are no-par
value bearer shares. All shares have been fully paid up.

The Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE) holds
marginally more than 92% of the ordinary shares and
voting rights in Allane SE, making it the biggest share-
holder and parent company of Allane SE. HCBE is domi-
ciled in Frankfurt am Main and is a joint venture of
Santander Consumer Bank AG, Ménchengladbach, and
Hyundai Capital Services Inc., Seoul, Korea. The parent
company and ultimate parent of the Group that pre-
pares the consolidated annual financial statements for
the largest group of companies is Banco Santander
S.A., Santander, Spain. These consolidated annual fi-
nancial statements are published in the electronic Fed-
eral Gazette.

1.2 General disclosures of the consolidated
financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of Allane SE as at

31 December 2021 have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
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as adopted by the EU and the applicable commercial
law regulations according to section 315e (1) of the
HGB (German Commercial Code).

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared on the historical acquisition and production costs
basis. Excluded are certain financial instruments that
have been measured at fair value as of reporting date.
The appropriate explanations are given in the sections
entitled ‘Reporting and valuation methods’ and ‘Addi-
tional disclosures on financial instruments’.

The consolidated income statement has been prepared
using the total cost (nature of expense) method.

The Group currency of Allane SE is Euro (EUR). Unless
specified otherwise the amounts presented in the con-
solidated financial statements are in ‘EUR thousand’.
Due to rounding it is possible that individual figures in
these consolidated financial statements do not add up
exactly to the totals shown. For the same reason, the
percentage figures presented may not always exactly
reflect the absolute figures to which they relate.

The annual financial statements of Allane SE, the con-
solidated financial statements and the management

report on the Group’s and the Company’s situation are
published in the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

The following amendments and revisions to existing
standards became effective, where applicable, for the
Allane Mobility Group consolidated financial statements
as of 1 January 2021:

m Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

m Amendments to IFRS 16 — COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions after 30 June 2020

Amendment to IFRS 16 — COVID-19-Related Rent Con-
cessions after 30 June 2020: due to lack of relevance,
this amendment is not applied.

The amendments and interpretations had no or no ma-
terial impact on the financial position and financial re-
sults of the Allane Mobility Group.

The following new and/or amended standards/interpre-
tations have been ratified by IASB but are not yet man-
datory. The Company has not applied these regulations
prematurely:

Adoption by European

commission Applicable as at
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts Yes 1Jan. 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9—Comparative No 1Jan. 2023
Information
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current No 1Jan. 2023
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies No 1Jan. 2023
Practice Statement 2
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates No 1Jan. 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising No 1Jan. 2023
from a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Yes 1 Jan. 2022
Intended Use
Amendments to IFRS 3 Conceptual framework Yes 1Jan. 2022
Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions contingent liabilities and contingent assets Yes 1Jan. 2022
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sales or contributions of assets between an investor No Deferred
and its associate/joint venture indefinitely
Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions after 30 June Yes 1 Apr. 2021
2021
Annual Improvements Project Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Yes 1Jan. 2022

No material changes are expected from the application
of the other published new and/or amended standards
and interpretations. There are currently no plans to
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apply any of the new or amended standards and inter-
pretations prematurely.
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2. Consolidation

2.1 Consolidated companies

The scope of consolidated companies derives from the
application of IFRS 10 Consolidated financial state-
ments and IFRS 11 Joint arrangements.

Allane SE acts as an operative leasing company and as
parent company of the Allane Mobility Group. Allane SE
holds 100% shareholdings in the following subsidiaries
that are consolidated in the consolidated financial
statements:

m autohaus24 GmbH, Pullach/Germany

m Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, Pullach/Germany
(former: Sixt Mobility Consulting GmbH)

m Allane Services GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock/Germany
(formerly SXT Leasing Dienstleistungen GmbH & Co.
KG)

m Allane (Schweiz) AG, Urdorf/Switzerland (former: Sixt
Leasing (Schweiz) AG)

m Allane Mobility Consulting AG, Urdorf/Switzerland
(former: Sixt Mobility Consulting AG)

= Allane Location Longue Durée SARL, Rueil-Malmai-
son/Frankreich (formerly Sixt Location Longue Durée
SARL)

List of shareholdings:

m Allane G.m.b.H., Vosendorf/Austria (formerly Sixt
Leasing G.m.b.H.)

m Allane Mobility Consulting B.V., Hoofddorp/Nether-
lands (formerly Sixt Mobility Consulting B.V.)

Additionally, Isar Valley S.A., Luxembourg, in which the
Allane Mobility Group holds an equity interest of 0%, is
fully consolidated because of control according to IFRS
10. Control exists because the Allane Mobility Group
has power over the relevant activities of Isar Valley S.A.
due to the structure of Isar Valley S.A. and the operat-
ing activities of Isar Valley, Luxembourg are dependent
on the Allane Mobility Group. Furthermore, the Allane
Mobility Group is exposed to variable returns from
these activities, which it can affect.

The Allane Mobility Group furthermore holds interests
in the following companies, which due to their low oper-
ating activities have not been consolidated because of
their insignificance in the aggregate for the presenta-
tion of a true and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations as well as the cash
flows of Allane Mobility Group. The combined revenue
of these companies amounts to less than 1% of consoli-
dated revenue.

Equity

Domicile Equity interest Annual result
Allane Mobility Consulting Osterreich GmbH
(formerly Sixt Mobility Consulting Osterreich GmbH) Vosendorf/Austria -532,982 EUR 100.0% -91,409 EUR
Allane Mobility Consulting SARL
(formerly Sixt Mobility Consulting SARL) Rueil-Malmaison/France -1,044,838 EUR 100.0% -302,011 EUR
Allane Service Verwaltungs GmbH
(formerly SXT Leasing Verwaltungs GmbH) Rostock/Germany 26,418 EUR 100.0% -125 EUR

In accordance with section 264b of the HGB, Allane
Services GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock, is exempt from the
duty to prepare and publish annual financial statements
under the provisions applicable to corporations.

2.2 Changes in the scope of consolidation
Compared to the end of 2020, there have been no

changes in the scope of consolidation of Allane Mobility
Group.
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2.3 Consolidation Methods

The single-entity financial statements included in the
consolidated financial statements are uniformly pre-
pared in accordance with the IFRS accounting policies
applicable to the Allane Mobility Group as at the bal-
ance sheet date 31 December 2021. Where necessary,
the single-entity financial statements of the
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consolidated companies are adjusted to bring them into
line with the accounting policies used within the Group.

Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group
has existing rights that give it the ability to direct their
main activities. The main activities are the activities
that have a material impact on the profitability of the
company. Control thus exists if the Group is exposed to
variable returns from the relationship with a company
and its power over the relevant activities gives it the
opportunity to influence these returns. Generally, the
possibility of control is based on a direct or indirect ma-
jority of the voting rights by Allane SE. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the possibility of
control exists. They are no longer consolidated when
this possibility ceases to exist.

Business combinations are performed in accordance
with IFRS 3, which requires business combinations to
be accounted for using the acquisition method. Assets
and liabilities acquired must generally be recognised at
fair value. Any excess of the cost of the business com-
bination over the Group’s share of the net fair values of
the acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
(consideration transferred) is recognised as goodwill
and tested for impairment on a regular basis, and at
least once a year. The consideration transferred in-
cludes mainly the fair value of the assets transferred
(e.g. nominal values of means of payment). Acquisition-
related costs will be recognized as expenses when they
accrue.

The assets and liabilities from a business combination
which are recognised at their fair values are depreci-
ated or amortised over their applicable useful lives. If
they have an indefinite useful life, any need to recog-
nise impairment losses is determined using the same
method as for goodwill.

In the event that significant parts of a company are ac-
quired (asset deal) without an acquisition of shares,
IFRS 3 is to be applied as described above, if not only
an asset or a group of assets is purchased, but a busi-
ness operation (business). A business operation con-
sists of resource input and the applicable processes,
which can deliver services.

Joint ventures are recognised in accordance with the

at-equity method pursuant to the regulations in IFRS 11
as well as IAS 28.
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Intra-Group transactions are eliminated in the course of
consolidation. Significant receivables, liabilities and
provisions between consolidated companies are offset
against each other, and inter-company profits and
losses are eliminated. Intra-Group income is offset
against the corresponding expenses.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

The financial statements of consolidated foreign sub-
sidiaries are translated using the functional currency
concept. The subsidiaries’ functional currency is in each
case the local currency, as the subsidiaries operate in-
dependently in their respective markets. Assets and lia-
bilities are translated at the closing rate, equity at
historic rates. Income statement items are translated at
the average rates for the year. The resulting difference
as against the closing rate is recognised in the other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
currency translation differences.

Goodwill arising out of the acquisition of a foreign busi-
ness operation and any fair value adjustments to the
identifiable assets and liabilities will be treated as as-
sets and liabilities of the foreign operation and trans-
lated at the closing rate. The resulting differences from
translation are recognised in the currency translation
reserve.

The exchange rates (= EUR 1) applied for currency
translation purposes are shown in the table below:

Closing rate Average rate
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020 2021 2020
Swiss Francs 1.03310 1.08020 1.07988  1.07075
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3. Reporting and valuation methods

3.1 Income statement

Revenue

Towards its customers the Allane Mobility Group acts
essentially as lessor for leasing transactions classified
as operating leases. At the start of the leasing relation-
ship Allane Mobility Group checks all necessary criteria
under IFRS 16 to classify the leasing relationship ac-
cordingly. Leasing revenues are recognised pro rata
over the term of the respective leasing relation. Reve-
nue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and equals the amount to be ex-
pected for goods and services provided in the course of
ordinary operating activities. Revenue amounts gener-
ated at the start of the lease as special lease payment,
are deferred and recognised in profit and loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the leasing con-
tract term.

Allane Mobility Group has full-service contracts with
customers, which include lump-sum and constant pay-
ments for the full services during the contract period.
These full-service activities represent, for example,
maintenance and tyre change services. Revenue recog-
nition takes place at the point in time when the specific
service is provided. Until the time the service perfor-
mance obligation is satisfied, the customer's payments
are recognised as a contractual liability (down-payment
received). In the case of full-service maintenance and
tyre replacement (due to wear and tear), experience
shows that the specific service is only incurred at a
later point in time during the term of the contract, as
the Allane Mobility Group mainly leases new vehicles.
The longer the point in time at which the full service is
rendered is postponed, the greater the contractual obli-
gation becomes.

Although most leases are classified as operating leases,
the Group also concludes leasing agreements that are
classified as finance leases as substantially all risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership are transferred to
the lessee. Amounts due under finance leases are rec-
ognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
investment in the leases and are subsequently meas-
ured applying the effective interest method. Finance
lease income is split up into an interest portion and re-
demption payments on the receivable. Only the interest
portion is recognised through profit and loss. The
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finance income is allocated over the term of the lease
on a systematic and rational basis. Lease payments re-
lating to the period are applied against the gross invest-
ment in the lease to reduce both the principal and the
unearned finance income.

Vehicle sales are recognised when the vehicle is deliv-
ered and economic ownership is transferred, the
amount of the revenue and the costs still to be incurred
can be determined reliably and an incoming benefit to
the buyer is probable.

Net finance costs

Interest income and expense presented in net finance
costs are recognised on an accrual basis taking into ac-
count the outstanding loan amount and the applicable
rate of interest. The effective interest method is applied
for this.

Derivatives and hedging relationship

The Group designates individual financial instruments,
including derivatives, as part of cash flow hedges.
Hedge relationships are accounted in accordance with
IFRS 9.

The eligibility and details of the hedge relationship
between hedged item and hedging instrument as well
as the relevant risk management objectives and
strategies are documented at the start of hedge
accounting. In addition, both at the inception of the
hedging relationship and over the course of the
relationship, it is regularly documented whether the
hedging instrument designated in the hedge
relationship meets the requirements for hedge
effectiveness.

The effective portion of the change in the fair value of
derivatives, which are suitable for cash flow hedges
and which have been designated as such, is recognised
in other comprehensive income under the item
».Changes of derivative financial instrument in hedge
relationship”. The gain or loss from the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the net finance
costs. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive in-
come are transferred to the income statement during
the period in which the hedge underlying transaction is
also carried through profit or loss. They are recognised
in the same item of income statement that also list the
underlying transaction. The section titled ,,Additional
disclosures on financial instruments” provides details
on the fair value of the derivatives used for hedging.
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Financial accounting of the hedging relationship ends
when the hedging instruments expires, is sold or termi-
nated, or the instrument is no longer suitable for hedg-
ing. The full amount of gains or losses recognised in
other comprehensive income at this point in time and
accumulated in equity remains in equity and is only
recognised in the income statement when the ex-
pected transaction is also recognised in the income
statement. Once the forecasted transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
recognised in equity is directly transferred to the in-
come statement.

Derivatives are measured on initial recognition at fair
value and subsequently at the end of each reporting
period they are remeasured to their fair value. The fair
value of interest rate derivatives is determined by dis-
counting the expected future cash flows over the re-
maining term of the contract using the current yield
curves. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative has been des-
ignated as a hedging instrument.

The Group introduced hedge accounting for certain in-
terest rate derivatives, which are reported under non-
current other receivables and assets (previous year:
other non-current liabilities). The Group uses these fi-
nancial instruments to hedge cash flows from variable-
rate liabilities under the Asset Backed Securities pro-
gramme against changes to the underlying interest
rate.

The Company determines the economic relationship
between the hedged underlying item and the hedging
instrument to assess the effectiveness of the hedging,
based on the reference interest rate, the term, the vari-
able interest fixing period, the amortisation profile and
the due date as well as the notional amount.

The Company assesses the effectiveness of the hedg-
ing instrument's compensation for changes in the cash
flows of the hedged item by means of the critical terms
match method (prospective) and the calculation of inef-
fectiveness by means of cumulative dollar offset tests
under recourse of the hypothetical derivative method
(retrospective).

Ineffectiveness can occur mainly in case the market

value does not equal zero at the date of designation. In
the rare case of unexpected repayments from the asset
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backed securities programme, the hedging instruments
are de-designated accordingly to avoid over-hedging.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense is the aggregate of current tax ex-
pense and deferred taxes.

Current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the
taxable income for the year. Taxable profit differs from
the profit before taxes (EBT) reported in the Group's in-
come statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible only in later
years or that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred taxes are the tax charges and tax reliefs ex-
pected to result from differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and their tax base.

In accordance with the balance sheet liability method
as defined by IAS 12 Income taxes, deferred taxes are
recognised for all temporary taxable differences arising
from the deviations in the valuation of assets and liabili-
ties as against the corresponding tax base. Deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable prof-
its will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates and taxa-
tion laws that are expected to apply to the period when
the temporary differences reverse or the tax loss car-
ryforwards are used. Until changes to tax laws are rati-
fied, deferred taxes are measured at current tax rates.

Deferred taxes are recognised in the Group's income
statement, except where they relate to items not recog-
nised in the income statement. In this case the deferred
taxes are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority and when the Group intends to set-
tle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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3.2 Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill resulting from a business combination is car-
ried at cost less any necessary impairment and is pre-
sented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allo-
cated to those cash-generating units (or groups) of the
Group that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the business combination.

Those cash-generating units, to which a portion of
goodwill has been allocated, must be tested for impair-
ment at least annually. If the recoverable amount of a
cash-generating unit is smaller than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment costs is allocated
first to the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The recoverable amount is the higher value from
the value in use and the fair value less costs for selling
the asset.

Any impairment of goodwill is recognised directly in the
income statement. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period.

The annual impairment test is based on management'’s
planning of the cash generated unit. The planning as-
sumptions used to determine the value in use are
adapted annually to reflect current market conditions
and the Company’s results of operations. The model
used for the impairment test is based on the discounted
cash flow method, with a multi-year plan and a growth
factor of 1% taken as the basis in deriving a sustainable
figure. The discount rates (as weighted average cost of
capital, WACCs, pre-tax figures and growth discount)
used are currently around 3.2% to 4.1% (2020: between
3.7% and 4.0%). The assumptions used for the model
are based on external observations. In the opinion of Al-
lane, there are no reasonably conceivable change in the
underlying assumptions, on which the determination of
the recoverable amount is based, that would result in
the accumulated carrying amount of the cash-generat-
ing unit exceeding its recoverable amount.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include purchased and internally de-
veloped software, as well as any advance payments in
respect of intangible assets.
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Purchased intangible assets are reported at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Internally generated intangible assets are only
capitalised at production cost if the criteria set out in
IAS 38 have been met. If the capitalisation criteria have
not been met, the expenses are recognised in the in-
come statement in the year in which they are incurred.
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over a useful life of three to five years. In accordance
with IAS 36, intangible assets whose useful lives cannot
be determined or are generally indefinite are tested for
impairment on an annual basis and, where necessary,
written down to their fair value.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less
straight-line depreciation and recognised impairment.
Depreciation is taken so that the acquisition costs of
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their expected useful lives. The expected useful lives,
residual values and depreciation methods are re-evalu-
ated at the end of each reporting period and all neces-
sary changes in estimates are applied prospectively.

Depreciation is based on the following useful lives,
which apply uniformly throughout the Group.

Operating and office equipment 2 to 23 years

Property and equipment are derecognised either when
they are disposed of or when no further economic ben-
efit is to be expected from the continued use of the as-
set. The resulting gain or loss from the sale or
retirement of property or equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the car-
rying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of non-current non-financial
assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of property
and equipment and intangible assets as well as the
lease assets at each balance sheet date to determine if
there are any indications for an impairment of these as-
sets. If any such indications can be detected, the re-
coverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine the extent of the possible impairment ex-
pense.
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Leases

The Allane Mobility Group assesses at the commence-
ment date of the contract whether a contract is or con-
tains a lease. A contract is or contains a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an iden-
tified asset for a period of time in exchange of consid-
eration. The Allane Mobility Group acts both as lessor
and as lessee

Allane Mobility Group as lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases, if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. All
other leasing relations are classified as operating
leases. Allane Mobility Group also concludes buy-back
agreements with the supplier of the respective vehicle.
Considering all the facts and conditions relating to the
buy-back agreement and the Allane Mobility Group's
specific use of the vehicles during the period from ac-
quisition to final (self-) re-marketing of the vehicles,
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the vehicles remains with Allane Mobility
Group.

Assets leased out by the Allane Mobility Group as les-
sor under operating leases are carried in the balance
sheet at cost less straight-line depreciation considering
their calculated residual values. The duration of the
scheduled depreciation corresponds with the lease
term. The residual values are based on the buyback
value per vehicle type contractually agreed with the
suppliers. If no buyback values have been agreed, the
residual value is based on the estimated fair value. Esti-
mating the residual values necessitates assumptions
regarding the age and mileage of the vehicle at the time
of its disposal as well as the expected conditions on the
used vehicle market. This results in a market price risk
exposure, which is evaluated by the Group periodically
by estimating residual values and adjusting deprecia-
tion rates. Impairment losses are recognised in individ-
ual cases, if the carrying amount, which is based on the
originally calculated residual value, exceeds the carry-
ing amount expected prospectively at disposal. In ac-
cordance with IFRS 16, leased assets are reported
within the non-current assets section.

Lease assets that the Allane Mobility Group has leased
out as finance leases are recognised at the present
value of the contractually agreed payments as assets
under finance lease receivables. Lease payments are
apportioned between interest payments and
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repayments of the leasing receivable, to achieve a con-
stant periodic rate of interest on the receivable. Only
the interest portion is recognised through profit or loss.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Sale-and-Leaseback

To finance its lease assets the Allane Mobility Group
also undertakes sale and lease-back transactions. As
there is no sale in economic terms, the Allane Mobility
Group continues to recognize the vehicles in the item of
lease assets. The purchase price received represents a
financial liability. Leasing payments to the lessor are di-
vided up into an interest rate portion and a redemption
portion. Only the interest rate portion is recognised in
the income statement.

The respective leased out assets in operate lease con-
tracts are depreciated to their contractual residual val-
ues on a straight-line basis over the respective lease
terms. Impairment losses are recognised in the event
that an indication of impairment is given.

Allane Mobility Group as lessee

The Allane Mobility Group also acts as contractual les-
see in lease agreements relating in particular to rental
agreements for buildings The leases carry a term of up
to 25 years, but may also include renewal options. The
measurement of extension and termination options was
based on the findings at the time of first-time adoption
respectively at lease commencement date.

According to IFRS 16 right of use assets comprise the
initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement
day, less any lease incentives received and any initial
direct costs. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The capitalized
Right of use assets, resulting from leasing relationships,
have a remaining useful life of 10 to 288 month. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the com-
mencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit
in the lease. If this rate can not be readily determined,
Allane Mobility Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate. Except for short-term leases and leases of low
value. For these leases, the Allane Mobility Group rec-
ognizes the lease payments as operating expenses.
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For leases that were concluded before the date of first-
time adoption, the Allane Mobility Group decided not to
review again whether an agreement is or contains a
lease at the time of first-time adoption, but to retain the
previous assessment made under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

Some leases have variable lease payments linked to an
index or (interest-)rate. Any adjustments to the index
are recognised as addition during the current reporting
period and an estimate of possible index adjustments is
not included in the measurement of the lease liability.
Agreements including renewal options for which exer-
cise is deemed sufficiently certain, the underlying esti-
mated term of the lease includes the renewal. For
leases with a term of twelve months or less, the elec-
tion option was exercised, and their payments are rec-
ognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis. Leases without a written agreement and which
are of minor importance were classified as short-term
leases. Special termination rights on our part were not
considered likely to be exercised.

Inventories

The item inventories consist to the major part of vehi-
cles intended for sale. These are measured at amor-
tised costs, including incidental costs, and are regularly
compared with the estimated net realisable value. If this
is lower, an impairment loss is recognised.

Financial assets, other receivables and
assets

The financial assets consist of originated loans and re-
ceivables, equity instruments, purchased debt instru-
ments, cash and cash equivalents, and derivatives.
Financial assets are recognised when the Group has a
contractual right to receive cash or another financial
asset from another party. Purchases and sales of fi-
nancial assets are generally recognised at the settle-
ment date. Financial assets are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs if applicable. Transac-
tion costs incurred for the purchase of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised im-
mediately in profit or loss. Subsequent measurement is
based on the allocation of the financial assets to the
categories according to IFRS 9.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories: at fair value, with changes
recognised either through profit or loss or through
other comprehensive income and at amortised cost.
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Financial assets that are held for collection of contrac-
tual cash flows and those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Trade receivables, financial receivables and loans re-
ported in other assets, as well as cash and cash equiv-
alents are assigned to this measurement category.

Interest income from items in this category is calcu-
lated using the effective interest method unless the re-
ceivables are short-term and the effect of interest
accumulation is immaterial.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for sale, and whose cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
These are, in particular, debt instruments not held to
maturity. Changes in the fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value are
only recognised in profit or loss when the instrument is
disposed of. Interest income from these financial as-
sets is included in the net finance costs using the ef-
fective interest rate method. At present, the Group
does not report any debt instruments that are not held
to maturity.

Assets, that are not measured at amortised cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income, are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Equity in-
struments and receivables from derivatives reported in
other financial assets are assigned to this category.
Changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or
loss. The gain or loss resulting from the measurement
of derivative financial instruments is immediately rec-
ognised in profit or loss, unless the derivative is desig-
nated and effective as hedging instrument in a hedging
relationship (hedge accounting). In this case, the tim-
ing of the recognition in the income statement of the
measurement results depends on the type of hedging
relationship.

Financial assets, with the exception of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed at
each reporting date on the basis of expected credit
losses. The impairment method applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risks. For trade receivables and finance lease receiva-
bles, the Group applies the simplified approach,
whereby an impairment allowance in the amount of ex-
pected credit losses over the lifetime of the
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receivables is recognised for all instruments irrespec-
tive of their credit quality.

Some categories of financial assets, such as trade re-
ceivables, are tested for impairment on a portfolio ba-
sis. The portfolio-based assessment is carried out by
grouping together assets with similar risk characteris-
tics, such as customer group, customer creditworthi-
ness and transaction type to determine an impairment
provision reflecting the expected probability of default.

When assessing the portfolio-based impairment, the
Group uses in addition to management expectations,
the historical information on the timing of recoveries
and defaults, and makes necessary adjustments to re-
flect current and expected future economic conditions
that may affect the defaults.

In the case of financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the impairment loss corresponds to the differ-
ence between the carrying amount of the asset and
the net present value of expected future cash flows
determined on the basis of the original effective inter-
est rate of the asset.

An impairment of the affected financial assets is rec-
ognised in an impairment account (allowance account).
Changes in the carrying amount of the impairment ac-
count are recognised in the income statement.

When the Group considers that there are no realistic
prospects of recovering the asset, the relevant amount
is written-off.

The Group also derecognises a financial asset if the
contractual rights to cash flows from the financial as-
set expire or the financial asset and practically all the
opportunities and risks associated with the financial
asset are transferred to a third party.

3.3 Equity and liabilities

Equity

Equity includes other comprehensive income resulting
from exchange rate differences of consolidated entities,
for which the functional currency differs from the cur-
rency of the Group, reserve for derivative financial in-
struments in hedging relationship and actuarial gains or
losses from the remeasurement of defined benefit pen-
sion plans.
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Provisions for pensions

Provisions for pensions are measured using the pro-
jected unit credit method. The measurement is based
on actuarial valuations by independent third parties re-
lying on financial and demographic assumptions. The
assumptions are reviewed for appropriateness at each
balance sheet date.

The amount recognised as provisions for pensions in
the consolidated balance sheet is the current net liabil-
ity of the defined benefit plans of the Group. Service
costs are recognised in personnel expenses within the
consolidated income statement, while net interest in-
come is recognised as part of the finance costs. Re-
measurements of the defined benefit obligation, net of
tax are recognised in other equity. These amounts rec-
ognised in other equity are not recognised in the in-
come statement in the future.

Provisions

Adequate provisions are recognised for potential obli-
gations to third parties if these are attributable to a past
event, if utilisation is more likely than not and a reliable
estimate can be made of the probable amount of the
obligation. Such liabilities are only carried as provisions
if their amount is uncertain and payment to settle the
obligation is probable. The measurements are made
with the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties inherent
in the obligation. Where a provision is measured on the
basis of the estimated cash flows for meeting the obli-
gation, these cash flows are discounted if the impact on
interest is significant.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured on initial recognition
at their fair value and subsequently — with the excep-
tion of derivative financial instruments and contingent
consideration resulting from a business combination,
which are measured at fair value - according to the ef-
fective interest method at amortised costs less directly
attributable transaction costs, where applicable. Leas-
ing payments for liabilities to the lessor are divided up
into an interest portion and a redemption portion. Only
the interest portion is recognised as expense within
the net finance costs.
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3.4 Estimation uncertainties and
discretionary decisions

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, it is
often necessary to make estimates and assumptions
that affect both the items reported in the consolidated
balance sheet and the consolidated income statement,
as well as in the disclosures contained in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements. The amounts ac-
tually realised may differ from the reported amounts.
Changes are recognised in the income statement on the
date at which an improved knowledge is gained.

The estimates and assumptions made are outlined in
the disclosures on the individual items. The areas in
which amounts are most significantly affected are the
following:

Goodwill is measured on the basis of expected devel-
opments and estimated parameters, property and
equipment is measured on the basis of the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Lease assets are measured
based on the estimated useful lives of the vehicles and
taking into account the expected residual value of the
vehicle, lease assets intended for sale are measured on
the estimation of the expected net realisable value. For
classifying it is lease contracts the Allane Mobility
Group as a lessor, concludes that, for contracts with ex-
isting buy-back agreements with the supplier of the re-
spective vehicle, taking into account all relevant
circumstances and conditions, despite a residual value
guarantee, substantially all the risk and rewards inci-
dental to ownership of the underlying vehicles remains
with the Allane Mobility Group.

Valuation allowances are charged on receivables based
on an assessment of the expected credit risks, which
are based on management expectations. Derivatives
are valued using a calculation model based on yield
curves obtained from a market data platform. The need
for provisions is determined using the best estimate of
the most probable settlement amount of the present
obligation at the balance sheet date. Provisions for pen-
sions are based on actuarial valuations derived from fi-
nancial and demographic assumptions.

The regularly reviewed and recognised risk provisioning
for lease assets essentially represents provision for fu-
ture marketing at the end of the individual lease term of
the existing leasing contract portfolio as of the relevant
reporting date and has therefore not yet been realised
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as of the relevant reporting date. For measuring the risk
provisioning, Managing Board applies a model that uses
external industry expertise to predict future develop-
ments. As the current business development in the
marketing area of the Allane Mobility Group and other
companies on the market hardly indicates any corona
influences, the Management Board did not make any
additional allowance for possible future corona influ-
ences in the external industry expertise. In the previous
year, a post-model adjustment was made to the exter-
nal residual values due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As
the external residual values as of 31 December 2021 no
longer contain any significant negative Corona effects,
the Executive Board no longer made a post model ad-
justment. This approach is supported by the current
business development in the marketing area of the Al-
lane Mobility Group and the business development of
other companies on the market, which no longer indi-
cate any significant corona effects. However, due to the
unique nature of the COVID-19 pandemic and its uncer-
tain development, it is currently difficult to predict how
used car prices will develop in the future. The current
very positive price trend for used cars is also reflected
in the expected residual values that the Allane Mobility
Group receives from an external service provider and
was therefore used as a basis for the valuation of the
residual values. However, it is not possible to say with
certainty at present whether this positive price trend
will actually continue for the next years.

Trade receivables consist of lease instalments due im-
mediately or in the short term (operate lease) and re-
ceivables due immediately or in the short term from full
service, fleet management and vehicle sales. Further-
more, to a significant lower extent, finance lease receiv-
ables exist, which are substantially current receivables
as well. The Allane Mobility Group expects that any
payment difficulties and defaults due to the COVID-19
pandemic in the national economies and due to geopo-
litical developments and economic shortages of goods
and raw materials will only be felt in the medium to long
term, if at all. Due to the short-term nature of our re-
ceivables portfolio, the Allane Mobility Group do not
weight these scenarios when calculating the expected
credit loss. As part of our early warning, monitoring and
control measures, we have not yet identified any signifi-
cant direct impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our re-
ceivables portfolio. The receivables of our partners are
being continuously monitored and, if necessary, we are
taking short-term measures to keep our risk position
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low. An appropriate credit assessment process is in
place for new business in the future.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Allane Mobility Group has assessed the potential im-
pact of climate change and related future regulatory re-
quirements and taken them into account accordingly.
During the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, potential effects on non-current assets,
provisions and future cash flows were taken into ac-
count in significant estimates and assessments and in-
cluded as far as possible. Impairment tests of goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives were
performed on the premise of potential effects on plan-
ning and thus in deriving future cash flows. Further-
more, based on these developments, the need for
event-driven impairment tests or adjustments to useful
lives of other non-current non-financial assets is as-
sessed.

Based on the points presented here, there are no mate-

rial effects on the consolidated financial statements of
the Allane Mobility Group.
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4. Explanations and disclosures on
individual items of the consolidated

financial statements

4.1 Income statement

\4.1\ Revenue is broken down as follows:

Revenue
Germany Abroad Total Change

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 in%
Leasing Business Unit
Leasing revenue (finance rate) 175,339 193,600 24,087 22,872 199,427 216,473 -7.9
Other revenue from leasing business 117,009 140,079 16,344 16,698 133,353 156,776 -14.9
Sales revenue 275,618 251,805 16,711 17,087 292,329 268,891 8.7
Total 567,967 585,483 57,141 56,657 625,108 642,140 -2.7
Fleet Management Business Unit
Fleet management revenue 37,090 38,567 16,156 11,459 53,246 50,026 6.4
Sales revenue 62,095 55,557 - - 62,095 55,557 11.8
Total 99,185 94,123 16,156 11,459 115,341 105,582 9.2
Group total 667,152 679,607 73,298 68,116 740,450 747,723 -1.0

The Group is divided into the two segments, Leasing
and Fleet Management. These business units form the
basis of segment reporting. The main activities are bro-
ken down as follows:

Leasing Vehicle leasing including additional services for
companies as well as for private individuals and
sale of lease assets

Fleet- Fleet management services and sale of used

management customer vehicles

Leasing revenue (finance rate), other revenue from
leasing business and fleet management revenue are to-
gether described as ‘operating revenue’. Sales revenue
are not included in this item.

In the Leasing business unit, operating revenue com-
prises income from contractually agreed lease instal-
ments, as well as revenue relating to service
components such as repairs, fuel, tires, etc., as well as
revenue from the settlement of accident claims and
franchise fees.
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The leasing segment in general sells its vehicles di-
rectly and therefore repots all proceeds from the sale of
used vehicles under sales revenue.

In the Fleet Management business unit fleet manage-
ment revenue comprises revenue relating to service
components, contractual service fees and revenue from
settlement of accident claims. Additionally, the Fleet
Management segment reports revenue from the sale of
used vehicles bought from customers.

Revenues of the Allane SE Group include compensation
payments from third parties totalling EUR 6,247 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 8,309 thousand).

\4.2\ Other operating income in the amount of 8,018
EUR thousand (2020: 10,566 EUR thousand) include in-
come of EUR 1,093 thousand (2020: EUR 1,350 thou-
sand) from currency translation The corresponding
expenses from currency translation are included within
other operating expenses. This item also includes in-
come from cost allocations to third parties in the
amount of EUR 165 thousand (2020: EUR 254 thou-
sand), income from the reversal of provisions in the
amount of EUR 219 thousand (2020: EUR 535
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thousand) and income from own work capitalized in the
amount of EUR 3,358 thousand (2020: EUR 3,390 thou-
sand). The previous year's other operating income of
EUR 10,566 thousand was reduced by EUR 3,115 thou-
sand compared with the previous year's financial state-
ments and this amount was reported under other items.
Of the EUR 3,115 thousand, EUR 2,597 thousand was
recognized in the item net impairment losses/income
from financial assets and EUR 518 thousand in the item
net losses from derecognition of financial assets.

\4.3\ Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets are bro-
ken down as follows:

Fleet expenses and cost of
lease assets

Personnel expenses

2021 2020 Changein %
Wages and salaries 42,936 37,050 15.9
Social security
contributions 7,140 5,884 21.4
Group total 50,076 42,934 16.6

Average number of employees during the year:

2021 2020
Female employees 323 330
Male employees 392 363
Group total 715 693

The Leasing business unit employed 630 (2020: 606)
members of staff and the Fleet Management business

2021 2020 Changein%  pjt 85 (2020: 87) members of staff.
Selling expenses' 331,629 321,665 3.1
Fuel 41,898 46,305 —9-5  \4.5\ Net Losses arising from the derecognition of fi-
Repair, maintenance and . . . . :
recin(;momng 60,020 64,944 62 nanC|a.I asse.ts recognised in p.rofllt or loss: During the
Insurance 9,375 8,141 15.2 2021 financial year, the following income and expenses
External rent expenses 5208 4,543 146  Wererecognized in profit and loss in relation to impaired
Vehicle licenses and financial assets measured at amortised costs.
deregistration 4,392 6,786 -35.3
Transportation 4,323 5,395 -19.9 Net losses arising from the
Taxes and dues 3,107 3,083 08 derecognition of financial assets
Radio license fees 1,519 1,573 -3.4
Vehicle return expenses 3,234 4,267 -24.2 2021 2020 Changein %
Other expenses 7,477 7,057 6.0 Income from
Group total 473,091 473,758 -0.1 derecognized
" Including impairment gains on leased assets held for sale of receivables 1,014 518 95.8
EUR 1.2 million (2020: Impairment losses EUR 0.4 million) Expenses from
derecognized
\4.4\ Personal expenses raised from EUR 42,934 thou-  receivables ~4,204 ~6.621 -36.5
Group total -3,190 -6,103 -47.7

sand the year before to EUR 50,076 thousand in the
year under review, , due to the increase in the number
of employees in the Group compared to the previous
year. Social security contributions mainly include the
employer contributions to statutory insurance schemes
and the expenses for the defined contribution as well
as defined benefit pension plans. These mainly relate to
pension insurance amounts of EUR 2,947 thousand
(2020: EUR 2,583 thousand) primarily result from the
statutory German pension insurance. Expenses for de-
fined benefit plans are included in the amount of EUR
104 thousand (2020: EUR 101 thousand).
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This item was included in the income statement for the
first time in the financial year. The previous year's figure
of EUR 518 thousand (income from derecognized re-
ceivables) was reported in the prior-year financial
statements under other operating income. The prior-
year figure of EUR -6,621 thousand (expenses from de-
recognized receivables) was reported in the prior-year
financial statements under other operating expenses.

\4.6\ Net impairment losses/gains from financial assets
recognized in profit and loss: During the 2021 financial
year, the following gains/losses were recognized in
profit or loss in relation to impaired financial assets
measured at amortised costs.

97



C - Consolidated financial statement — Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Net impairment losses/gains from
financial assets

2021 2020 Changein %
Reversal of previous
impairment losses
on trade
receivables 810 2,597 -68.8
Impairment losses
on trade
receivables -50 -513 -90.3
Impairment losses
on receivables from
affiliate companies -1,548 0 > 100.0
Group total -788 2,084 <-100.0

This item was included in the income statement for the
first time in the financial year. The previous year's figure
of EUR 2,597 thousand (reversal of impairment losses)
was reported in the prior-year financial statements un-
der other operating income. The previous year's figure
of EUR -513 thousand (impairment losses) was re-
ported in the previous year's financial statements under
other operating expenses.

\4.7\ The following table contains a breakdown of other
operating expenses:

Other operating expenses

thousand the fees for the auditor of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements 2021 and consist entirely of fees for
audits. The consolidated financial statements of Allane
SE in the 2020 financial year recognised as operating
expense in the amount of EUR 265 thousand the fees
for the auditors of the consolidated financial state-
ments. The fees break down into audit costs (EUR 257
thousand), other assurance services (EUR 8 thousand).

IT expenses increased year-on-year to EUR 10,763
thousand. This increase is mainly due to the acquisition
by Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH. The IT services
previously provided by Sixt GmbH & Co. Autovermie-
tung KG will be provided by the company itself or by
other service providers in the future. The increase in le-
gal and advisory costs to EUR 14,379 thousand results
mainly from costs resulting from this litigation against
the Company.

The previous year's other operating expenses of

EUR 26,155 thousand were reduced by EUR 7,134 thou-
sand compared with the previous year's financial state-
ments and this amount was reported under other items.
Of the EUR 7,134 thousand, EUR 513 thousand was re-
ported under net impairment losses/income from finan-
cial assets and EUR 6,621 thousand under net losses
from the derecognition of financial assets.

\4.8\ Expenses for depreciation and amortisation in the

2021 2020 Changein %
Rental expenses for financial year are explained in more details below:
business premises 1,725 1,145 50.6
Other selling and marketing Depreciation and amortisation
expenses 4,164 4,715 -11.7 2021 2020 Changein %
Audit, legal, advisory costs,
and investor relations Lease assets 161,773 187,140 -13.6
expenses 14379 6491 >100 Property and equipment 4,177 2,478 68.6
Other personnel services 2,142 1,814 18.1 Intangible assets 5,069 1,609 >100
IT expenses 10,763 5,890 82.7 Group total 171,019 191,228 -10.6
Expenses for foreign
currency translation 959 1,297 -26.1 .
Miscellaneous expenses 3178 4.802 338 The depreciation of lease assets has decreased below
oroup total 37310 26155 226  brior year's level to EUR 161,773 thousand (EUR 187,140

Rental expenses for business premises include ex-
penses for short-term leases in the amount of EUR 352
thousand (2020: EUR 306 thousand). Total payments
made for leasing contracts in the 2021 financial year
amounted to EUR 9,491 thousand (2020: EUR
10,824thousand).

The consolidated financial statements of Allane SE rec-
ognise as operating expense in the amount of EUR 420
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thousand), mainly due to the lower level of leased as-
sets in the 2021 financial year and lower impairment
losses due to higher expected residual values at the
end of the lease term. Amortisation of intangible assets
increased due to the completion of internally developed
software and acquired software in the 2021 financial
year.

\4.9\ Net Finance costs have improved year-on-year
from EUR -11,081 thousand to EUR -6,861 thousand,
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mainly due to a more favourable refinancing of the
bonds repaid at the end of the 2020 financial year and a
generally lower financing volume.. The following table
contains a breakdown of the net finance cost:

Net finance costs

taxes) in accordance with IFRS. The income tax rate is
made up of corporation tax at 15% (2020: 15%) a soli-
darity surcharge of 5.5% (2020: 5.5%) as well as trade
tax a10.5% (2020: 10.5%).

Reconciliation of taxes

2021 2020 2021 2020
Other interest and similar income 230 342 Consolidated profit before taxes in
Other interest and similar income accordance with IFRS 6,133 9,114
from related parties 58 37 Expected income tax expense 1,613 2,395
Interest and similar expenses -7,049 -11,268 Effect of different tax rates outside
Interest and similar expenses for Germany -52 -47
related parties’ -256 -15 Changes in permanent differences 386 -
Other net financial result 155 =177 Changes in impairments -319 711
Group total -6,861 -11,081 Non-deductible operating expenses 183 76
Tax-exempt income - -
Income taxes from other periods
(current and deferred) 81 444
Interest expenses for lease liabilities amounted to EUR Change in tax rates -45 -
296 thousand in the 2021 financial year (previous year: Other effects 1,553 3,362
Reported tax expense 295 6,941

EUR 173 thousand).
The other net financial result mainly consists of the re-
alisation and ineffective portion of the hedging relation-

ships as well as the expense for investments.

\4.10\ Income tax expense comprises the following:

Income tax expense

2021 2020 Changein %
Current income tax for the
reporting period 2,731 2,917 -6.4
Deferred taxes -2,436 4,023 >-100
Group total 295 6,941 -95.8

The current income tax expense for the financial year
2021 of EUR 2,731 thousand (2020: EUR 2,917 thou-
sand) includes tax expense from previous years in the
amount of EUR 81 thousand(2020: tax income of EUR
444 thousand).

The following tax reconciliation explains the relation-
ship between the expected and effective tax expense
reported. The expected tax expense results from the
application of an income tax rate of 26.3% (2020:
26.3%) to consolidated profit for the period (before
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The other effects mainly relate to income from the first-
time recognition of deferred tax assets due to the non-
recognition of a provision in the tax accounts of Allane
SE.

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax without impact
on the income statement amounted to EUR 241 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 36 thousand). The change compared
to the previous year amounts to EUR 205 thousand
(2020: -101 thousand).

Deferred tax recognised in the income statement has
developed as follows:

Deferred taxes

2021 2020
From temporary differences -2,658 3,189
From loss carryforwards 221 834
Group total -2,436 4,023

The following overview outlines the sources of the de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities:
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Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

Lease assets 366 482 32,653 29,161
Receivables 66 311 398 1,537
Other assets 76 687 6,639 8,012
Other liabilities 7,069 3,684 2,225 2,628
Tax loss carryforwards 810 588 - -
8,387 5,752 41,915 41,338

Offsetting -7,573 4,955 -7,573 4,955
Group total 814 797 34,342 36,383

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are off-
set, if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off the current income tax assets against current in-
come tax liabilities and they relate to income taxes lev-
ied by the same tax authority.

On the unused corporate tax losses carried-forward of
EUR 12,158 thousand (2020: EUR 10,909 thousand) no
deferred tax assets were recognised in respect of EUR
8,910 thousand (2020: EUR 8,551 thousand) and on the
unused trade tax losses carried-forward of EUR 8,063
thousand (2020: EUR 8,456 thousand) no deferred tax
assets were recognised for EUR 4,816 thousand (2020:
EUR 7,436 thousand). The loss carry-forwards for
which deferred tax assets have been recognised are
expected to be used during the five-year planning pe-
riod. The losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

The development of deferred tax liabilities on lease as-
sets has resulted from the increasing difference be-
tween the IFRS carrying amount and the tax base value.

There were no deductible temporary differences in the
financial year for which no deferred taxes were recog-
nised (2020: 0 EUR thousand).

The temporary differences taxable upon realization in
connection with interests held in the Group's subsidiar-
ies and for which no deferred tax liabilities were recog-
nised in the reporting periods presented amount to EUR
1,356 thousand (2020: EUR 807 thousand).

\4.11\The Consolidated profit amounts to EUR 5,838
thousand (2020: EUR 2,173 thousand). As in the previ-

ous year minority interests are not to be considered.

In the previous year a dividend of EUR 0.02 per ordi-
nary share was paid. This corresponds to a total
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distribution to shareholders in the amount of EUR
412 thousand, recognised in the financial year.

The dividend proposal for the financial year 2021 is a
dividend of EUR 0.06 per ordinary share. This corre-
sponds to an estimated total distribution of EUR 1,237
thousand for the year under review. The proposed divi-
dend is dependent upon a corresponding resolution be-
ing passed by the Annual General Meeting and was not
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements. The exact dividend proposal is subject to
the approval of the supervisory board and will be pub-
lished with the agenda for the 2022 Annual General
Meeting, taking into account any expectations of the
supervisory authorities in this respect.

\4.12\Earnings per share are as follows:

2021 2020

Consolidated profit in EUR

thou. 5,838 2,173
Profit attributable to in EUR
shareholders of Allane SE thou. 5,838 2,173
Weighted average number of
shares 20,611,593 20,611,593
Earnings per share - basic and
diluted in EUR 0.28 0.11

The basic earnings per share is determined by dividing
the parent’s share of earnings after taxes to the
weighted average number of shares during the current
financial year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated
on the basis of conversion of all dilutive instruments
into ordinary shares.

There were no financial instruments outstanding over
the financial year that could cause dilutive effects.
Therefore, the diluted earnings per share correspond in
the amount to the basic earnings per share.
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4.2 Balance Sheet

Assets

\4.13\ bis \4.16\ The changes in the Group’s non-current

assets (without financial assets) are shown below:

Consolidated statement of
changes in non-current assets

Acquisition and production costs

Foreign
exchange 31 Dec.

1Jan. 2021 differences Additions Disposals Transfers 2021
Goodwill 4,293 7 - - - 4,300
Purchased software 3,705 - 5,802 - - 9,507
Internally developed software 17,466 - - 484 8,879 25,861
Internally developed software in
progress 5,076 - 4,503 - -8,879 700
Payments on account of software - - 222 - - 222
Intangible assets 26,247 - 10,527 484 - 36,290
Right of use assets 13,978 59 10,166 59 - 24,144
Operating and office equipment 7,192 11 5,571 2,019 622 11,377
Property and equipment 21,169 71 15,737 2,078 622 35,521
Lease assets 1,307,667 2,508 315,842 430,365 -622 1,195,030
Total 1,359,376 2,586 342,106 432,927 - 1,271,141
Consolidated statement of
changes in non-current assets

Acquisition and production costs
Foreign
exchange 31 Dec.

1Jan. 2020 differences Additions Disposals Transfers 2020
Goodwill 2,313 1 1,979 - - 4,293
Purchased software 3,474 - 231 - - 3,705
Internally developed software 5,592 - -0 11,873 17,466
Internally developed software in
progress 9,349 - 7,600 -11,873 5,076
Intangible assets 18,415 - 7,831 -0 - 26,247
Right of use assets 13,766 6 1,654 -1,449 - 13,978
Operating and office equipment 3,476 -1 1,438 7 2,286 7,192
Property and equipment 17,241 5 3,093 1,456 2,286 21,169
Lease assets 1,344,602 281 430,320 465,250 -2,286 1,307,667
Total 1,382,572 287 443,222 466,706 - 1,359,376

allane

101



C - Consolidated financial statement — Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Depreciation/Amortisation
Depreciation/

Carrying amounts

Foreign ~ Amortisation
exchange in the financial
1 Jan. 2021 differences year Disposals Transfers 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020
- - - - - - 4,300 4,293
3,470 - 313 - - 3,783 5,724 235
4,067 - 4,756 484 - 8,340 17,521 13,398
- - - - - - 700 5,076
- - - - - - 222 -
7,538 - 5,069 484 - 12,123 24,168 18,709
3,802 16 2,622 - - 6,440 17,704 10,175
2,993 _ 6 1,555 819 196 3,932 7,444 4,199
6,795 22 4,177 819 196 10,372 25,148 14,374
215,132 i 660 161,773 177,716 -196 199,652 995,378 1,092,535
229,465 : 682 171,019 179,019 - 222,147 1,048,994 1,129,911
Depreciation/Amortisation Carrying amounts
Depreciation/
Foreign Amortisation
exchange in the financial 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
1 Jan. 2020 differences year Disposals Transfers 31 Dec. 2020 2020 2019
- - - - - - 4,293 2,313
3,459 - 11 - - 3,470 235 15
2,469 - 1,598 - - 4,067 13,398 3,123
- - - - - - 5,076 9,349
5,928 - 1,609 - - 7,538 18,709 12,487
1,809 -0 1,993 - - 3,802 10,175 11,956
1,849 0 485 4 663 2,993 4,199 1,626
3,659 -0 2,478 4 663 6,795 14,374 13,583
224,932 86 187,140 196,364 -663 215,132 1,092,535 1,119,670
234,519 86 191,228 196,368 - 229,465 1,129,911 1,148,053
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\4.13\ Goodwill amounting to EUR 4,300 thousand
(2020: EUR 4,293 thousand) resulted from consolida-
tion of the companies autohaus24 GmbH, Pullach, Al-
lane Mobility Consulting AG, Urdorf (formerly Sixt
Mobility Consulting AG), both acquired in 2016, and the
company Flottenmeister GmbH, Pullach, included in the
2019 financial year, which was merged with Allane Mo-
bility Consulting GmbH (formerly Sixt Mobility Consult-
ing GmbH) in the 2020 financial year. In the 2020
financial year, material parts of the business operations
of SL Car Sales GmbH, Garching, were acquired as well
as assets and contracts affiliated with this business op-
eration. As in the year before, no impairment losses
were recognised for them in the financial year.

\4.14\ Intangible assets include internally developed
software amounting to EUR 17,521 thousand (2020: EUR
13,398 thousand) and purchased software amounting
to EUR 5,724 thousand (2020: EUR 235 thousand). It
also includes advance payments in respect of internally
developed software amounting to EUR 700 thousand
(2020: EUR 5,076 thousand).

\4.15\ The item Property and equipment includes oper-
ating and office equipment (mainly Company cars, IT
systems, fixtures and fitting and office equipment) in
the amount of EUR 7,444 thousand (2020: EUR 4,199
thousand), as well as right-of-use assets (mainly prop-
erties) in the amount of EUR 17,704 thousand (2020:
EUR 10,175 thousand). In the 2021 financial year, a new
lease agreement was concluded for a new remarketing
location in Berlin-Ludwigsfelde, which essentially led to
an increase in right-of-use assets.

\4.16\ Lease assets decreased to EUR 995.4 million
(2020: EUR 1,092.5 million). The Group as lessor pri-
marily leases out vehicles of various brands, mainly un-
der full-service lease agreements. The outstanding
lease payments from operating lease contracts are
spread over the following years:
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Operating Leases

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2021 2020

2021 171,996
2022 155,774 106,285
2023 91,433 48,857
2024 39,655 12,218
2025 11,570 928
2026 1,246 1
2027 and later 33 0
299,711 340,286

The amounts stated contain only the lease instalments
without service components. The fixed-term agree-
ments usually contain agreements on the vehicles’ mile-
age. The resulting contingent lease payments
recognised as income in the current financial year
amounted to EUR -3.5 million (2020: EUR -0.5 million).
In addition to these, the Group estimated calculated re-
sidual values covered by buyback agreements in the
amount of EUR 163 million (2020: EUR 215 million) and
further calculated residual values not covered by third
parties in the amount of EUR 613 million (2020: EUR
637 million). Impairment losses of EUR 0.7 million
(2020: EUR 4.5 million) were recognised on lease as-
sets in the year under review.

As of the reporting date 31 December 2021 lease as-
sets of EUR 33.7 million (2020: EUR 47.6 million) are
pledged as collateral to banks. Furthermore, lease as-
sets was assigned as a security as part of the ABS-pro-
gram in the amount of EUR 463.4 million (2020: EUR
558.6 million).

Certain lease vehicles were refinanced under finance
lease agreements having the same maturities as the
lease vehicles (Sale and Leaseback-transactions until
31 Dec. 2018). These agreements were structured in a
way that the refinanced vehicles remain attributable to
the Group. As at 31 December 2021, there were no more
Sale and Leaseback-transactions (2020: EUR

2.8 million). The agreements have a residual value of up
to three years and provide for full amortisation. The ob-
ligations arising from these were reported under finan-
cial liabilities in the previous year.

\4.17\ Inventories consist mainly of lease assets in-

tended for sale in the amount of EUR 38,488 thousand
(2020: EUR 52,527 thousand).
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\4.18\ Trade receivables result almost exclusively from
services invoiced in the course of leasing and fleet
management business and from vehicle deliveries. Val-
uation allowances were recognised for expected credit
losses.

\4.19\ Other receivables and assets can be broken
down as:

Other receivables and assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
Financial other receivables and
assets
Finance lease receivables 1,542 6,510
Interest rate swap 788 23
Miscellaneous assets 12,159 14,346
Non-financial other receivables and
assets
Other tax receivables 783 3,173
Insurance claims 8,396 8,636
Deferred expense 4,787 4,928
Claims for vehicle deliveries - 771
Group total 28,455 38,387
thereof current 26,679 37,499
thereof non-current 1,777 888

The finance lease receivables result from lease agree-
ments with customers that are classified as finance
leases. The interest rate implicit in the leases is fixed at
the inception of the lease for the entire term. The
agreements partly contain put options on the part of
the Group as lessor. The valuation allowance on finance
lease receivables amounted to EUR 0,0 million (previous
year EUR 0,0 million) in total. The outstanding lease
payments from finance lease contracts are spread over
the following years as follows:

Finance leases

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
2021 5,787
2022 716 579
2023 617 207
2024 314 66
2025 35 4
2026 11 0
2027 and later 0 0
1,693 6,642
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Miscellaneous assets mainly include volume bonus re-
ceivables from suppliers and service providers.

Deferred expenses consist mainly of advance payments
made for future licenses and other services, advance
payments for product-related insurance and vehicle
taxes, and bonus payments made to customers relating
to the entire period of the lease.

\4.20\ Bank balances of EUR 1,655 thousands (2020:
EUR 2,374 thousands) include short-term deposits at
banks with terms of up to one month. On 31 December
2021 the position reduced about current bank liabilities,
including in the financial liabilities, in the amount of EUR
2,072 thousand corresponding the total liquid funds in
the cash flow statement. On 31 December 2020 the po-
sition reduced about current bank liabilities, including in
the financial liabilities, in the amount of EUR 2,444
thousand corresponding the total liquid funds in the
cash flow statement.

Equity and liabilities

The Allane Mobility Group’s equity increased year-on-
year to a total of EUR 220,192 thousand (2020:

EUR 212,851 thousands). Therein, the subscribed capi-
tal of Allane SE amounted unchanged to EUR 20,612
thousand.

\4.21\ Subscribed capital of Allane SE

Share capital

No-par Nominal No-par Nominal
value value value value
shares in EUR shares in EUR
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
Ordinary
shares 20,611,593 20,611,593 20,611,593 20,611,593
Total 20,611,593 20,611,593 20,611,593 20,611,593

The share capital is fully paid up. The subscribed capi-
tal of Allane SE as of 31 December 2021 amounts to a
total of 20,611,593.00 euros and is divided into
20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The shares of the
Company are no-par value shares with a pro-rata
amount of subscribed capital of EUR 1.00 per share.
The shares are fully paid in. The rights and obligations
of the shareholders are set out in detail in the provi-
sions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), in
particular sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and 186
AktG.
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Conditional capital

In accordance with section 4 (4) of the Articles of As-
sociation, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting
of 1 June 2016, the Company's share capital is condi-
tionally increased by up to a total of EUR 4,122,318.00
(Conditional Capital 2016). The Conditional Capital
2016 serves the purpose of granting shares to the hold-
ers and/or creditors of convertible bonds as well as the
holders of option rights from option bonds. Further de-
tails follow from the aforementioned article of the Arti-
cles of Association.

In addition, the Company's share capital has been con-
ditionally increased by a total of up to EUR 1,000,000.00
(Conditional Capital 2017) in accordance with section 4
(5) of the Articles of Association by resolution of the
Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2017. Conditional
Capital 2017 is used to service the stock option pro-
gramme 2017 and will only be effected to the extent
that subscription rights are issued under the stock op-
tion programme 2017 and the holders of the subscrip-
tion rights make use of their exercise rights. Further
details follow from the aforementioned article of the Ar-
ticles of Association.

Authorisation to issue convertible bonds
and/or bonds with warrants

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 1 June
2016, the Managing Board was authorised, with the
consent of the Supervisory Board, to issue bearer
and/or registered convertible bonds and/or bonds with
warrants on one or more occasions up to and including
31 May 2021 for a total amount of up to EUR
200,000,000.00 with a limited or unlimited term and to
grant the holders or creditors of bonds conversion or
option rights to subscribe to a total of up to 4,122,318
new no-par value bearer shares of Sixt Leasing SE with
a total proportionate amount of the share capital to a
total of up to EUR 4,122,318.00 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the convertible bonds or bonds
with warrants. A corresponding issue and granting did
not take place in the 2021 financial year.
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\4.22\ Retained earnings

Retained earnings

2021 2020
Balance as at 1 Jan. 9,745 9,337
Transfer to retained earnings 1,300 408
Balance as at 31 Dec. 11,045 9,745
\4.22\ Currency translation reserve
Currency translation
reserve

2021 2020
Balance as at 1 Jan. 2,083 2,023
Differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 596 60
Balance as at 31 Dec. 2,680 2,083
\4.22\ Other Equity
Other equity

2021 2020
Balance as at 1 Jan. 45,922 62,664
Consolidated profit 5,838 2,173
Dividends paid -412  -18,550

Other comprehensive income 22 43
Transfer to retained earnings -1,300 -408
50,070 45,922

Balance as at 31 Dec.

Other equity mainly includes the consolidated unappro-
priated profit and the revaluation reserve from the initial
transition to IFRS accounting.

\4.23\ Minority interests relate to the subscribed capital
of Isar Valley S.A., Luxembourg, in which Allane Mobility
Group holds no capital interest. Minority interest has
decreased in the year under review from EUR -556
thousand to EUR 740 thousand due to the effective
portion of the hedging relationship recognised in the
other comprehensive income.

Liabilities and provisions
\4.24\ Provisions for pensions amount to EUR 237 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 232 thousand).

Pension schemes in the Allane Mobility Group contain
mainly defined contribution pension plans under statu-
tory pension insurance. In Switzerland each employer is
required by law to provide post-employment benefits
schemes against the economic risks of retirement,
death and invalidity to entitled employees. Therefore,

105



C - Consolidated financial statement — Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Allane offers its Swiss employees funded defined bene-  The reports use the following actuarial assumptions:
fit plans, which are managed by an external pension

fund. The pension fund is responsible for the invest- Actuarial assumptions

ment policy and asset management, as well as for all 2021 2020
changes in the plan conditions and the determination of  piscount rate 0.3 0.2
contributions to finance the benefits. In case of under- Assumed salary increase 0.5 0.5
funding the pension fund can raise additional contribu- Assumed pension increase - -
tions from employers and employees. Mortality table BVG 2020 GT BVG 2015 GT
The valuation of the provisions for pensions relies on The following table shows the development of the de-
actuarial reports. fined benefit pension plan:

Development of defined benefit pension plans

Defined benefit obligations Net balance of defined

(DBO) Fair value of plan assets benefit obligations

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 Jan. 1,040 1,081 807 821 232 260

Additions for previous years - - - - - -
Current service costs 104 101 - - 104 101

Past service cost and plan compensation - - - - - -

Net interest costs of defined benefit

obligations 2 1 1 1 0 0

Expenses recognised in the

consolidated income statement 106 102 1 1 104 101

Gain/loss on plan assets - - 97 30 -97 -30

Actuarial gains/losses - - - - - -
Experience gains/losses 90 -20 - - 90 -20
Changes in demographic assumptions -70 - - - -20 -
Changes in financial assumptions -20 -6 - - -70 -6

Remeasurement for defined benefit
obligations recognised in other

comprehensive income -0 -26 97 30 -98 -56
Employer contributions - - 82 74 -82 -74
Plan participants' contributions 82 74 82 74 - -
Benefits paid 129 -197 129 -197 - -
Foreign currency translation effects 62 6 55 4 7 2
Other reconciling items 273 -117 348 -45 -75 -73
Balance as at 31 Dec. 1,418 1,040 1,254 807 164 232
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit As at balance sheet date, the plan assets are attributa-
obligation was around 16 years (2020: 19 years). Em- ble to other assets without quoted market prices.

ployer contributions expected to be paid for defined
benefit obligations in the 2021 financial year amount to
EUR 89 thousand.

The pension scheme is provided through an external
pension fund, which manages the plan assets.
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Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis assumes in each case a parallel
shift of half a percentage point.

This would result in the changes of values of the re-
ported defined benefit obligations presented in the fol-
lowing table:

Sensitivity analysis of defined benefit obligations
Changes in the defined benefit obligations Changes in the defined benefit obligations

2021 2020

+0.5 -0.5 +0.5 -0.5

percentage points percentage points percentage points percentage points

Discount rate -50 59 -44 53
Assumed salary increase 6 -11 7 -12
Assumed pension increase 37 -35 30 -29

The decrease/increase of the life expectancy in the as-
sumptions by one year respectively would result in a
change of the defined benefit obligations by EUR =17
thousand / EUR 19 thousand (2020: EUR -12 thousand /
EUR 14 thousand).

\4.25\ The obligations reported in the financial year un-
der other provisions are expected to be settled in the
amount of EUR 6,349 thousand within one year and in
the amount of EUR 226 thousand between one and five
years. Other current provisions mainly comprise provi-
sions for personnel-related matters, provisions for liti-
gation arising from revocations of lease agreements in
the second instance, and provisions for warranties. The
increase is mainly attributable to provisions for legal
disputes arising from revocations of lease contracts.

Financial liabilities

Residual term of up to 1

Other provisions
Personnel Miscellan

eous Total
Balance as at 1 Jan. 2,176 905 3,081
Additions 2,773 3,426 6,200
Reversals -219 - -219
Utilised -1,812 -678 -2,490
Foreign exchange differences 4 - 4
Balance as at 31 Dec. 2,922 3,653 6,575
thereof non-current - 226 226
thereof current 2,922 3,427 6,349

\4.26\ Financial liabilities comprise liabilities from
bonds, bank loans as well as liabilities from an asset
backed securities programme and in previous year
finance lease liabilities for refinancing the lease assets.

Residual term of 1to 5 Residual term of more than

year years 5 years

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Bonds 249,691 - - 248,840 - -
Liabilities to banks 235,264 252,811 298,955 414,595 - -
Lease liabilities 2,394 5,054 6,182 6,496 9,515 1,761
Other liabilities 2,759 6,335 - - - -
Group total 490,109 264,201 305,136 669,931 9,515 1,761

The bonds include a EUR 250 million unsecured bond
issued on the capital market in May 2018 with a nominal
interest rate of 1.50% p.a. and a maturity of four years.
The bond was repaid early on 2 February 2022. Refi-
nancing was done especially through the Asset Backed
Securities Program and credit lines granted by Santan-
der Consumer Bank AG.
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Liabilities to banks, reported as at 31 December 2021,
with a residual term of one to five years, result from an
asset backed securities programme, which the Allane
Mobility Group has set up to refinance leasing con-
tracts. The programme comprises a financing volume of
EUR 500 million. Under the programme variable interest
rate liabilities are taken out, which are redeemable
based on the amortisation schedule of the lease con-
tract portfolio.
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The loans are recognised initially at fair value, less di-
rectly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent meas-
urement is carried out at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. To mitigate interest rate risks
the company concluded interest rate swap agreements
over the amortisation period of the related lease con-
tract portfolio. Furthermore, loans from Santander Con-
sumer Bank AG in the amount of EUR 100 million drawn
from granted credit lines are included.

Liabilities to banks, with a residual term of up to one
year, include short-term borrowings at variable interest
rates taken out by utilising the credit lines available to
the Group, as well as the current portion of liabilities
from the asset backed securities programme.

Reconciliation of financial liabilities

The liabilities to banks have been secured by transfer-
ring ownership of assets.

Other liabilities include mainly financing with other fi-
nancing partners and accrued interests.

In 2020 sale and leaseback transactions concluded was
recognised under other financial liabilities. These finan-
cial liabilities are secured by a retention of title by the
financing partner for the financed assets. The reconcili-
ation of current and non-current financial liabilities is
outlined below:

2021 2020

Balance as at 1 Jan. 935,893 948,211
Net change in cash flows -148,259 -24,221
Other non-cash movements 17,498 11,390
thereof interest expenses 7,352 11,095
thereof lease liabilities 10,146 295
Change in bank overdrafts (cash and cash equivalents) -372 513
Balance as at 31 Dec. 804,760 935,893

\4.27\ The liabilities to related parties relate mainly to
the current transactions with affiliates companies of the
Allane SE, which are not included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of Allane SE.

\4.28\ Trade payables comprise current liabilities aris-
ing from deliveries to the Group, mainly from the pur-
chase of vehicles for the lease fleet, and other
purchases in the course of operating activities.

allane

\4.29\ Other liabilities are broken down as follows:

Other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
Financial other liabilities

Interest rate swap - 1,060
Payroll liabilities 296 174
Miscellaneous liabilities 14,410 12,742

Non-financial other liabilities
Deferred income 26,017 29,513
Tax liabilities 4,064 700
Group total 44,787 44,188
thereof current 34,262 30,226
thereof non-current 10,525 13,962

The remaining other liabilities include, among other
things, liabilities from customer deposits amounting to
EUR 9,947 thousand (2020: EUR 8,970 thousand). De-
ferred income relates mostly to the deferral of income
from advance payments by lessees. Deferred income
from one-time lease payment is short-term in the
amount of EUR 15,705 thousand

(2020: EUR 16,754 thousand) with a remaining term of
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up to one year, and an amount of EUR 10,313 thousand
(2020: EUR 12,758 thousand) is long-term with a re-
maining term between one and five year.

\4.30\ Contract liabilities include down payments for
full-service contracts, which involve a flat- and con-
stant-rate settlement with the customer until the actual
full service performance has been duly provided.
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Revenue is realised at the point in time when the spe-
cific service is provided. The further the point in time at
which the full service is actually provided is postponed,
the greater the contractual obligation becomes. The
amount of EUR 11,131 thousand included in contract lia-
bilities as of 31 December 2020 was recognized as rev-
enue in the 2021 financial year.
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4.3 Additional Disclosures on Financial
Instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts and

fair values of the individual financial assets and

Financial instruments

liabilities for each single category of financial instru-
ment. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities
that are not regularly measured at fair value, but for
which the fair value is to be specified, are assigned in

value hierarchy according to IFRS 13.

the following table to the measurement levels of the fair

IFRS 9 Measure-
measurement ment basis
category' for fair value Carrying amount Fair value
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020 2021 2020
Non-current assets
Financial assets FVTPL Level 3 26 27 26 27
Finance lease receivables IFRS 16 897 795 932 824
Interest rate derivatives FVTPL Level 2 788 23 788 23
Other receivables AC 92 70
Total 1,803 914 1,747 873
Current assets
Finance lease receivables IFRS 16 645 5,714 675 5,961
Trade receivables AC 75,222 69,173
Receivables from related parties AC 490 1,461
Other receivables AC 12,068 14,278
Total 88,425 90,626 675 5,961
Non-current liabilities
Bonds AC Level 2 - 248,840 - 256,912
Liabilities to banks AC Level 2 298,955 414,595 296,377 408,583
Lease liabilities IFRS 16 15,696 8,258
Interest rate derivatives Hedge
Accounting Level 2 - 1,060 - 1,060
Other financial liabilities AC 213 143 - -
Total 314,864 672,896 296,377 666,555
Current liabilities
Bonds FLAC Level 2 249,691 - 252,708
Liabilities to banks AC Level 2 235,264 252,811 235,968 253,556
Lease liabilities IFRS 16 2,394 5,054
Liabilities to related parties AC Level 2 23 21
Currency derivatives FVTPL Level 2 60 106 60 106
Other financial liabilities AC 2,759 6,335
Trade payables AC 65,675 47,849
Financial other liabilities AC 30,357 26,642
Total 586,224 338,820 488,736 253,662
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The financial instruments in above table are classified
into three levels depending on the measurement basis.
Level 1 measurements are based on prices quoted in
active markets. Level 2 measurements are based on pa-
rameters other than quoted prices that are observable
either directly as prices or are indirectly derived from
prices. Level 3 measurements are based on models that
use parameters that are not based on observable mar-
ket data, but rather on assumptions.

There have been no transfers between the individual
measurement levels.

Due to factors that change in the course of time, the re-
ported fair values can only be regarded as indicative of
the values actually realisable on the market. The fair
values of the financial instruments were calculated on
the basis of market data available at the balance sheet
date and the methods and assumptions described be-
low.

For all current financial instruments it was assumed that
the carrying amount (amortised cost) is a reasonable
approximation of fair value unless not specified other-
wise in the table.

The fair values of the finance lease receivables re-
ported as assets and the bonds, finance lease liabilities,
liabilities to banks and liabilities to related parties re-
ported as liabilities were calculated as the present val-
ues of the future expected cash flows. Standard market
interest rates of between 0.2% p.a. and 1.2% p.a. (2020:
between -0.0% p.a. and 1.4% p.a.) based on the re-
spective maturities were used for discounting.

Finance lease receivables and lease liabilities are meas-
ured in accordance with IFRS 16.

In the year under review, financial assets are allocated
to the FVTPL measurement category and are valued on
the basis of the net assets value. The net gain recog-
nised in profit or loss resulted from the fair value meas-
urement amounts to EUR O thousand (2020: EUR O
thousand). At present there is no intention to dispose
these equity instruments.

Net gains from financial assets on the AC measurement
category (measured at amortised cost) amount to EUR
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1,014 thousand (2020: EUR 518 thousand) and relate to
income from payments received on receivables previ-
ously written off.

As in the previous year, there were no net gains or
losses in the financial year on financial liabilities meas-
ured at amortised cost (AC measurement category).

Total interest income from financial assets not meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss amounts to EUR
289 thousand (2020: EUR 379 thousand). This includes
interest income from finance lease in the amount of
EUR 117 thousand (2020: EUR 242 thousand). Total in-
terest expense on financial liabilities not measured at
fair value through profit or loss amounts to EUR 7,305
thousand (2020: EUR 11,283 thousand). This includes
interest expense from payments of interest derivatives
in a hedging relationship in the amount of EUR 778
thousand (2020: EUR 991 thousand).

The interest rate and currency derivatives are subse-
quently measured at fair value (level 2 measurement).
As at balance sheet date, assets from interest rate de-
rivatives amounted to EUR 788 thousand (2020: EUR 23
thousand), of which EUR 1 thousand (2020: EUR 23
thousand) is not included in any cash flow hedge ac-
counting relationship. There are no financial liabilities
from interest rate derivatives (2020: 1,060 thousand).
Allin all, a volume of EUR 414 million (2020: EUR

500 million) is hedged with interest rate derivatives car-
rying fixed interest rates between -0.6% p.a. and 0.0%
p.a. (2020: between -0.6% p.a. and 0.0% p.a.) and re-
maining term of up to three years (2020: four years). Of
these, EUR 412 million (2020: EUR 499 million) are in a
cash flow hedge relationship according to IFRS 9. The
variable interest rate is based on the 1-month Euribor.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company held interest
rate derivatives to hedge interest payment flows (inter-
est rate risk). The following table presents the impact of
the hedging instruments on the amount, timing and un-
certainty of future cash flows and the effects of the
recognition of hedging instruments on the financial
statements.

111



C - Consolidated financial statement — Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Profile of timing

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Nominal amount of the hedging instrument 411,973 248,897 111,421 27,499 2,042 54
Average of fixed interest rate -0.440% -0.289% -0.130% -0.030% -0.002% -0.000%

Amounts of designated hedging instruments in balance sheet and

hedging ineffectiveness

31 Dec. 2021 Financial year 2021
Changes in
value
recognized in Income from
other ineffectiveness Profit or loss
Nominal Carrying Balance sheet comprehensive in the income line item for
amount amount Asset line item income statement ineffectiveness
Non-current
other receivables
and assets
411,973 786 1,670 177 Net finance costs

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis assumes a parallel shift in the
yield curves of +100/-100 basis points for variable-rate
financial liabilities. Taking into account the existing in-
terest rate derivatives this would result in changes in
equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain
constant and does not include any tax effects.

The sensitivity analysis for the reported interest rate
derivatives assumes a parallel shift in the yield curves
of +100/-100 basis points. This would result in a change
in the reported fair values (other non-current as-
sets/other non-current liabilities) of EUR 5,990

thousand / EUR -6,138 thousand (2020: EUR 5,633
thousand / EUR -6,455 thousand).

The sensitivity for the reported currency derivatives as-
sumes a change in the EUR exchange rate of +10/-10
percentage points. The reported values (other current
assets/other current liabilities) would then change by
EUR 3,032 thousand / EUR -3,574 thousand (2020:
2,348 thousand / EUR -2,634 thousand).

All'in all, given aforelisted changes to valuations from
interest rate and currency exchange risks, this would
result in a change in equity, profit and loss and other
comprehensive income in the amounts shown in the fol-
lowing table:

Sensitivity of interest and exchange rate risks

Effect on profit and loss
Change in exchange rates
and yield curves

Effect on other
comprehensive income
Change in exchange rates
and yield curves

Effect on equity
Change in exchange rates
and yield curves

31 Dec. 2021
31 Dec. 2020

3,121
2,662

-3,759
-2,695

5,901
5,319

-5,952
-5,695

9,023
7,981

-9,712
-9,089

Financial risk management and hedging

The Allane Mobility Group is exposed to the following fi-
nancial risks, which are addressed through the risk
management system that has been implemented.

allane

Allane SE has an internal control and risk management
system throughout the Group designed to identify at an
early stage all developments that can lead to significant
losses or endanger the existence of the Company or of
the Group. Efficient tools ensure that risks are centrally
and decentrally identified, evaluated and managed
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swiftly. The risk management system covers all activi-
ties for the systematic handling of potential risks, start-
ing with risk identification and documentation, analysis
and assessment through to the management and moni-
toring of material risks. It is defined by a formal process
that firmly integrates all relevant Group divisions and
segments. The risk management system installed
thereby registers the relevant individual risks.

The internal audit department monitors and evaluates
the efficiency of the risk management system.

Moreover, risk management is handled in accordance
with the principle of segregation of duties and monitor-
ing. Financial risks are thereby identified, evaluated and
secured in collaboration with the operating units. Man-
agement has prepared a written risk management man-
ual and has defined guidelines for certain areas such as
interest rate risks, counterparty default risks, residual
value risks and liquidity risks.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the Group’s operating ac-
tivities. Changes in prevailing interest rates impact the
profitability of the Group’s leasing business, as the in-
terest rates underlying the lease instalments are set for
the term of the lease at the beginning of the lease
agreement. In its dealings with corporate customers,
the Group generally tries to counter such interest rate
risk by including interest escalation clauses in individual
framework agreements that apply to all new leasing
contracts concluded under such framework agree-
ments. In addition, the interest rate risk is kept to a min-
imum by borrowing funds with matching maturities.

The Allane Mobility Group is also exposed to risk arising
from variable interest rate liabilities. The Group is ex-
posed to the interest rate risk resulting from lease con-
tracts being based on fixed interest rates and external
financing partly being based on floating interest rates.
Differences between fixed interest rates under lease
contracts and floating interest rates paid for borrowed
funds create a risk of wider spreads between financial
revenues and financial costs which, if negative, may
lead to losses on the Group’s lease contracts.

While the Allane Mobility Group enters into derivative
contracts to hedge its interest rate exposure, there can
be no guarantee that such hedge will be effective or
that losses will be completely avoided.
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Increased costs of borrowings may have a material im-
pact on the Group’s cost base, which the Group may not
be able to pass on to the same degree to the Group’s
customers.

It needs to be considered that the financing behaviour
of financial institutions may change significantly due to
ongoing structural changes in the credit industry, for
example higher equity requirements or changes in the
weighting of risks. Depending on the development of
Allane Mobility Group’s own creditworthiness, external
financing might become more costly. This is particularly
important as the Allane Mobility Group also enters into
variable interest rate liabilities. In addition this also rele-
vant for the extension and renewal of financing.

Market price risk

The market price risk describes the danger of a loss
caused by changes to market prices. For Allane SE it is
especially the residual values of leasing vehicles that
are subject to the market price risk.

To counteract the market price risk involved in the dis-
posal of vehicles within the Allane Mobility Group the
residual values of the vehicles included in the calcula-
tion of the leasing contract are hedged partly by buy-
back agreements with dealers or manufacturers
depending on market conditions.

In marketing used leased vehicles, the Allane Mobility
Group is dependent on developments in the used car
market, particularly in Germany. The vehicles to be sold
directly by the Allane Mobility Group on the used car
market are subjected to regular appraisals based on the
Group's own experience and market observations.
These vehicles are marketed in a multi-stage process.
The most advantageous recycling channel for the Al-
lane Mobility Group is evaluated for each vehicle. The
Allane Mobility Group primarily uses online auction plat-
forms and its own used vehicle sites. To a limited ex-
tent, buy-back agreements, which are optional for the
Allane Mobility Group, are contractually agreed with
dealers or manufacturers in order to partially hedge the
residual value of the vehicles on which the lease agree-
ments are based. As a rule, however, the opportunities
arising from own marketing outweigh the risks.

The Managing Board is keeping a close eye on the polit-
ical discussion regarding new emission stipulations for
diesel-powered vehicles and potential driving bans for
diesel-powered vehicles in selected cities. In this
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context, the residual value risk could increase for the
Allane Mobility Group, whilst the sales proceeds could
fall below expectation.

The Board of Management is also monitoring the gen-
eral political discussion on hew emission requirements
in accordance with the Euro 7 standard, as well as gov-
ernment subsidy measures for electric and hybrid drive
technology and their impact on future business. Due to
the introduction of newer drive technologies, there is a
higher potential for uncertainty in the context of deter-
mining residual vehicle values.

Counterparty default risk

The counterparty default risk arises if lessees and fleet
management customers fail to meet their payment obli-
gations fully or partly during the contract term or if ve-
hicle suppliers cannot fulfil their buyback agreements
towards Allane SE, resulting in payment defaults.

To reduce the counterparty default risk, credit assess-
ments are carried out in accordance with internal
guidelines prior to the contract conclusion. Further-
more, creditworthiness of customers is regularly moni-
tored during the lease period. This precautionary
measure helps to avoid and/or mitigate future risks aris-
ing from the customer relationship.

The Allane Mobility Group therefore also pays high at-
tention to the economic stability of its vehicles dealers.
The vehicles dealers are subject to regular and strict

creditworthiness reviews. Should contractual partners

not be able to meet their repurchase commitments, Al-
lane Mobility Group would be forced to sell the vehicles
directly in the used car market.

Deposits with banks consist only to a small extent of
deposits available on demand. The ratings of the banks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. The default risk is
estimated to be negligible on the basis of the awarded
external ratings.

The risk measurement and control systems as well as
the organisation of the credit risk management of Al-
lane SE comply with the minimum requirements for risk
management of banks and financial institutions
(MaRisk) as defined by Bundesanstalt fiir Fi-
nanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin — Federal Financial
Supervisory Authority).

For expected default risks a valuation allowance is rec-
ognised. The relevant receivable is written-off when the
recovery is no longer expected.

Overall, there are no significant risk concentrations.
Analysis of trade receivables

The trade receivables are classified in the following ta-
ble:

Analysis of trade receivables by risk class 2021

Gross Net

receivables Impairments receivables

31 Dec.

2021

very low 35,831 67 35,764

low 36,290 437 35,853

highly increased 4,866 3,094 1,772

Total 76,988 3,599 73,389
Analysis of trade receivables by risk class 2020

Gross Net

receivables Impairments receivables

31 Dec.

2020

very low 35,802 70 35,732

low 31,830 542 31,287

highly increased 5,856 3,702 2,153

Total 73,487 4,314 69,173

allane

114



C - Consolidated financial statement — Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Trade receivables predominantly comprise receivables
from Leasing and Fleet Management end-customers of
the Allane Mobility Group and receivables from suppli-

ers relating to the sale of used vehicles as part of their

buyback commitments, or commercial and private buy-
ers as part of the sale on the open market.

The maximum default amount is the reported carrying
amount of the net receivable less collected collaterals
(e.g. customer-security deposits in the amount of EUR
9,947 thousand). No credit derivatives or similar hedg-
ing instruments were used to cover credit risk in the pe-
riod under review. Part of the receivables are secured
through customer deposits.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impair-
ment described in IFRS 9, whereby an impairment al-
lowance in the amount of expected credit losses over

the lifetime of the receivable is recognised for all instru-
ments irrespective of their credit quality. To measure
the expected credit losses, parameters such as cus-
tomer group, credit quality and transaction type are
used. For individual combinations of the aforemen-
tioned parameters different rates in accordance with
the management expectations are applied to determine
the impairment allowances. Due to the use of the sim-
plified approach the changes in the allowance account
are solely displayed as net amount. In the event of con-
crete indications of default, for example the insolvency
of the debtor, the relevant receivables are fully derec-
ognised regardless of valuation allowances, which may
have been made.

In the financial year the allowance account for trade re-
ceivables developed as follows:

Change in the allowance account for trade receivables 2021

Balance as Balance as

at Change at

31 Dec.

1 Jan. 2021 2021

Impairments 4,314 -716 3,599
Change in the allowance account for trade receivables 2020

Balance as Balance as

at Change at

31 Dec.

1 Jan. 2020 2020

Impairments 5915 -1,601 4,314

In both financial years, 2021 and 2020, adjusted receiv-
ables were derecognized after exceeding aging thresh-
olds or receiving final notice of default, whereby the
allowance for trade receivables decreased

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that existing liquidity reserves
are not sufficient to meet the Group’s financial obliga-
tions as they fall due. The Group’s approach to manag-
ing liquidity is to ensure by liquidity planning that the
Group always has sufficient liquidity to meet its obliga-
tions when due, under both normal and stressed condi-
tions.

allane

In the future, the refinancing of the Allane Mobility
Group will be essentially dependent on self-financing
through operative cash flows or the ability to borrow
external funds on the debt capital markets. With regard
to debt financing opportunities, it needs to be consid-
ered that the financing behaviour of the financial insti-
tutions may change significantly due to the ongoing
structural changes which can be observed in the credit
industry, for example as a result of higher capital re-
quirements in the credit business or changes in the
weighting of risks.

Depending on the development of Allane Mobility

Group’s own credit standing, external financing might
therefore not or only under unfavorable conditions be
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obtained. In this context, it should be noted that the Al-
lane Mobility Group currently has not assigned any ex-

ternal rating agency with a credit rating. However as

common in the leasing industry asset-based financing

The Asset Backed Securities (ABS) program has been

extended until the end of 2021 and will be amortized on
an ongoing basis until the middle of the 2027 financial

year.

opportunities (e. g. forfeiting or securitisation of leasing

receivables) will be available to Allane Mobility Group.

The Allane Mobility Group made use of this for the first

time in 2016 and set-up an asset backed securities
(ABS) programme in mid-2016.

Repayment amounts by maturity 2021

Analysis of the repayment amounts of

financial liabilities and liabilities to related

parties

The following table includes the repayment amounts
(including assumed future interest payable) at their re-

spective maturities.

Other

Liabilities to Lease financial
Bonds banks liabilities liabilities Total
2022 252,815 236,329 2,664 - 491,807
2023 158,758 2,363 - 161,121
2024 114,526 2,091 - 116,617
2025 25,580 1,492 - 27,072
2026 and later 2,048 12,271 - 14,319
31 Dec. 2021 252,815 537,241 20,881 - 810,937

Repayment amounts by maturity 2020

Other

Liabilities to Lease financial
Bonds banks liabilities liabilities Total
2021 3,750 253,980 5,168 3,606 266,505
2022 253,730 195,001 2,164 - 450,895
2023 - 136,990 1,928 - 138,918
2024 - 80,183 1,613 - 81,796
2025 and later - 3,574 2,838 - 6,412
31 Dec. 2020 257,480 669,728 13,712 3,606 944,526

The financial liabilities maturing in 2022 will largely be
repaid by the usage of bank credit lines.

Repayment amounts by maturity 2021

Analysis of the repayment amounts of interest rate and

currency derivatives:

Interest rate

Currency

derivatives  derivatives Total
2022 -226 -60 -285
2023 560 560
2024 370 370
2025 79 79
2026 and later 4 4
31 Dec. 2021 788 -60 728

allane
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Repayment amounts by maturity 2020

Interest rate Currency

derivatives derivatives Total
2021 -720 -106 -826
2022 -301 -301
2023 -34 -34
2024 15 15
2025 and later 1 1
31 Dec. 2020 -1,038 -106 -1,144

Exchange rate and country risk

Exchange rate risk is of only minor significance in the
Allane Mobility Group, as the vast majority of receiva-
bles and liabilities are due in the local currency of the
country in which the respective Group company is
based. There are almost no country risks at present.

Capital management

The Allane Mobility Group manages the Group’s capital
with the goal of creating a financial profile that sup-
ports the Group’s growth targets, while providing the
necessary financial flexibility and diversification.
Thereby it is ensured that all Group companies can op-
erate on the basis of the going concern assumption.

The basis of the Group’s financial profile is the equity
provided by Allane SE's equity investors. As at the bal-
ance sheet date, the Group’s equity ratio was 18.4%
(2020: 16.4%). Other key elements of the Group’s finan-
cial profile are the financial instruments reported in

non-current and current financial liabilities (bonds, bank

loans as well as liabilities from the asset backed securi-
ties program and finance lease liabilities). The propor-
tion of total assets accounted for by these non-current
and current liabilities amounted to 67.4% (2020: 72.2%).

allane
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5. Other disclosures

5.1 Segment reporting

Leasing Fleet Management Consolidation Group
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
External revenue 625.1 642.1 115.3 105.6 - - 740.4 747.7
Internal revenue 0.1 -0.0 0.0 0.2 -0.1 -0.2 - -
Total revenue 625.2 642.1 115.4 105.8 -0.1 -0.2 740.4 747.7
Fleet expenses and cost of lease
assets' 369.1 380.7 104.1 93.1 -0.1 -0.0 473.1 473.8
EBITDA? 183.4 208.3 0.7 3.1 - - 184.0 211.4
Depreciation and amortisation expense 171.0 191.2 0.1 0.0 - - 171.0 191.2
EBIT?® 12.4 17.1 0.6 3.1 - - 13.0 20.2
Interest income 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 0.3 0.4
Interest expense -7.3 -11.3 -0.1 -0.2 0.1 0.2 -7.3 -11.3
Other net financial income 0.2 -0.2 - - - - 0.2 -0.2
Net finance costs -6.7 -10.9 -0.1 -0.2 - - -6.9 -11.1
EBT* 5.7 6.2 0.5 29 - - 6.1 9.1
Investments 342.1 443.2 0.0 0.0 - - 342.1 443.2
Assets 1,172.0 1,280.4 34.3 22.7 -12.9 -9.3 1,193.3 1,293.9
Liabilities 918.6 1,032.7 32.1 21.7 -12.7 -9.1 938.0 1,045.2
Employees® 630 606 85 87 - - 715 693
Germany International Reconciliation Group
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Total revenue 667.2 679.6 73.3 68.1 - - 740.4 747.7
Investments 297.5 403.8 44.6 39.4 - - 342.1 443.2
Assets 1,235.6 1,356.1 614.3 703.5 -656.6 -765.8 1,193.3 1,293.9

The Allane Mobility Group is active in the business ar-
eas Leasing and Fleet Management. Resources are allo-
cated and the Group’s performance is assessed by the
Managing Board on the basis of these segments (man-
agement approach). The key parameter for the assess-
ment of the performance by the Managing Board are
the earnings before taxes (EBT) of the segments.

The geographic information analyses the Group’s reve-
nue, the Group’s investments and the Group’s assets by
Group Company’s country of domicile.

Segment reporting is based on the accounting and val-
uation principles in the consolidated financial state-
ments. receivables, liabilities, income and expenses
between the segments are eliminated in the
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reconciliation to the Group figures. Group assets and li-
abilities do not recognise any tax positions.

5.2 Contingent liabilities and other financial
obligations

Contingent liabilities

At the end of the financial year there were contingen-
cies from guarantees or similar obligations in the
amount of EUR 11.2 million (2020: EUR 11.2 million).

Other financial obligations

Purchase commitments resulting from concluded
agreements at the respective balance sheet date con-
cerning vehicle deliveries for the lease fleet in the
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coming year amount to around EUR 250.2 million (2020:
EUR 161.3 million).

Contingencies

In the context of legal disputes against Allane SE from
revocation actions for leasing contracts with regard to
the second instance, the further course of some of the
open cases depends on the timing of outstanding deci-
sions of the Federal Court of Justice (BHG) and/or the
European Court of Justice (EuGH) on few pending
cases of Allane SE. For those open cases a contingent
liability exists for Allane SE in the amount of EUR 1.9
million.

5.3 Share-based payments

In the financial year, there is no employee participation
program for employees in the Allane Mobility Group. In
prior year, the Sixt SE Group had implemented an em-
ployee equity participation programme (Matching Stock
Programme - MSP 2012), which had also been open for
the participation of employees of Allane Mobility Group,
which was basically not influenced by Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH. From the perspective of Allane Mo-
bility Group the programme classifies as cash-settled
share-based payment programme.

In 2021, the Allane Mobility Group did not recognise any
personnel expenses (2020: TEUR 76) in connection
with share-based payments and allocated them to per-
sonnel provisions (2021: TEUR 0, 2020: TEUR 75).
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5.4 Related party disclosures

The related party transactions includes transactions
between Allane Mobility Group and Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH as well as its related party Banco
Santander S.A., Spain including its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures
and Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, Korea including its
direct and indirect subsidiaries, associated companies
and joint ventures.

The parent company of Allane SE is Hyundai Capital
Bank Europe GmbH. Allane Mobility Consulting Oster-
reich GmbH and Allane Mobility Consulting SARL are in-
direct, non-consolidated subsidiaries of Allane SE.
Allane Service Verwaltungs GmbH is a direct, non-con-
solidated subsidiary of Allane SE. The further related
parties are group-entities of Banco Santander S.A.,
Spain as well as group-entities of Hyundai Motor Com-
pany, Seoul, Korea.

The significant transactions and balances arising from
such relationships with related parties of Hyundai Capi-
tal Bank Europe GmbH and its affiliated companies
Banco Santander S.A., Spain, including its direct and in-
direct subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, and
Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, Korea, including its di-
rect and indirect subsidiaries, associates and joint ven-
tures, are presented below.
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Services rendered
16 July

2020

until

31 Dec.

2021 2020

2021

Liabilities to related
parties

Receivables from

Services used related parties
16 July
2020
until
31 Dec
2020

31 Dec.
2021

31 Dec.
2020

31 Dec.
2021

31 Dec.
2020

Hyundai AutoEver Europe GmbH,
Offenbach am Main, Germany - -

Hyundai AutoEver Corp., Seoul, Korea - -

2.0 0.4 - - - 0.5
0.3 - - - - -

Hyundai Motor Deutschland GmbH,

Offenbach am Main, Germany 1 -
Hyundai Motor Europe Technical Center

GmbH, Riisselsheim, Germany 1 1
Genesis Motor Deutschland GmbH,

Offenbach am Main, Germany - -

Hyundai Motor France SAS (HMF), La
Garenne-Colombes, France - -
Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH,
Frankfurt am Main, Germany 1 -

Banco Santander International SA,
Geneva, Switzerland 1 0.1

Santander Consumer Bank AG,

Médnchengladbach, Germany 1 -
Santander Consumer Leasing GmbH,

Médnchengladbach, Germany 1 -

Santander Global Technology and
Operations, S.L., Madrid, Spain - -

Allane SE entered into a credit facility agreement with
Santander Consumer Bank AG. Of this credit facility,
loans in the amount of EUR 100 million had been drawn
down as of the reporting date (previous year: EUR 140
million). The loans have a term of up to four years.
There is a change of control clause, which gives San-
tander Consumer Bank AG the right to call in the loans
and interest payable immediately if a change of control
occurs. Furthermore, on 29 December 2021, a commit-
ted facility agreement for EUR 250 million was entered
into with Santander Consumer Bank AG, Germany, to fi-
nance the repayment of a bond. On 2 February 2022,
this agreement was terminated with effect from 4 Feb-
ruary 2022.

A contract for the supply of IT infrastructure hardware
has been concluded with Hyundai AutoEver Europe
GmbH, Germany, in 2020. The major part of this agree-
ment was executed in the 2021 financial year.

An IT license agreement was concluded with Santander

Global Technology and Operations, S.L., Madrid, Spain
for a period of three years.

allane

All outstanding receivables from and payables to re-
lated parties, which are reported separately, were set-
tled on the basis of contractual agreements. In 2021
expenses for impairment of receivables from related
parties amounting to EUR 1.5 million were recognized
(previous year: EUR 0 million).

In the prior year, the Allane Mobility Group had related
party relationships between the Allane Mobility Group
and Sixt SE and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, as-
sociates and joint ventures until the closing on 15 July
2020. In the 2020 financial year, Sixt SE was the parent
company of Allane SE in the period from 1. January
2020 to 15 July 2020.

The Sixt GmbH & Co. Autovermietung KG, as well as
other companies of the Sixt SE Group provide rental ve-
hicles to the Allane Mobility Group until the financial
year 2021. In addition, the Allane Mobility Group had
transferred individual functions and areas to Sixt GmbH
& Co. Autovermietung KG and other group companies of
the Sixt SE Group until 15 July 2020. These outsourcing
arrangements were terminated in connection with the
purchase of all shares in Allane SE from Sixt SE by
Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH. This mainly
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involved IT services. In addition, the Allane Mobility
Group rents business premises for the operating busi-
ness of group companies of the Sixt SE Group. These
leases continue to exist after the acquisition.

Furthermore, the agreements described below were
concluded with Sixt SE and other direct and indirect
subsidiaries of Sixt SE in the previous year. These
agreements became effective upon completion of the
voluntary takeover bid by Hyundai Capital Bank Europe
GmbH (HCBE) on 15 July 2020 respectively 16 July
2020. A Transitional Services and Separation Support
Agreement IT was agreed, which are essentially IT ser-
vices for a transitional period and in parallel regulates
the separation of the IT infrastructure and IT applica-
tions. The agreement is concluded at standard market
terms and conditions and provides for compensation
dependent on utilization as well as compensation due
upon successful completion. A purchase and transfer
agreement was concluded for the acquisition of signifi-
cant parts of the business operations of SL Car Sales
GmbH, Garching, as well as assets and certain con-
tracts relating to these operations. The purchase price
was EUR 2.1 million and was based on an external

valuation. Previously, the Allane Mobility Group had en-
tered into an agreement with SL Car Sales GmbH to
take over the marketing of used leased vehicles and re-
lated additional services, which was terminated with
the purchase. Since then, Allane SE has been marketing
used leased vehicles itself at the two locations acquired
in the course of this transaction. Furthermore, a license
agreement was concluded regarding the use of trade-
marks, company logos, business equipment including
the corporate design and internet domains for a period
of 5 years from the closing of the transaction. The cus-
tomary market remuneration is based on certain net
sales, as agreed and practiced in recent years.

In the 2021 financial year, after the closing on 15 July
2020, there were no further relationships with Sixt SE
and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures in a relationship as related parties.

The material transactions and balances from such rela-
tionships with former related parties of Sixt SE and its
direct and indirect subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are presented below.

Related parties from 1 Jan 2020 until 15 Jul 2020

Services

Services used

rendered from 1 Jan.
from 1 Jan. 2020 until Receivables from Liabilities to
2020 until 15 15 Jul. related parties related parties
Jul. 2020 2020 15 Jul. 2020 15 Jul. 2020
Sixt GmbH & Co. Autovermietung KG, Pullach 25 3.6 4.0 3.6
Sixt SE, Pullach 0.3 0.6 ! 0.6
TOV 6-Systems, Kiew, Ukraine - 0.7 - 0.6
SL Car Sales GmbH, Garching 1 0.3 1 0.3
Sixt GmbH, Miinchen 0.3 - 0.1 -
Sixt SAS, Avrigny, France - 0.2 - 1

Sixt Verwaltungsgesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung & Co.

Delta Immobilien KG, Pullach - 0.5 - -
SXT Dienstleistungen GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock 0.1 1 1 0.1
SXT Reservierungs- und Vertriebs-GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock 0.1 1 1 1

Sixt rent-a-car AG, Basel, Switzerland

Sixt G.m.b.H., Vosendorf, Austria
Sixt Air GmbH, Wesling

SXT Telesales GmbH, Berlin

Sixt Chauffeur Reservation Systems GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin
Sixt B.V., Hoofddorp, Netherlands
Sixt Executive GmbH, Garching

The business relationships shown are in each case con-
ducted on an arm's length basis.
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The Supervisory Board and Managing Board of Allane SE

Jochen Klopper

Chairman

Chief Risk Officer of Santander Consumer Bank AG
Vienna, Austria

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH
(HCBE)
Member of the Administrative Board West of the Schufa Holding AG

Hyunjoo Kim

Deputy Chairman

Chairman of Fubon Hyundai Life und dem Korea Credit Bureau
Seoul, South Korea

Member of the Supervisory Board of Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH

Thomas Hanswillemenke

Member

Member of the Management Board of Santander Consumer
Bank AG, Germany and Member of the Management Board of
Santander Consumer Holding GmbH, Ménchengladbach,
Germany

Chiwhan Yoon

Member

Head of Global Business Planning Department / Vice President
at Hyundai Capital Services, Inc.

Seoul, Korea

Norbert van den Eijnden
Member (since 29 March 2022)
Freelance consultant

Maarssen, Netherlands

Member of the Supervisory Board of Bovemij NV,
Chairman of Chairman Foundation Duurzame Vecht

Dr. Julian zu Putlitz

Member

Chief Financial Officer of IFCO Systems Group
Pullach im Isartal, Germany

Managing Board

Membership of supervisory boards and other comparable supervisory bodies of
business enterprises

Donglim Shin
Chairman (since 1 July 2021)
Munich, Germany

Michael Ruhl
Chairman (until 30 June 2021)
Munich, Germany

Member of the Administrative Board of Sixt Leasing (Schweiz) AG (until 30 June
2021)

Member of the Administrative Board of Sixt Mobility Consulting AG (until 30 June
2021)

Alvaro Herndndez
(since 1 December 2021)
Munich, Germany

Bjérn Waldow
(until 30 September 2021)
Gauting-Stockdorf, Germany
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Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board
and Managing Board of Allane SE

The Supervisory Board has determined the remunera-
tion for 2020 and 2021 on an individual basis as fol-
lows:’

Remuneration

Donglim Shin Michael Ruhl Alvaro Hernandez Bjorn Waldow
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
actual® actual actual* actual actual® actual actual® actual
Basic remuneration 290,971 - 200,000 400,000 100,000 - 314,589 400,000
Taxable pecuniary benefits
and other fringe benefits 79,428 - 6,812 20,811 34,530 - 14,589 20,884
Total fixed
remuneration 370,399 - 206,812 420,811 134,530 - 329,178 420,884
Multi-year variable
remuneration’:2 94,570 - 200,000 848,460 37,600 - 66,667 498,460
Total remuneration 464,969 - 406,812 1,269,271 172,130 - 395,845 919,344

In the prior year, this included a short-term transaction
bonus committed for the successful transition to Hyun-
dai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE) in 2019. The final
entry requirements were met with the closing of the
transaction in 2020; accordingly, the bonus payments
(current) of EUR 750,000 (Michael Ruhl) and EUR
400,000 (Bjorn Waldow) were executed in 2020 and
which are included in the performance-related remu-
neration in terms of amount. Furthermore, Bjérn Waldow
received payments (non-current) of EUR 80,000 in
2020 respectively for phantom shares from the Match-
ing Stock Programme of Sixt SE allocated in 2015 and
2016. In the 2020 financial year, expenses for Bjorn
Waldow from the Matching Stock Programme in the
amount of EUR 57,481 was recognised in profit and loss
and at reporting date the related provision amounts to
EUR 45,282. In the 2021 financial year, there are no fur-
ther entitlements from the Matching Stock Program of
Sixt SE.

The total remuneration of the Management Board in the
2021 financial year amounts to EUR 1,439,756 (2020:
EUR 2,188,615)

Supervisory Board remuneration (current) in the 2021

financial year was EUR 40 thousand (2020: EUR 88
thousand)
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The group has no pension obligations towards mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board and Managing Board.

5.5 Proposal for allocation of unappropriated
profit

Allane SE reported an unappropriated profit for the
2021 financial year in accordance with German com-
mercial law of EUR 23,066 thousand (2020: EUR 22,178
thousand). For financial year 2021 the Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board consider proposing a divi-
dend up to EUR 0.06 per share to the shareholders on
the shareholders’ meeting. If the proposal will be ac-
cepted with the maximum amount, would this result to
an unappropriated profit presented as follows:

Proposal for allocation of the
unappropriated profit

2021 2020
Payment of a dividend of EUR 0.06 (2020:
EUR 0.02) per ordinary share entitled to a
dividend 1,237 412
Carryforward to new account 21,829 21,765

As of 31 December 2021, there were 20,611,593 ordi-
nary shares entitled to dividends. In the event that the
dividend proposal of EUR 0.06 per share is accepted,
this would result in a dividend payment of EUR 1,237
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thousand. As a consequence, this would bring the pay-
out ratio about 21% of the consolidated profit for the
2021 financial year. The previously communicated tar-
get range of 30 to 60 % remains unchanged regardless
of the payout ratio for the 2021 financial year. The con-
crete proposal for the appropriation of profits is subject
to the approval of the Supervisory Board and will be
published with the agenda for the 2022 Annual General
Meeting.

The proposal by the Managing Board and the Supervi-
sory Board on the appropriation of the unappropriated
profit for financial year 2020 was resolved unchanged
by the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2021.

5.6 Substantial events after the reporting
date

With the invasion of Russian troops into Ukraine on

24 February 2022, the Russian war against Ukraine has
become a new risk factor for Allane SE, the automotive
industry and the macroeconomic environment. As at
the end of March 2022, when this risk report was final-
ised, it was not possible to accurately assess the full
economic impact of the conflict. However, the war had
already caused a significant increase in fuel prices
among other things at that particular point in time.
These higher prices could lead to a decline in mobility
demand and therefore burden the companies business
development in financial year 2022, especially in the
Online Retail business field. Moreover, the war could
further exacerbate supply shortages and therefore limit
the availability of new cars. This could have a negative
impact on the Online Retail and Fleet Leasing business
fields. The Company will closely observe the future de-
velopment. Especially, the Board of Directors has con-
vened a bi-weekly meeting of the main departments
(Sales, Remarketing, Purchasing, Risk, IT, Information
Security, Human Resources, Treasury). Current devel-
opments are discussed and possible effects on the
business of the Allane Mobility Group are analyzed. The
first key measures were to strengthen IT security
measures, examine the portfolio for potentially impaired
industries and customers, and analyze the current
stress test regime for possible effects due to the appli-
cation of tightening assumptions. In addition, major
customers and suppliers were contacted directly re-
garding possible impacts. Based on these initiated
measures, there is currently no further acute need for
action. Identified customers have been placed on a
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watch list to monitor their payment behavior more
closely. In the medium to long term, the business is ex-
pected to be affected by rising energy prices and fur-
ther supply bottlenecks. However, the extent of these
effects cannot be quantified at this time. The Manage-
ment Board has not yet been able to identify any direct
material impact on the net assets, financial position and
results of operations of the Allane Mobility Group

The bond issued in May 2018 with a nominal amount of
EUR 250.0 million with a nominal interest rate of 1.50%
p.a. and a term of four years was repaid early on 2 Feb-
ruary 2022.

There were no other events of particular significance
for the net assets, financial position and results of oper-
ations of the Group and the Company occurred after
the close of the 2021 financial year.

5.7 Declaration of conformity in accordance
with section 161 of the AktG

The declaration by the Managing Board and the Super-
visory Board required by section 161 of the Aktien-
gesetz (AktG - German Public Companies Act) stating
that the recommendations of the Government Commis-
sion on the German Corporate Governance Code are
complied with and which recommendations have not
been applied was issued in the financial year and made
permanently accessible to shareholders on Allane SE’s.

5.8 Authorization of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with

IAS 10.17

These consolidated financial statements are authorised
by the Managing Board for submission to the Supervi-
sory Board on 14 April 2022.

Pullach, 14 April 2022

Allane SE

The Managing Board

Donglim Shin Alvaro Hernandez
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Further information

D.1 — Responsibility statement
D.2 — Independent auditor’s report

D.3 — Balance sheet of Allane SE
(HGB/RechKredV)

D.4 — Income statement of Allane SE
(HGB/RechKredV)

D.5 — Financial calendar
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D.1 - Responsibility Statement

of Allane SE, Pullach, for financial year 2021

in accordance with sections 297 (2)
sentence 4 and 315 (1) sentence 5 of
the HGB (German Commercial Code)
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with
the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi-
nancial statements give a true and fair view of the as-
sets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of
the Group, and the management report on the Group’s
and the Company’s situation includes a fair review of
the development and performance of the business and
the position of the group, together with a description of
the principal opportunities and risks associated with
the expected development of the Group.

Pullach, 14 April 2022
Allane SE

The Managing Board

Donglim Shin Alvaro Hernandez
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D.2 - Independent auditor’s report

The following independent auditors’ report
(,Bestatigungsvermerk’) was issued in accordance with
section 322 of the HGB (German Commercial Code) on
the IFRS Financial Statements 2021, which were pre-
pared in the German language. The translation of the
independent auditors’ report (‘Bestatigungsvermerk’) is
as follows:

The following copy of the auditor's report also includes
an "Assurance Report in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3b
HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Group Management
Report Prepared for Publication Purposes" ("Separate
report on ESEF conformity"). The subject matter (ESEF
documents to be audited) to which the separate report
on ESEF conformity relates is not attached. The audited
ESEF documents can be inspected in or retrieved from
the Federal Gazette.

,To Allane SE, Pullach

Report on the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and
of the group management report

Audit Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Allane SE (former: Sixt Leasing SE), Pullach, and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consoli-
dated statement of financial position as at Decem-

ber 31, 2021, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of changes in eq-
uity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2021, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, includ-
ing a summary of significant accounting policies. In ad-
dition, we have audited the group management report
of Allane SE, which is combined with the Company’s
management report, for the financial year from Janu-
ary 1to December 31, 2021. In accordance with the Ger-
man legal requirements, we have not audited the
content of the statement on corporate governance pur-
suant to § [Article] 289f HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: Ger-
man Commercial Code] and § 315d HGB]].

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained
in the audit,
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m the accompanying consolidated financial statements
comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of
German commercial law pursuant to § [Article] 315e
Abs. [paragraph] 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German
Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these re-
quirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, li-
abilities, and financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2021, and of its financial performance
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31,
2021 and

m the accompanying group management report as a
whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position. In all material respects, this group manage-
ment report is consistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements, complies with German legal
requirements and appropriately presents the oppor-
tunities and risks of future development. Our audit
opinion on the group management report does not
cover the content of the statement on corporate gov-
ernance referred to above.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we de-
clare that our audit has not led to any reservations re-
lating to the legal compliance of the consolidated
financial statements and of the group management re-
port.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of the group management report in ac-
cordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation
(No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as "EU Audit
Regulation") in compliance with German Generally Ac-
cepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits prom-
ulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute
of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibili-
ties under those requirements and principles are further
described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report" section of our auditor's re-
port. We are independent of the group entities in ac-
cordance with the requirements of European law and
German commercial and professional law, and we have
fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in
accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit
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Regulation, we declare that we have not provided non-
audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU
Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and on the group management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profes-
sional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements for the finan-
cial year from January 1 to December 31, 2021. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a
separate audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit
was as follows:

1) Measurement of lease assets

Our presentation of this key audit matter has been
structured as follows:

a) Matter and issue

b) Audit approach and findings

c) Reference to further information
Hereinafter we present the key audit matter:

1) Measurement of lease assets

a) In the consolidated financial statements of Allane
SE, assets amounting to EUR 995.4 million (83.3% of
total assets are reported under the line item "Lease
assets" of the balance sheet as of December 31,
2021. Lease assets are carried at cost and depreci-
ated over the term of the lease to the expected re-
sidual value at the end of the lease. The expected
residual value is calculated on the basis of external
market value forecasts and the Company's own his-
torical marketing results. The expected residual val-
ues are monitored on an ongoing basis. If the
residual value decreases, the lease asset is tested
for impairment, a recoverable amount is calculated
and, if necessary, the asset is written down. Write-
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downs in respect of lease assets amounting to EUR
0.7 million were recognized in the financial year on
the basis of this valuation. The measurement of the
lease assets is, firstly, of great significance for the
assets, liabilities, and financial performance of the
Company in terms of amount and, secondly, involves
a high degree of scope for judgment on the part of
the executive directors, since the use of models and
assumptions creates a high degree of uncertainty
due to the estimates required for the measurement
exercise. Against this background, this matter was
of particular significance during our audit.

b) Our audit included assessing the appropriateness of
the controls within the Company's internal control
system established to test lease assets for impair-
ment and tested whether the controls functioned ef-
fectively. In doing so, we considered the
organizational structures and processes, the IT sys-
tems and the measurement model. Furthermore, we
reviewed the performance of and assessed the ap-
propriateness of the impairment tests. We assessed
the parameters used for the impairment test, includ-
ing the values for the marketing results, to ensure
that they were up to date and compared them with
sector-specific market expectations, and assessed
the documents and explanations provided by the ex-
ecutive directors in this regard. We critically evalu-
ated and assessed the assumptions made by the
executive directors to determine whether they lay
within a reasonable range. Based on our audit pro-
cedures, we were able to satisfy ourselves that the
impairment tests performed to assess the lease as-
sets were carried out appropriately and that the pa-
rameters used and assumptions made are within
what we consider to be a reasonable range.

c) The Company’s disclosures relating to the measure-
ment of lease assets are contained in section 3.2 of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other Information

The executive directors are responsible for the other in-
formation. The other information comprises the state-
ment on corporate governance pursuant to § 289f HGB
and § 315d HGB.

The other information comprises further the remaining

parts of the annual report — excluding cross-references
to external information — with the exception of the
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audited consolidated financial statements, the audited
group management report and our auditor’s report.

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report do not
cover the other information, and consequently we do
not express an audit opinion or any other form of assur-
ance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in so doing, to consider
whether the other information

m is materially inconsistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements, with the group management report or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

m otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors
and the Supervisory Board for the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Group Management Report

The executive directors are responsible for the prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements that com-
ply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by
the EU and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the
consolidated financial statements, in compliance with
these requirements, give a true and fair view of the as-
sets, liabilities, financial position, and financial perfor-
mance of the Group. In addition, the executive directors
are responsible for such internal control as they have
determined necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
executive directors are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They
also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applica-
ble, matters related to going concern. In addition, they
are responsible for financial reporting based on the go-
ing concern basis of accounting unless there is an in-
tention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for
the preparation of the group management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group's
position and is, in all material respects, consistent with
the consolidated financial statements, complies with
German legal requirements, and appropriately presents
the opportunities and risks of future development. In
addition, the executive directors are responsible for
such arrangements and measures (systems) as they
have considered necessary to enable the preparation of
a group management report that is in accordance with
the applicable German legal requirements, and to be
able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the
assertions in the group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and of the
group management report.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and whether the group manage-
ment report as a whole provides an appropriate view of
the Group's position and, in all material respects, is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements and
the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the
German legal requirements and appropriately presents
the opportunities and risks of future development, as
well as to issue an auditor's report that includes our au-
dit opinions on the consolidated financial statements
and on the group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-
ance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in
compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards
for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the In-
stitut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) will always detect a
material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
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the basis of these consolidated financial statements
and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

m |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements and of the
group management report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures respon-
sive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collu-
sion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresenta-
tions, or the override of internal control.

m Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit of the consolidated financial statements
and of arrangements and measures (systems) rele-
vant to the audit of the group management report in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-
pressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of
these systems.

m Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used by the executive directors and the reasonable-
ness of estimates made by the executive directors
and related disclosures.

m Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive di-
rectors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or condi-
tions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in the auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
and in the group management report or, if such dis-
closures are inadequate, to modify our respective au-
dit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's re-
port. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going
concern.

m Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-
tent of the consolidated financial statements,
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including the disclosures, and whether the consoli-
dated financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the consoli-
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial
performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs
as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements
of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1
HGB.

m Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the entities or busi-
ness activities within the Group to express audit
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and
on the group management report. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our au-
dit opinions.

m Evaluate the consistency of the group management
report with the consolidated financial statements, its
conformity with German law, and the view of the
Group's position it provides.

m Perform audit procedures on the prospective infor-
mation presented by the executive directors in the
group management report. On the basis of sufficient
appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular,
the significant assumptions used by the executive di-
rectors as a basis for the prospective information and
evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective in-
formation from these assumptions. We do not express
a separate audit opinion on the prospective infor-
mation and on the assumptions used as a basis.
There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future
events will differ materially from the prospective in-
formation.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, includ-
ing any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with the relevant in-
dependence requirements, and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, the related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Other legal and regulatory requirements

Assurance Report in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3b
HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Group Management
Report Prepared for Publication Purposes

We have performed an assurance engagement in ac-
cordance with § 317 Abs. 3b HGB to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the reproduction of the con-
solidated financial statements and the group manage-
ment report (hereinafter the “ESEF documents”)
contained in the attached electronic file “Al-
lane_SE_KA_LB-2021-12-31-DE.zip” and prepared for
publication purposes complies in all material respects
with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the elec-
tronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In accordance
with German legal requirements, this assurance en-
gagement only extends to the conversion of the infor-
mation contained in the consolidated financial
statements and the group management report into the
ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the infor-
mation contained within this reproduction nor to any
other information contained in the above-mentioned
electronic file.

In our opinion, the reproduction of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and the group management report
contained in the above-mentioned attached electronic
file and prepared for publication purposes complies in
all material respects with the requirements of § 328
Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic reporting format. We do
not express any opinion on the information contained in
this reproduction nor on any other information con-
tained in the above-mentioned electronic file beyond
this reasonable assurance conclusion and our audit
opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying group management
report for the financial year from January 1 to Decem-
ber 31, 2021 contained in the “Report on the Audit of
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the Consolidated Financial Statements and on the
Group Management Report” above.

We conducted our assurance engagement on the re-
production of the consolidated financial statements and
the group management report contained in the above-
mentioned attached electronic file in accordance with §
317 Abs. 3b HGB and the Exposure Draft of IDW Assur-
ance Standard: Assurance in Accordance with § 317
Abs. 3b HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of Finan-
cial Statements and Management Reports Prepared for
Publication Purposes (ED IDW AsS 410) and the Inter-
national Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised). Accordingly, our responsibilities are further
described below in the “Group Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Assurance Engagement on the ESEF Docu-
ments” section. Our audit firm has applied the IDW
Standard on Quality Management: Requirements for
Quality Management in the Audit Firm (IDW QS 1).

The executive directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the ESEF documents including
the electronic reproduction of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the group management report in
accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 Satz 4 Nr. 1 HGB and for
the tagging of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with § 328 Abs. 1 Satz 4 Nr. 2.

In addition, the executive directors of the Company are
responsible for such internal control as they have con-
sidered necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF
documents that are free from material non-compliance
with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the elec-
tronic reporting format, whether due to fraud or error.

The executive directors of the Company are also re-
sponsible for the submission of the ESEF documents
together with the auditor's report and the attached au-
dited consolidated financial statements and audited
group management report as well as other documents
to be published to the operator of the German Federal
Gazette [Bundesanzeiger].

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the

preparation of the ESEF documents as part of the finan-
cial reporting process.

132



D - Further Information - Independent auditor’s report

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the ESEF documents are free from material
non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1
HGB, whether due to fraud or error. We exercise profes-
sional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the assurance engagement. We also:

m |dentify and assess the risks of material non-compli-
ance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform as-
surance procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our assurance conclu-
sion.

m |dentify and assess the risks of material non-compli-
ance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform as-
surance procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our assurance conclu-
sion.

m Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF docu-
ments, i.e., whether the electronic file containing the
ESEF documents meets the requirements of the Dele-
gated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 in the version appli-
cable as at the balance sheet date on the technical
specification for this electronic file.

m Evaluate whether the ESEF documents enables a
XHTML reproduction with content equivalent to the
audited consolidated financial statements and to the
audited group management report.
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m Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents
with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) enables an ap-
propriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy
of the XHTML reproduction.

We were elected as group auditor by the annual general
meeting on June 29, 2021. We were engaged by the su-
pervisory board on December 23, 2021. We have been
the group auditor of Allane SE, Pullach, without inter-
ruption since the financial year 2020.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this au-
ditor’s report are consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU
Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE FOR
THE ENGAGEMENT

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engage-
ment is Michael Henneberger.”

Munich, the 14. April 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Sabrina RiedI
Wirtschaftspriferin

Michael Henneberger
Wirtschaftspriifer
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D - Further Information — Balance sheet of Allane SE (HGB/RechKredV)

D.3 - Balance sheet

of Allane SE, Pullach, as at 31 December 2021 (HGB/RechKredV)

Assets
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
1. Receivables from banks
Due daily 516 124
516 124
2. Receivables from customers 38,808 45,485
3. Shareholdings in affiliated companies 336 336
4. Lease assets 894,639 1,005,472
5. Intangible assets
a) Proprietary intellectual property rights and similar rights and assets 18,221 18,474
b) Purchased concessions, intellectual property rights and similar rights and assets
as well as licenses relating to such rights and assets 5,932 221
c) Goodwill 1,682 1,880
25,835 20,575
6. Equipment 6,510 3,207
7. Other assets 240,148 266,793
8. Prepaid expenses 4,470 5,298
1,211,262 1,347,289
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Equity and liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
1. Liabilities to banks
a) Daily due 2,072 2,444
with agreed term or notice period 120,589 167,590
122,661 170,034
2. Liabilities to customers
other liabilities
a) Daily due 1,776 1,883
b) with agreed term or notice period 4,179 3,833
5,955 5,716
3. Securitised liabilities
issued Bonds 249,980 249,980
4. Other liabilities 550,388 645,454
5 Deferred income 25,814 29,265
6 Deferred tax liabilities 32,260 35,429
7 Provisions
a) Tax provision 1,715 972
b) Other provisions 28,821 18,960
30,536 19,932
8. Equity
a) Subscribed capital 20,612 20,612
b) Capital reserve 139,068 139,068
c) Retained earnings
Other retained earnings 10,923 9,622
d) Unappropriated profit 23,066 22,178
193,668 191,480
1,211,262 1,347,289
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D - Further Information — Income statement of Allane SE (HGB/RechKredV)

D.4 - Income statement

of Allane SE, Pullach, for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021 (HGB/RechKredV)

2021 2020
1. Leasing revenue 574,493 586,387
2. Leasing expenses 350,422 352,701
224,070 233,686
3. Interest income from lending and money-market transactions 4,769 4,648
4. Interest expense 9,602 13,503
-4,834 -8,855
5. Income from profit pooling and from partial or full profit transfer agreements 310 2172
6. Commission income 1,130 1,116
7. Other operating income 9,536 11,388
8. General operating expenses
a) Personnel expenses
aa) Wages and salaries 29,773 23,878
ab) Social security contributions, pension expenses and other employee benefits
thereof pension expenses: EUR - thou. (2020: EUR - thou.) 4,536 3,382
34,309 27,260
b) Other administrative expenses 43,627 31,822
77,936 59,083
9. Depreciation and valuation allowances
a) On lease assets 140,631 168,234
b) On intangible assets and fixed assets 6,565 2,013
147,196 170,247
10. Other operating expenses 369 400
11. Write-downs and valuation allowances on receivables and certain securities and
allocations to provisions in lending business 4,938 4,757
12. Income from write-ups on receivables and certain securities and from the release of
provisions in the lending business 1,759 1,153
-3,179 -3,604
13. Result from ordinary activities 1,533 6,172
14. Taxes onincome -1,068 5,356
15. Net income 2,601 816
16. Retained profit brought forward 21,765 21,770
17. Transfers to other retained earnings -1,300 -408
18. Unappropriated profit 23,066 22,178
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D.5 - Financial calendar

Publication of the Annual Report 2021 29 April 2022
Publication of the quarterly statement as at 31 March 2022 11 May 2022
Annual General Meeting for financial year 2022 in Munich 29 June 2022
Publication of the half-year financial report as at 30 June 2022 24 August 2022
Publication of the quarterly statement as at 30 September 2022 9 November 2022
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